

The Scottish Parliament Pàrlamaid na h-Alba

Official Report

MEETING OF THE PARLIAMENT

Thursday 3 October 2013

Session 4

© Parliamentary copyright. Scottish Parliamentary Corporate Body

Information on the Scottish Parliament's copyright policy can be found on the website -<u>www.scottish.parliament.uk</u> or by contacting Public Information on 0131 348 5000

Thursday 3 October 2013

CONTENTS

	Col.
GENERAL QUESTION TIME	
Rail Services (West and South-west of Glasgow to Edinburgh)	
Community Policing	
Welfare Reform (Jobseekers Allowance)	
Energy Sector (OPITO)	
Energy Market Regulation (Independence)	
Natural Assets (Community Ownership)	
Draff (Use in Agriculture)	
FIRST MINISTER'S QUESTION TIME	
Engagements	
Prime Minister (Meetings)	
Cabinet (Meetings)	
National Flu Campaign	
Bedroom Tax	
Expert Working Group on Welfare and Constitutional Reform	
CHALLENGE POVERTY WEEK	
Motion debated—[Jackie Baillie].	
Jackie Baillie (Dumbarton) (Lab)	
John Wilson (Central Scotland) (SNP)	
Alex Johnstone (North East Scotland) (Con)	
Sarah Boyack (Lothian) (Lab)	
John Mason (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP)	
Drew Smith (Glasgow) (Lab)	
Neil Findlay (Lothian) (Lab)	
The Minister for Housing and Welfare (Margaret Burgess)	
COMMON AGRICULTURAL POLICY	
Motion moved—[Richard Lochhead].	
Amendment moved—[Claire Baker].	
Amendment moved—[Alex Fergusson].	
Amendment moved—[Tavish Scott].	
The Cabinet Secretary for Rural Affairs and the Environment (Richard Lochhead)	
Claire Baker (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab)	
Alex Fergusson (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con)	
Tavish Scott (Shetland Islands) (LD)	
Rob Gibson (Caithness, Sutherland and Ross) (SNP)	
David Stewart (Highlands and Islands) (Lab)	
Angus MacDonald (Falkirk East) (SNP)	
Graeme Dey (Angus South) (SNP)	
Jayne Baxter (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab)	
Nigel Don (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP)	
Mike MacKenzie (Highlands and Islands) (SNP)	
Alison Johnstone (Lothian) (Green)	
Clare Adamson (Central Scotland) (SNP)	
Elaine Murray (Dumfriesshire) (Lab)	
Roderick Campbell (North East Fife) (SNP)	
Dennis Robertson (Aberdeenshire West) (SNP)	
Tavish Scott	
Jamie McGrigor (Highlands and Islands) (Con)	
Claudia Beamish (South Scotland) (Lab)	
Richard Lochhead	
DECISION TIME	

Scottish Parliament

Thursday 3 October 2013

[The Presiding Officer opened the meeting at 11:40]

General Question Time

Rail Services (West and South-west of Glasgow to Edinburgh)

1. Willie Coffey (Kilmarnock and Irvine Valley) (SNP): To ask the Scottish Government what plans it has to improve rail services to Edinburgh from areas to the west and south-west of Glasgow. (S4O-02462)

The Minister for Transport and Veterans (Keith Brown): The Scottish Government has already made improvements in rail services to Edinburgh from areas to the west and south-west of Glasgow, with passengers now able to travel to Edinburgh via Shotts and Carstairs services from Glasgow central station.

The Paisley corridor rail improvements have also increased capacity and improved journey quality on one of the busiest sections of the Scottish network. Additionally, through the provision of a longer franchise, we are seeking the next franchisee to develop opportunities and strategies for delivering innovative enhancements to train services.

Willie Coffey: The minister will be aware of the large population that lives west and south of Glasgow. People in my constituency are hampered in taking up the economic opportunities to travel to work in Scotland's capital because they have to change trains and stations and must walk between Glasgow central and Queen Street stations. That means that it can take around two hours to travel a distance of only 60 miles. Can the minister give me any hope that a through service might become available for customers from the south-west of Scotland at any point in the future?

Keith Brown: As I said in my original response, it is no longer necessary to change between Glasgow central and Queen Street stations for most of those services because people can change at Carstairs. On Willie Coffey's point about a direct service from, say, Kilmarnock to Edinburgh, work is currently going on to allow people to take a train from Kilmarnock to Glasgow central station and, although it is a Glasgow service, to stay on the same train through to Edinburgh. Work on that is going on in relation to the new franchise. It might be a good idea for Willie Coffey to engage with the potential bidders for that franchise to ensure that they are well aware of his and his constituents' aspirations.

Mark Griffin (Central Scotland) (Lab): Does the minister recognise the benefits that the Glasgow crossrail scheme could bring to communities in the south-west of Glasgow? Is the Government minded to support that scheme in the future?

Keith Brown: The Government does not support that scheme because we believe that it would disadvantage many existing passengers by diverting existing services from the city centre stations to run via crossrail. It would also substantially increase the subsidy requirements through the addition of new services, and it would require increased infrastructural investment at critical points elsewhere on the network. In 2008, when the scheme was looked at through the strategic transport projects review, we estimated that its cost would be between £150 million and £250 million at that time. If that is the Labour Party's proposal, we would expect it to propose that in relation to the new franchise, or perhaps in its budget proposals, but the Scottish Government does not intend to take that project forward.

John Scott (Ayr) (Con): The minister is aware of the current Glasgow crossrail project, which is about the electrification of a section of the line and is costed at approximately £20 million. Does he agree that the increased connectivity that this project would offer to Ayrshire and, in particular, Prestwick airport, as alluded to by my colleagues, would be worthy of consideration at a much different price from that which he has just quoted?

Keith Brown: I have given the reasons why the Government does not support the crossrail project. As I said in response to Willie Coffey's supplementary question, there are different ways to effect the improvements that the member is looking for, and we are seeking to do that through the new franchise. It will be a longer franchise that will therefore allow substantial capital investment, which has not been as easy in the past, and the Government is committed to around £5 billion of investment over the first five years. There is the potential to improve those services vastly, but we would not do that through crossrail.

The Presiding Officer (Tricia Marwick): Question 2, in the name of Patricia Ferguson, has not been lodged because the member is abroad on parliamentary business.

Community Policing

3. Sarah Boyack (Lothian) (Lab): To ask the Scottish Government what priority it attaches to community policing. (S4O-02464)

The Cabinet Secretary for Justice (Kenny MacAskill): The Scottish Government has

23268

consistently made it clear that local policing lies at the heart of reform. That is evidenced through our aims for reform—to protect local services and strengthen their connection with communities and the statutory purpose and strategic priorities that we have set for Police Scotland. Through reform, we have protected front-line services, including the 1,000 extra police officers who have helped to cut crime to a 39-year low.

Sarah Boyack: Is the cabinet secretary aware of concerns in Edinburgh and the Lothians about the lack of weight given to community policing, which has resulted in the city council's proposal to withdraw funding from local police officers? Are those concerns not compounded by this week's announcement on proposed police station closures and cutbacks across the region?

Kenny MacAskill: I do not recognise the scenario that Ms Boyack has mentioned. From speaking to the deputy leader of the City of Edinburgh Council, I understand that Steve House is coming through to meet him and the council leader to allay any fears that there may be about local policing. I am happy to leave that to Councillor Burns and Councillor Cardownie.

The proposals from Police Scotland are, let us remember, an operational matter; equally, they are the subject of an on-going consultation, so they can be referred to. As Ms Boyack will be aware, the opening hours at some stations—Dalkeith, for example—are being extended, although I do not think that she deliberately sought to exclude that. In the main, the proposals relate to stations of limited use. The priority has to be police on the beat.

I simply remind Ms Boyack that there is a difference between what our Administration has done and what her Administration failed to be reelected on. In 2006-07, the Government that she supported had 16,234 police officers and there were 120 homicide victims. In 2012-13, this Government has provided more than 17,000 police officers and the number of homicide victims is down to 62. There has been a marked difference across a whole range of crimes, including a 60 per cent drop in the handling of offensive weapons since we came into government.

Christine Grahame (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and Lauderdale) (SNP): While operational policing is of course a matter for Police Scotland and ultimately for the chief constable, has the cabinet secretary been made aware—I have been made aware of the issue across my constituency—that, if divisions are ranked on issues such as stop and search and targets become the be-all and end-all, the unintended consequence could be an erosion of the operational discretion of officers, which in turn could undermine the good will that community officers work so hard to achieve on the beat?

Kenny MacAskill: The member makes a fair point about the importance of such matters, which are operational. I respect that, although I have discussed such matters with the chief constable. The issue has also been raised with me by the Association of Scottish Police Superintendents and the Scottish Police Federation. It seems to me that we should listen to what has been said by the chief constable, who I understand from those who attended the Scottish Police Authority meeting yesterday has indicated that discretion remains the bedrock of matters and is available to officers.

I suggest that Ms Grahame should seek to raise the matter not simply through the Justice Committee but through the Justice Sub-Committee on Policing, which plays an important part—I again give credit to Graeme Pearson for this—in ensuring that there is parliamentary scrutiny of such matters in discussions with the senior police team.

Margaret Mitchell (Central Scotland) (Con): Does the cabinet secretary agree that police station counter services are an important aspect of community policing? In view of that, does he agree that the public should be consulted about the proposal to close, or to reduce the hours of, one third of Scotland's police counters?

Kenny MacAskill: The public are being consulted—Assistant Chief Constable Mawson has been out making that clear—and I have no doubt that Ms Mitchell and many others will seek to respond to the consultation. However, it is important that we ensure that police officers are utilised out on the beat, which is where the communities want them, rather than manning stations that perhaps serve a very limited purpose and waiting for people to come in.

Had we followed the line that has been taken south of the border, where there has been an 8.72 per cent drop in the number of police officers, the number of police officers in Scotland would have fallen below 15,000. This Government, unlike the coalition Government south of the border, believes that front-line policing is important. That is why we remain committed to the additional police presence in our communities, even if at times there will not be a service available in the station.

Welfare Reform (Jobseekers Allowance)

4. James Dornan (Glasgow Cathcart) (SNP): To ask the Scottish Government what impact the additional seven-day wait for new claimants of jobseekers allowance will have on its welfare reform mitigation measures. (S4O-02465)

The Minister for Housing and Welfare (Margaret Burgess): The increase in waiting days

for jobseekers allowance will cause more hardship and worry for newly unemployed people and their families. It will also mean added pressure on the local services that provide help and support for those unfortunate enough to find themselves in that position. That is why the Scottish Government is increasing its spend on mitigation measures to £68 million in 2013-2014, and why our draft budget maintains spending at that level for at least the next two years.

We will do all that we can to help people make the transition to the new welfare system and to protect people in Scotland from the impacts of the United Kingdom Government's cuts, but mitigating the full impact of all the cuts will not be possible.

James Dornan: I thank the minister for that answer.

Michael Gove, the UK Secretary of State for Education, has suggested that people use food banks because of

"decisions that have been taken by those families which mean that they are not best able to manage their finances".

Does the minister share my view that that increased food bank use is caused by ill-thoughtout welfare reforms, such as this reform of jobseekers allowance?

Margaret Burgess: Yes. I believe that the increase in the use of food banks that we have witnessed in Scotland is a result of the UK Government's increasingly punitive welfare reforms. The decision to increase JSA waiting days was taken not by the families using food banks but by a chancellor ready to impose cuts on those least able to bear them. When the policy was announced, the chancellor was warned by Alison Garnham, the chief executive of the Child Poverty Action Group, who said:

"We're talking about parents doing the right thing but who have very little in the way of savings to tide them over if they lose their job. There should be no doubt this will leave more families and children cold and hungry and push more families towards doorstep lenders and foodbanks."

As I have said before, only when the Scottish Parliament has full control over welfare can we put in place policies that benefit the people of Scotland.

Energy Sector (OPITO)

5. Christian Allard (North East Scotland) (SNP): To ask the Scottish Government when it last met the managing director of OPITO to discuss the energy sector. (S4O-02466)

The Minister for Energy, Enterprise and Tourism (Fergus Ewing): I last formally met the previous managing director, Larraine Boorman, on 9 October 2012. The Scottish Government continues to be in close engagement with OPITO, and looks forward to engaging with the new managing director.

Christian Allard: I thank the minister for his answer. After declaring my obvious interest, is the minister aware that France is the second largest foreign investor in Scotland—after the United States—creating thousands of jobs, mainly in the field of energy, making the role of OPITO crucial in keeping the north-east of Scotland the powerhouse of the UK? With all that investment in the north-east coming from France, I must ask the minister: why are the French so positive about our future?

Fergus Ewing: The member puts his question with panache and a certain je ne sais quoi. [*Laughter.*] We absolutely welcome the tremendous investment and support of French companies in Scotland, not least Total, with which I had a very useful meeting in May of this year. We are delighted that France is furthering and deepening its connections with the oil and gas industry. Just about every country in the world is investing in Scotland with confidence, effect and success. La France est magnifique. [*Applause.*]

Energy Market Regulation (Independence)

6. Iain Gray (East Lothian) (Lab): To ask the Scottish Government what its plans are for the regulation of energy markets should Scotland become independent. (S4O-02467)

The Minister for Energy, Enterprise and Tourism (Fergus Ewing): In February, we set out our proposals for economic regulation of key markets, including energy. Individual regulators, including Ofcom, Ofgem, the Office of Rail Regulation and the Water Industry Commission for Scotland, could be replaced by a single economic regulator to oversee regulation of the water, rail, telecommunications and energy industries.

Further, we have established an independent energy commission, with industry, academic and consumer experts, to provide evidence on how we could improve Scotland's stewardship of electricity and gas regulation in an independent Scotland.

Iain Gray: By continuing as part of the United Kingdom, Scottish consumers stand to benefit from Labour's commitment to freeze energy prices for two years while a new regulator with the power to control energy prices is created. Will the minister simply match that commitment for his preferred separate Scotland and new regulator?

Fergus Ewing: When one considers the regulation of banking, railways or payday loans, the record of regulators in the UK is not one to boast about.

On Mr Gray's specific question, I refer him to what the consumer experts have said:

"before this freeze comes in the companies will whack the prices sky high".

They have also said that it

"may put off decisions by energy companies or others to invest in new, cleaner generation capacity."

The industry—SSE and Scottish Power—has said:

"Smaller companies would ... face insolvency and bigger companies would have to consider reductions in investment and jobs."

Of course, an arbitrary price freeze has been tried before. It was tried in California in 2000. What happened? Blackouts and an 800 per cent increase in the wholesale price. [*Interruption*.]

The Presiding Officer: Order.

Fergus Ewing: As far as I can recall, never has a measure introduced by the leader of a major political party in the UK received such widespread, utter and total condemnation as being completely unworkable.

Worst of all for Scotland—[*Interruption*.] I can see that the Labour members are listening now. They do not like it, but they are listening.

Worst of all for Scotland, such an arbitrary measure threatens to impair the essential investment in renewable energy schemes that are so important for the country.

Natural Assets (Community Ownership)

7. John Finnie (Highlands and Islands) (Ind): To ask the Scottish Government what plans it has to expand community ownership of Scotland's natural assets. (S4O-02468)

The Minister for Environment and Climate Change (Paul Wheelhouse): The Scottish Government is committed to maximising the opportunities for community benefits and believes that Scottish public assets should be managed in Scotland for the benefit of Scotland's people. The First Minister recently announced a target to increase community ownership of land to 1 million acres by 2020. The independent land reform review group is also examining what more could be done to increase community ownership.

In addition, the Scottish Government has proposed a two-phase approach to devolution of the Crown Estate's functions in Scotland, involving devolution to the Scottish ministers first and then, as a second phase, consideration of where the individual functions and powers might rest.

The first meeting of the recently convened island areas ministerial working group considered that process and the further devolution to island communities of responsibility for the Crown Estate's functions. **John Finnie:** I thank the minister for that detailed response.

Scotland's rivers are an important part of our natural assets. What plans and funding does the Scottish Government have to ensure community ownership of our rivers, with a key role for angling associations?

Paul Wheelhouse: Mr Finnie raises an important issue. During the passage of the Aquaculture and Fisheries (Scotland) Act 2013, we announced that we would undertake a review of wild fisheries management in this session of Parliament. I hope that we will come before the Parliament in reasonable time to give further detail on that.

The land reform review group has also been considering issues to do with riparian rights. We will have to wait to see what recommendations the review group makes in its final report in April.

I give Mr Finnie an undertaking that we will examine the issues closely and give them due consideration. I am aware of the link between ownership and access to riparian rights, and we will consider sympathetically any recommendations that are made.

Draff (Use in Agriculture)

8. Alex Fergusson (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con): To ask the Scottish Government what steps it has taken to ensure that draff remains available to the agriculture industry as a source of protein. (S4O-02469)

The Cabinet Secretary for Rural Affairs and the Environment (Richard Lochhead): Last year, the Scottish Government commissioned research that found that availability of co-products suitable for inclusion in animal feed rations, including draff, was at a historically high level. Following on from that, it has been agreed that the NFU Scotland will co-ordinate a diverse group of organisations to discuss and agree a set of actions that can be taken to ensure the continued supply of draff in the future.

Alex Fergusson: Although I am grateful to the cabinet secretary for that response, a year ago, in answer to a similar question from my colleague Mary Scanlon, he said that he was considering how to respond to those concerns. It rather sounds as if he is still doing so, but he will be aware that the concerns have not diminished. Draff remains a key source of home-produced protein, but more and more of it is being used as biofuel.

When will the cabinet secretary be able to give us a fully formulated response to the concerns? Might he consider, perhaps through the Scotland rural development programme, building shared draff storage capacity to assist farmers to stockpile when supplies are plentiful?

Richard Lochhead: As I just explained to the member, following concerns that were expressed last year, the Scottish Government undertook considerable work. That has now reported and the industry is taking forward some of the recommendations.

It is worth bearing in mind that draff supplies have grown substantially in recent years in the wake of higher levels of Scotch whisky production, which is a sector that is absolutely booming. Significant quantities of draff are exported to England because of oversupply in Scotland. I recognise that some farmers in some localised areas of Scotland still have concerns about access to draff, which is a cheaper alternative to other animal feeds. We will keep a close eye on that situation.

The Presiding Officer: Before we move to First Minister's question time, members will wish to join me in welcoming to the gallery the governor of Punjab, His Excellency Mr Mohammad Sarwar. [*Applause*.]

First Minister's Question Time

12:00

Engagements

1. Johann Lamont (Glasgow Pollok) (Lab): To ask the First Minister what engagements he has planned for the rest of the day. (S4F-01594)

The First Minister (Alex Salmond): In addition to meeting the governor of Punjab, I will meet Alistair Neiderer, the chief executive of the French company Teleperformance. When we met the company earlier this year, it hoped to be able to announce 500 additional jobs in Scotland. I can now say that that is not the case; it will announce today 1,000 additional jobs across sites in Scotland in Glasgow, Kilmarnock, Erskine and Airdrie. I am sure that everyone will welcome that as a great boost for employment in Scotland.

Less happily, I should say to the chamber that we have a serious and developing situation on the A83, where landslips have been caused by extreme weather conditions. Transport Scotland engineers are on site at the moment and we will update local members in particular of the serious consequences of that transport interruption on what is a vital road for Argyll.

Johann Lamont: I, too, welcome Mohammed Sarwar to his new position, in which I am sure he will serve as well and as honourably as he did in his previous position.

Obviously, we welcome jobs coming to Scotland. The challenge will be whether people can access those jobs.

In 2011, the First Minister pledged to reindustrialise Scotland. To do that, we need to equip the people of Scotland with the skills to take up the jobs, and to do that we need to have the colleges to teach people the skills. Can the First Minister tell me whether the number of people in colleges in Scotland has gone up or down since he came to office?

The First Minister: As Johann Lamont knows, we have kept our commitment in terms of full-time courses at colleges in Scotland. That is a substantial investment in the college infrastructure. We have more than kept our commitments in terms of the capital investment programme across colleges in Scotland. I think that Johann Lamont and, indeed, everybody else in the chamber should welcome the fact that we have a record number of full-time higher education students in our colleges and universities.

Johann Lamont: It is pretty basic in education that when someone is asked a question, they answer it. That answer was a complete failure. Of course, when this Government came to office, a full-time college course was 720 hours a year; then this Government cut that to 640 hours a year. What this Government has done is cut the hours of teaching, cut the definition of a full-time course and graduated with honours in cooking the books. Only the First Minister could describe the cuts to the college sector as massive investment.

The First Minister often talks of full-time equivalents, but it is not full-time equivalents who get jobs, it is people; and it is not full-time equivalents who marry, raise families or build communities, it is people. Can the First Minister tell me whether the number of people going to college in Scotland has gone up or down on his watch?

The First Minister: As Johann Lamont knows from many previous exchanges, this Government has prioritised full-time courses in the colleges of Scotland. The reason why we did so is that we believe that those are the courses that lead people into employment and give them the skills that are required. That is perhaps one reason why the rate of youth unemployment in Scotland, although it is still far too high, is better than that south of the border—there has been a significant improvement in the rate here over the past year.

If one law of education is to answer questions, that is fine; but one law of politics is to listen to the answer before reading out a pre-prepared question. [*Interruption*.]

The Presiding Officer (Tricia Marwick): Order.

The First Minister: I do not recall a single question that Johann Lamont has not read out from pre-prepared notes. [*Interruption*.]

The Presiding Officer: Order.

The First Minister: I refer the member to my answer to her first question, in which I said that I thought it a matter of great pride in Scotland that this year we have a record number of students in higher education across Scotland's university and college sector. For the benefit of Labour members, I should say that yes, higher education is carried out in the college sector in Scotland, where, incidentally, people do not pay tuition fees, thanks to the fact that Labour is not in Government.

Johann Lamont: I assure the First Minister that my 20 years in education showed me what is and is not an answer to a question, and that not responding to a question that has been asked is displacement activity.

Let me tell the First Minister some of the facts that clearly no one has written down for him in a big book to read out. Since 2007, the number of women going to college has fallen by 77,000 and the number of adults who left school with no qualifications but got a second chance at college has almost halved, with nearly 60,000 being denied that second chance to learn. Despite what the First Minister says, even the number of 16 to 18-year-olds going to college has fallen by 7,000 and the number not in education, employment and training is going up. Can the First Minister give me one of those most accurate answers ever given to any Parliament anywhere and simply tell us whether the number of people going to college has gone up or down since he came to office?

The First Minister: I have the figures for all students, if that will be helpful to Johann Lamont.

Members: All students?

The Presiding Officer: Order.

The First Minister: In the view of the Scottish Government, all students in Scotland are important.

In 2006-07, there were 129,343 full-time equivalents—[*Interruption*.]

Lewis Macdonald (North East Scotland) (Lab): Full-time equivalents?

The Presiding Officer: Order, Mr Macdonald.

The First Minister: I say to the Labour Party that full-time equivalents are kind of important, because that is how we judge teaching and the numbers in Scotland who are receiving that teaching.

In 2006-07, there were 129,343 full-time equivalents and, in 2011-12, there were 133,199. Given the pressures on budgets, which even the Labour Partv presumably will acknowledge-at least, it acknowledges them south of the border-that seems to be a substantial improvement and achievement over these financially difficult years. I am also struck by the fact that none of those students is paying tuition fees, which is another substantial achievement that should be welcomed. Perhaps that is why this year we have a record number of students in full-time higher education in Scotland while over the past few years numbers south of the border have been falling like a stone. Thank goodness for the students of Scotland that the Labour Party did not come to power and impose tuition fees, as we know it most certainly would have done.

Johann Lamont: I hesitate to say this, but it feels as though a Scottish education was rather wasted on the First Minister. If there are pressures on further education budgets, they are at his choice, and the price of his education choices is being paid by women, 25-year-olds and those who need a college education but cannot access it.

Of course, education is a Scottish tradition and a modern necessity if Scotland is going to compete in the modern world. People now do not have just one career or job but several, and we need lifelong learning to support people from unemployment to employment and from uncertain part-time work into full-time work. The idea that it is nothing to do with Government that women with caring responsibilities cannot access a place on a full-time course that meets their needs is an absolute disgrace.

What did John Henderson of Colleges Scotland tell the Parliament this week? He said:

"we seem to have retreated from colleges' role in lifelong learning. ... We know that people's lives change and that the economy changes, and yet we no longer seem to have the capacity in the college system to respond to those changes".—[Official Report, Education and Culture Committee, 1 October 2013; c 2928.]

This First Minister is not reindustrialising Scotland—he is deskilling it. Is it not about time that we had a First Minister who leaves the displacement activity for elsewhere, who does his job, who shows he cares about education and who pays attention? Instead, what do we get? A parttime equivalent.

The First Minister: I am sure that Johann Lamont was an enormous loss to the education sector. The question is: was she an enormous gain to Scottish politics? I do not think so. She ignores the fact—which I have now mentioned several times—that having a record number of fulltime students in higher education in Scotland seems to be a very substantial achievement. Every single student among that record number is important to the Government. That is the investment that has been secured.

Johann Lamont talks about the Scottish Government's choice over the budget. How could the overall budget of Scotland be the choice of the Scottish Government when it is controlled by the Westminster Treasury? With each and every subject that Johann Lamont brings to the chamber, she says that we should spend more on this or that, oblivious to the fact that it is the choice of the Labour Party to leave a Tory Westminster Chancellor of the Exchequer in charge of the overall Scottish budget.

Johann Lamont mentioned and quoted John Henderson, the chief executive of Colleges Scotland. Incidentally, the first-ever summit for lifelong learning was chaired by Michael Russell this very morning—that is something that the Labour Party did not manage to do when it was in office for so long. However, let us consider what John Henderson, the chief executive of Colleges Scotland, said. I quote: We also welcome the additional resources that are being allocated to the college sector for 2015-16."

Those were the words of John Henderson. If John Henderson, as chief executive of Colleges Scotland, can acknowledge that achievement against the most difficult and oppressive budget policy from Westminster, why can others in the chamber, who endorse their faith in Scotland's budget being handled from London, not acknowledge it as well?

There has been a huge achievement in maintaining that record number of full-time higher education students in Scotland. There has been a huge achievement in stopping Scotland having tuition fees imposed upon it by the Tory party or the Labour Party. What is more, every single one of those valuable young people in Scotland acknowledges and knows the difference between Scottish education, which is free for people of ability, and education elsewhere, which is based on the size of people's chequebooks.

Prime Minister (Meetings)

2. Ruth Davidson (Glasgow) (Con): I warmly welcome today's Teleperformance announcement. On a personal note, I particularly welcome the 621 full-time posts that will be coming to Glasgow as part of that announcement.

To ask the First Minister when he will next meet the Prime Minister. (S4F-01592)

The First Minister (Alex Salmond): No plans in the near future.

Ruth Davidson: A year ago, the Scottish Conservatives raised the issue of police station closures, revealing that a fifth of police stations across Scotland had shut since the Scottish National Party came to power. This week, we hear that a further third are to close their doors to the public. Does the First Minister support those front-desk closures?

The First Minister: Ruth Davidson should acknowledge that there is a substantial argument that our police officers and other staff in police stations should not be behind desks seeing a limited number of members of the public but rather should be in the communities of Scotland doing their best to keep this country safe.

The statistics regarding the improvement in crime levels in Scotland are overwhelming. It would be helpful if Ruth Davidson would acknowledge that very substantial improvement. We have record figures not just for the number of police officers across Scotland; there is a 39-year record low, I think, in the level of recorded crime in Scotland. Would Ruth Davidson and her colleagues just occasionally acknowledge that substantial justice achievement? It is not just an

[&]quot;The Scottish Government made a commitment to maintain colleges' cash funding earlier this year and we are very pleased that this has been incorporated into the draft Budget for 2014-15.

achievement of the Cabinet Secretary for Justice; it is the achievement of every single one of the additional 1,000 police officers across the country.

Ruth Davidson: I could not really work out whether the substantial argument there was that the First Minister was supporting cuts that would mean having only one police station in the whole of Aberdeen where someone can walk in off the street and speak to someone.

When the plans include 3,000 civilian police job losses, how many uniformed officers will have to backfill?

Let us consider the practical effects on communities who face local police closures. Most people who visit a police station do so to report a crime, request a police officer, make a complaint or turn themselves in for arrest or for other matters that are now deemed minor or ancillary. I do not know about the First Minister, but I do not think that reporting a crime is a minor matter and I am pretty sure that the victims of crime do not think so, either. However, victims are being told that that needs to happen by email or phone. A freedom of information request revealed that up to 6,000 nonemergency calls to police a month go unanswered.

Fifty-six police stations have already been closed on this First Minister's watch, another 65 front desks are set to go, there is reduced access to the police for communities and victims of crime across Scotland, and there is no guarantee that someone will even answer a person's call when they pick up the phone to report a crime. Is that seriously the First Minister's definition of community policing?

The First Minister: That last suggestion is quite disgraceful in view of the huge achievements in law enforcement in Scotland. It is an insult to the Police Service of Scotland that is totally unwarranted.

Let us deal with the realities. Police Scotland and its serving police officers have an exceptional record on tackling and preventing crime in Scotland and on answering the call of the public. I am not sure whether Ruth Davidson has managed to look at the consultation documents, which of course are an operational matter for Police Scotland, but in relation to the front counters in the stations concerned, they show that at least 31 of the 65 public counters that it is proposed be closed—counters, not police stations—receive fewer than five visits a day from the public for core business. Many receive an average of less than one visit a day, and some recorded just one visit over the entire four-week survey period.

In view of that, is Ruth Davidson seriously suggesting that the initiative in terms of the consultation document will diminish public contact

with the police? In contrast, the reality in the modern world is that most people contact the police by phone or online. Police Scotland has arranged the new 101 non-emergency number, which receives 280,000 calls per month, and of course its presence in social media now has 393,000 followers.

I have been looking at the alternative to the progressive policies on policing that are proposed and pursued in Scotland. We need only glance south of the border to see what the alternative is. As we know, in this Parliament we are proud that the Scottish National Party Administration has fulfilled its commitment to have more than 1,000 additional police officers in Scotland—we have 17,496. If we had pursued the same policies as have been pursued south of the border under successive Governments, the figure would be not 17,496 but 14,818.

Let us be quite clear about what is happening where the Tories are in control: fewer police stations, fewer police officers and crime statistics that are not even near the success that has been achieved in Scotland.

The Presiding Officer: There is a constituency question from Liam McArthur.

Liam McArthur (Orkney Islands) (LD): The First Minister will be aware of news that SSE is reviewing its involvement in marine energy projects in my constituency. The outcome of SSE's discussions with its project partners is not yet clear, but what is clear is that yesterday's announcement is causing anxiety in the wave and tidal sector.

To maintain confidence and momentum in what is a vital sector, can the First Minister confirm that urgent efforts are being made, in conjunction with United Kingdom ministers, to identify ways in which greater support and certainty can be provided for those who are seeking to move from single devices to demonstration arrays? In particular, will the First Minister look at options for allowing grid infrastructure to be put in place, possibly underwritten or guaranteed bv Government, and will he ensure that his Government is represented at the grid stakeholder meeting that is due to take place in Kirkwall on 15 October?

The First Minister: Fergus Ewing and I have both met SSE in the past few days. The good news is that SSE's plans now mean that it will stay in and continue investing, certainly in three out of four of its wave and tidal projects, taking them forward to planning consent, we hope, in 2015 and SSE hopes for a good outcome in the fourth project. I hope that the constituency member will acknowledge that, even before he asked the question, the energy minister and I, who understand the importance of tidal and wave projects not just for Orkney but for the whole of Scotland, had been taking appropriate action.

Secondly, however, I think that the member should pay close attention to what Fergus Ewing said just a few minutes ago. The basic difficulty not just for marine energy in Scotland but for offshore energy in general is electricity market reform, which is causing significant uncertainly not just in the tidal and wave sector but in the offshore wind sector.

If the member thinks that he could be of great use, perhaps he could follow the lead that we have made in trying to explain to his party colleague the Secretary of State for Energy and Climate Change that it is hugely important, if these crucial technologies are to be developed, to reinforce confidence in the sector. That is exactly the opposite of what has happened over the past 18 months. I hope that his question is an indication that he, at least, understands the connection between the process of electricity market reform and some of the investment questions that are prevailing among power companies and other investors in the marine and offshore sector in Scotland.

Cabinet (Meetings)

3. Willie Rennie (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD): To ask the First Minister what issues will be discussed at the next meeting of the Cabinet. (S4F-01603)

The First Minister (Alex Salmond): Matters of great importance to the people of Scotland.

Willie Rennie: In May last year, I asked the First Minister about the closure of fire and police control rooms. He laughed and said that I was

"spreading gloom, doom and despondency".—[Official Report, 31 May 2012; c 9635.]

Last week, half the fire control rooms were proposed for closure, and yesterday, as Ruth Davidson has just said, we heard that 65 police stations are to be closed to the public. Instead of laughing, will the First Minister answer this question? There are 10 police emergency control rooms in Scotland. They handle thousands of 999 calls every year and are an essential link in the battle against crime. How many police control rooms does he plan to close?

The First Minister: In terms of gloom and despondency, we just had the perfect example from Willie Rennie. He just said that 65 police stations are to close. What is at issue is the counter service, and I am sure that he heard, as the rest of the members in the chamber did, my explanation to Ruth Davidson of the important statistics—[Interruption.]

The Presiding Officer: Order.

The First Minister: —on the difference between having our police service out in the communities meeting the public, with the additional officers that they have, and having those and other staff caught behind counters with very, very few visits in many cases. That seems to me to be an efficient and proper deployment of resources.

The control rooms for both the fire and police services are operational matters, but the key thing about local policing in Scotland is to have the officers available in the communities, and the key thing for the fire service in Scotland is not to have a service that is so disillusioned that it is already on strike—in the way that the service is striking against the member's colleagues in London—but to have a service that is valued by this Government and the people of Scotland.

Willie Rennie: I am used to the First Minister making up the answers, but I am not used to him making up the questions as well. He does not seem to know what his chief constable is up to. His chief constable plans to close at least seven of the 10 police emergency control rooms across Scotland. Police emergency control rooms in Aberdeen, Glenrothes, Inverness, Dumfries and more will shut.

Instead of protecting the fire and police forces, centralisation has led to the asset stripping of local services. Decades of progress have been wiped away with the stroke of a pen. When we had our local democratic police and fire boards, they could put a stop to these damaging closures.

The claim that this is nothing to do with the First Minister is claptrap. He sent his minister Fergus Ewing to cut the ribbon and open the fire emergency control room in Aberdeen. Is he planning to send Fergus Ewing back round to close the control rooms and the police stations, turn off the lights and lock the doors, or will the First Minister step in? Will he put an end to this?

The First Minister: I point out that local policing under the Scottish police service remains the bedrock. There is a designated local commander for each of the 14 divisions that work with communities, councils and other partners to shape and deliver local policing. There will be local policing plans for the 353 council wards in Scotland.

Local policing means having officers available in the community. For a Liberal Democrat, whose party is currently in power with the Conservative Party, seeing what is happening to the fire service south of the border—[*Interruption*.]

The Presiding Officer: Order.

The First Minister: I know that Willie Rennie does not want to hear this, but there is a level of

accountability in terms of what his party is doing, because we see the alternative to local policing and to the relationship with the fire service in Scotland in exactly what is happening south of the border.

I repeat to Willie Rennie what I said to Ruth Davidson, because that is the alternative remembering that the budgets that we have in Scotland are set by Westminster and based on the Barnett consequentials of the budgets available in Westminster. The UK Government has taken the decision to cut drastically the numbers of police officers across England and Wales. It has drastically cut the number of police stations. We have taken the decision to have extra police officers in Scotland, so instead of having more than 1,000 fewer officers—which we would have had under the plans pursued by the Tories and the Liberals—we have more than 1,000 more police officers than we did when we took office.

That has given us recorded crime down 35 per cent, crime at its lowest level for 39 years, a clearup rate for all crimes at its highest for more than 35 years, violent crime down by almost half since 2006-07, and crimes of handling offensive weapons down by 60 per cent. Those statistics reflect the things that really matter and they have been achieved by more officers under this Government—as opposed to slashing the fire service and police under the Government at Westminster that Willie Rennie supports.

National Flu Campaign

4. Graeme Dey (Angus South) (SNP): To ask the First Minister whether he will provide an update on the national flu campaign. (S4F-01607)

The First Minister (Alex Salmond): The annual seasonal flu vaccination programme is one of the most important preventative health activities that we undertake; it protects individuals, families and public health, and reduces winter pressures on the national health service. The existing programme offers protection to 1 million people in Scotland—people aged 65 and over, and adults and children with health conditions that mean that they need protection—which has led to 400 fewer deaths annually, 2,000 fewer hospitalisations, and 25,000 fewer general practice consultations.

As members will know, this year we started the roll-out of vaccination to the children of Scotland, because we know from the statistics that 5,000 young people in Scotland are currently hospitalised each year because of flu or its complications.

Graeme Dey: Clearly, those vaccination programmes will go some way towards preventing people—particularly older people—from presenting at accident and emergency departments this winter. Can the First Minister set out what further actions are being taken to get the NHS ready for winter?

The First Minister: Last year saw increased pressures on the national health service, including an early start to the norovirus season, an increase in respiratory illnesses and a rise in the number of people who attended accident and emergency departments.

Through the unscheduled care action plan, more than £9 million has been released this year to national health service boards to support winter planning, which is triple the amount that was given to boards for winter planning last year. Examples that are already in place include the roll-out across Scotland of electronic whiteboards, which work as a digital ward and allow clinicians to see how patients flow through the entire hospital system, enabling them to be discharged home quicker. That, with the flu vaccination programme, gives us substantial confidence that every preparation is being made to keep the people of Scotland safe over the winter.

Bedroom Tax

5. Jackie Baillie (Dumbarton) (Lab): To ask the First Minister what the Scottish Government's position is on the decision that was taken at the Convention of Scottish Local Authorities leaders meeting to back the petition from the no2bedroomtax campaign calling for £50 million to mitigate the impact of the so-called bedroom tax. (S4F-01596)

The First Minister (Alex Salmond): As Jackie Baillie and COSLA well know, the legal maximum—which is set by statutory instrument under section 70 of the Child Support, Pensions and Social Security Act 2000—that can be added to discretionary housing payments is £20.2 million. That is exactly the funding that has been supplied by the Scottish Government to assist in mitigation of the bedroom tax across Scotland, and it has been widely welcomed by people across the country. Unlike Jackie Baillie and her colleagues, the Scottish Government's position on the bedroom tax has been clear from the start: it is wrong and it should be scrapped.

Jackie Baillie: As ever, I thank the First Minister for his response, but he can do something more. He already has the power to pay local government and housing associations. It is really very simple, and if there is any confusion on his part, he should move over and we will show him exactly how to do it.

The First Minister will be aware that only the Scottish National Party and the Tories have voted against the budget call for £50 million to mitigate the effect of the bedroom tax. Is he aware that

COSLA leaders have also agreed to back my proposed member's bill to protect all social tenants from eviction? Will he join COSLA, the Church of Scotland, the Scottish Trades Union Congress, the Poverty Alliance, the no2bedroomtax campaign and many more besides, in backing the bill, or are they all wrong?

The First Minister: What a contrast there is between Jackie Baillie's attitude to the £20 million—the legal maximum that we can provide under current powers—and the response of people across Scotland. Page 2 of today's *Daily Record* lists where the £20 million to help to mitigate the bedroom tax's impact goes across Scotland. I refer Jackie Baillie to the quotation from Shelter Scotland's director, Graeme Brown, who said:

"We welcome the speed at which the Scottish Government moved to make available the £20 million.

It means local authorities can now offer a lifeline to thousands more households across Scotland struggling to pay their rent as a direct result of the iniquitous bedroom tax."

Unlike Jackie Baillie, we have from the start been clear about the need to repeal the bedroom tax. Unlike her, we took effective action when Shelter presented us with a legal way to help to mitigate the bedroom tax's impact. Unlike her, the SNP and the Government believe in taking powers over social security, so that impositions such as the bedroom tax will never be enforced on the Scottish people again.

Expert Working Group on Welfare and Constitutional Reform

6. Linda Fabiani (East Kilbride) (SNP): To ask the First Minister what progress the expert working group on welfare and constitutional reform is making. (S4F-01606)

The First Minister (Alex Salmond): The group has issued a call for evidence that seeks views, experience and information from those with an interest in the future of welfare in Scotland. It will submit its independent report to ministers this coming spring.

Linda Fabiani: At Tuesday's Welfare Reform Committee meeting, the expert working group confirmed that the Scottish Government will be able to abolish the bedroom tax immediately from independence in 2016, despite Labour's claims to the contrary. Will the First Minister reaffirm that, if it is elected as the first Government of an independent Scotland, the Scottish National Party will scrap the bedroom tax?

The First Minister: As I hear the muttering of Jackie "Move Aside" Baillie, I am reminded of her astonishing interview on "Newsnight Scotland" on 3 September, when she said:

"I am not saying that ... we cannot develop our own welfare system. I am saying we should not develop our own welfare system."

Instead of wanting such matters to be controlled in this Parliament, she is content for the bedroom tax to be imposed by the Westminster Government. She is content to continue in alliance with the Tories in making such draconian cuts, which affect the most vulnerable people in Scottish society.

Our submission is clear: with independence, we can create a fair welfare system that is based on the needs of the Scottish people. I confirm that if the SNP is elected as the independent Scottish Government, one of our first acts will be to scrap the bedroom tax.

Challenge Poverty Week

The Deputy Presiding Officer (John Scott): The next item of business is a members' business debate on motion S4M-07602, in the name of Jackie Baillie, on challenge poverty week. The debate will be concluded without any question being put.

Motion debated,

That the Parliament welcomes Challenge Poverty Week, which is being organised by the Poverty Alliance and is to be held between 13 and 19 October 2013; notes that this will be the first ever Challenge Poverty Week; recognises that the week will coincide with the UN International Day for the Eradication of Poverty, which takes place each year on 17 October; understands that this day provides a chance to bring together a wide range of groups and individuals to highlight what is being done to tackle poverty in Scotland and to build momentum for greater action; commends the Poverty Alliance for its efforts in organising Challenge Poverty Week, and would welcome widespread involvement in the many local and national events taking place.

12:34

Jackie Baillie (Dumbarton) (Lab): It gives me great pleasure to debate the motion to highlight Scotland's first challenge poverty week. I thank members for the cross-party support, and I thank the many organisations that are behind the challenge poverty week and which have provided us with briefings for the debate. The organisations are too numerous to mention, but include the Poverty Alliance, the Scottish Trades Union Congress, the Scottish Council for Voluntary Organisations, Oxfam and many children's organisations, besides.

The rationale for holding a challenge poverty week is twofold. First, the United Nations international day for the eradication of poverty takes place each year on 17 October, and the aim is to highlight the reality of poverty throughout the world and build a greater momentum for action.

Secondly, there is no doubt that child poverty is likely to rise, so we need to galvanise public opinion and policy makers to do more to tackle the challenge. Between 13 and 19 October, a wide range of organisations and individuals will come together to do four things: first, they will highlight the reality of poverty; secondly, they will demonstrate what is being done to address poverty by the Government, local authorities, health boards, voluntary organisations and communities; thirdly, they will address the stereotypes about poverty, which I will say more about later; and, fourthly, and perhaps most important, they will create support for action to address poverty.

At the heart of all of that is the desire to ensure that the voices of people who are experiencing poverty are heard, and that they are central to sharing and shaping our approach as we move forward. I hope that politicians at all levels will engage positively with the challenge poverty week, whether at national events or at local dialogue meetings that are being arranged by the Poverty Alliance.

Only yesterday, we debated the cost-of-living crisis. Although at times the debate was very robust, there is no doubt in anybody's mind about the scale of the problem that we face. With declining incomes and rising prices, people and families on low incomes are struggling. Let me stress that this is not just about people who are unfortunate enough to be unemployed; among them are people who are in employment, too. We clearly need to address in-work poverty and to make work pay. We have proposals to strengthen the national minimum wage and to embed the living wage in the forthcoming procurement bill.

About 400 employers throughout the United Kingdom are now living-wage employers and I congratulate them. However, only a tiny handful are Scottish employers and there is much that the Government can do to improve that situation.

John Mason (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP): On the point about the national minimum wage and the living wage, the living wage will always be partly voluntary. Would it not be better to have a national statutory living wage?

Jackie Baillie: We have a national minimum wage that is a matter of statute. The issue is to ensure that it increases at a rate that is commensurate with the rate of inflation, so that its true value is felt. Under the Conservative Government, it has declined substantially—to 2004 levels, which is shocking.

A truly appalling statistic that we heard yesterday suggests that in July, one in 10 people in Scotland had to borrow money for food. That is more than 500,000 people. Some borrowed from family and friends. Others, however, borrowed from payday loan lenders money that they will be unable to pay back due to exorbitant interest rates. Food banks are being set up in our communities by a number of voluntary organisations. We are grateful for their efforts, but in 21st century Scotland that should not be happening.

We have an ambitious pledge to end fuel poverty by 2016, but I do not know whether we are on track to deliver that because the Scottish Government will not say. We have 900,000 households in fuel poverty, which is a huge national scandal that we can and must tackle. Ed Miliband announced a proposal to freeze electricity and gas prices until 2017. That would be a practical measure that would speak to the reality of the challenges that are facing people in communities throughout the country. Yesterday, however, that suggestion was met with either deafening silence or sharp criticism. Today, Fergus Ewing gave the game away. None of the SNP MSPs agrees with it and they are on the side of the energy companies and not on the side of ordinary people. Instead, budgets for fuel poverty have been cut.

Yesterday, I spoke about the efforts that have been made to tackle child poverty in Scotland. It is a fact that Scotland achieved a greater fall in child poverty than anywhere else in the UK. By 2007, we had the lowest rates of child poverty in the country. I am not complacent—they were still too high—but it is a fact that, during Labour's period in office from 1999 until 2007, we reduced relative poverty by a third and absolute poverty by two thirds. Since then, progress has stalled. The real and pressing concern is that poverty levels are now rising. We see the evidence of that in our communities, and we need to act now because we know that the consequences of child poverty are truly severe.

A child who grows up in poverty is likely to suffer from poor health, lower educational attainment and unemployment, to experience financial hardship, food poverty and fuel poverty, and, ultimately, to die younger. Their life chances as adults may well be shaped before they reach the age of three, so it is critical that we intervene, and that we intervene early. Poverty is not inevitable; real change is possible.

The Scottish Government has a child poverty strategy, but progress in implementing it has been slow. I welcome the commitment to refresh the strategy, but there is also a need to refresh the "Achieving Our Potential" framework. It was developed in 2008, before the recession really hit, and it needs to be updated to reflect the current crisis in respect of living standards and poverty. It needs to be a driver for change at all levels of government. I hope that the minister will tell us that the Scottish Government will ensure that that happens.

I turn to the Scottish welfare fund. It is disappointing that only half of what could have been spent has been spent; I am sure that the minister shares that disappointment. There is no doubt about the level of need that exists, so I urge the Government to work with local authorities to identify whether there are unintended barriers to people accessing much-needed support from crisis grants.

I do not think that any one of us underestimates the scale of concern that exists about welfare cuts, including the bedroom tax. The Welfare Reform Act 2012 is a flawed piece of legislation that assumes that sufficient one-bedroom properties are available to enable the bedroom tax to work. Frankly, that is nonsense. I hope that the Scottish Government will see its way to supporting the call for £50 million—and protection for social tenants to be provided.

Finally, I want to talk about perceptions. In recent years, the debate about poverty has been characterised by negative language. Terms such as "shirkers" pepper the speeches of some politicians. Public opinion suggests that people think that the unemployed are lazy or lack willpower, although there is hope, as the recent British social attitudes survey suggests that that might be changing. We have a responsibility to take the lead in ensuring that there is better understanding of the reality of poverty. Such understanding is obtained by listening to people who have experienced, or who are experiencing, poverty.

We face a crisis in the cost of living and levels of poverty are increasing. A decade of progress in reducing child poverty and family deprivation is being reversed. Challenge poverty week is a wake-up call for all of us. Let us match that call with action now to tackle poverty in Scotland.

12:43

John Wilson (Central Scotland) (SNP): I congratulate Jackie Baillie on securing the debate. It seems a bit like groundhog day, but I would be happy to have a debate on the issue every day if it meant that we could eradicate poverty.

As someone who formerly worked for the Poverty Alliance and who experienced childhood poverty, I recognise the issues that many people are facing. I know that poverty is unacceptable in modern 21st century Scotland, so in many ways it is sad that we find ourselves discussing the subject when its awful reality and associated consequences should have been despatched to history.

I am aware that, over the years, members from around the chamber have initiated debates on poverty. I remember the time that a good friend of Jackie Baillie—one John Park—quite rightly made reference to the fact that while politicians talk about in-work poverty, people in the real world talk about trying to make ends meet.

Poverty should not be underestimated, as it has a lasting impact on our children's educational achievement and it results in failure to develop Scotland's potential for growth, especially as regards people's individual progress. In the most deprived areas of Scotland, 11 per cent of pupils leave school without any qualifications, whereas the figure for the rest of Scotland is 3 per cent. The factors that drive poverty are diverse, but more challenging than ever. For far too long, we have relied on various welfare to work schemes or should I say workfare, to use the phrase that is being used this week—to somehow solve poverty without there being a real rise in the incomes of those who are in or out of employment.

Poverty is wasteful, because the problems that it creates mean that we as a society regularly try to catch up, and we create projects of various types to tackle the symptoms instead of the root causes. One of the strengths of Scottish Government policy with regard to poverty in the recent past is the acknowledgment that poverty is multifaceted. It is quite right that that emphasis be acknowledged.

It is a poor indicator of society that we have, in my lifetime, had soup kitchens and the creation of food banks to distribute food parcels. I record my thanks to and appreciation of the various organisations that gather food and distribute it to those who are most in need, but the reality is that we should not have to do that. The income levels of those households should be sufficient to live on and survive without depending on handouts from charitable organisations.

Constituents and some employers keep telling me that there is confusion about the living wage and the national minimum wage and about why the figures vary so much. In yesterday's debate, we raised the issue of how the living wage could bring in for households a meaningful income that would allow them to survive. I am not saying that that income would be handsome, but it would be a step in the right direction to securing the prosperity of households.

I am the convener of the cross-party group on credit unions and recognise the good work that credit unions do in encouraging people to save and take loans with them, particularly in the light of Jackie Baillie's comment about payday loan companies and the problems that they currently cause.

The Scottish Government's new economic strategy recognises that opportunities should be created for all Scotland's people to flourish. I hope that the national performance framework, which has cross-party support, can assist in reducing the income gaps in our society and provide better social cohesion.

I thank the organisations that continue to advance the campaign to eradicate poverty, and I highlight their useful contributions to the debate on tackling poverty. I wish them every success in the campaign to eradicate poverty as quickly as possible, and look forward to the day when we can show that we have resolved the issue of poverty in Scotland once and for all. I congratulate Jackie Baillie once again on securing the debate.

12:47

Alex Johnstone (North East Scotland) (Con): I welcome the fact that Jackie Baillie has brought the issue to Parliament for debate, and congratulate the Poverty Alliance on the work that it has done, and will continue to do.

There is a great deal that Jackie Baillie and I could disagree on, but I do not intend to dwell on those things. I refer anyone who wants to know about them to yesterday's *Official Report*, and we will leave it at that. However, I would like to say one or two things about poverty that cause me concern and which I would like to be considered in the broader discussion.

Jackie Baillie highlighted the difference between relative poverty and absolute poverty. Sometimes we dwell on the figures for relative poverty. If we define poverty as a percentage of median income, from a mathematical point of view poverty will always be there in the same proportion, of course. That is why my concern is more about levels of absolute poverty. No one who looks at what is going on across Scotland can fail to be impressed and disappointed by the contrasts that exist. My concern is about why those contrasts exist and why we find it difficult to escape extreme contrasts.

Definitions of poverty vary; many people consider it to be a simple lack of means to achieve what they need to do in their daily lives. Poverty can also be defined as poverty of ambition. I do not wish to make a criticism of individuals: such poverty is, in fact, the sum total of generations of neglect by successive Governments. That is why I want to see people raising their aim. I want individuals from all levels of the communities that are affected to work together to ensure that they are successful in relieving poverty in the long term. That means individuals taking back possession of their lives and encouraging those in the most deprived situations to do the same. We need to return ambition to the people in our poorest communities.

I was disappointed to hear proposals that were aired at the Conservative Party conference this week being described simply as "workfare".

John Wilson: Will Alex Johnstone give way?

Alex Johnstone: I am sorry, but I have limited time and want to get finished.

To describe the proposals that were put forward this week as "workfare" is to give an unfair description of what is proposed. The specific concern was about the long-term unemployed, who are in a very difficult situation, especially in communities where there are large numbers of them. When a job becomes available, the chances of someone who has been unemployed for over two years getting it are extremely slim.

That is why the Government has produced a proposal that is designed to help those who are long-term unemployed. A third of them may be asked to do community work while another third will be asked to attend a job centre daily. That will give them the opportunity to return to a daily routine, which will help to prepare them for the workplace, because someone who gets a job but does not turn up for it will not hold on to it for long. More important, perhaps, is that the final third will be offered direct one-to-one assistance with the key problem that has kept them unemployed for that length of time. That may be a simple issue such as literacy or a more complex issue such as substance dependency and substance abuse.

That work is essential, and when our national Government produces proposals Scotland does itself no credit if every organisation and political party attacks them on the basis of their interpretation of those measures without taking the trouble to understand what the measures actually mean and what they are designed for. The UK Government has done all that it can to protect those who are in in-work poverty. By taking a huge number of people out of tax and relieving everybody who is in work of £700 of tax, it has done its bit to make work pay. We must ensure that poverty is dealt with by creating jobs and getting the unemployed into them. That is my ambition for the poor; I hope that we can raise the ambition of the organisations that support them.

12:52

Sarah Boyack (Lothian) (Lab): I apologise for having to leave before the end of the debate and I promise that I will read the *Official Report*.

I congratulate Jackie Baillie on raising the topic, which is a central one for us to debate in the chamber. The briefing that we received from the challenge poverty week hit the nail on the head in saying that poverty is not inevitable and that real change is possible. That must be our starting point. The briefing is absolutely right in suggesting that we need to think through the fundamental issues that underlie poverty, which are all about inequality. We must accept that even when we make gains we cannot just move on. The challenge of inequality and poverty is to get from the Government sustained action over time.

The young people who were supported by the previous Labour Government through the surestart initiative and better schools are now leaving school at the worst time to find employment in a generation. We need to think about people's paths all the way through their lives. There has been some excellent focus on child poverty—Jackie Baillie's speech was excellent in that regard—but I will focus on fuel poverty and the challenge for our older people.

There has been investment in tackling fuel poverty. The first two sessions of Parliament saw huge investment in boilers for older people to enable them to upgrade their systems and to afford to heat their houses in an environmentally sustainable way. However, we no longer have that scheme. The Age Scotland report "Mind the Gap" looks at the challenge of enabling current older people to access fuel-poverty measures. Its research shows that, although awareness of the Government's energy efficiency schemes is quite high, very few people apply for them. I know from my mailbag that many of the pensioners who apply for such support are deemed ineligible and so are consigned to live in properties that they cannot afford to heat properly. That is a real challenge.

Another concern that Age Concern Scotland has raised relates to the Scottish Government's home energy efficiency programme Scotland—HEEPS funds, which have been underspent and will now be reallocated. We need to understand why that money has not been spent so that we can redouble our efforts to ensure that the money is spent on what it was intended to deal with. I hope that the minister will look into that.

We need greater focus on targeting investment at challenging the problem of poverty among our older people. We have rightly debated a lot over the past few days the issue of rising fuel prices there is action that could, and should, be taken on that—but we should also look at the number of older people who have not received support to get new boilers. Many of them live in owner-occupied or private rented housing that is incredibly poorly maintained, does not have the right standards of energy efficiency and is fitted with out-of-date and expensive heating systems. The current system is not working. Many older people are not online and are not able to access the advice that is absolutely crucial.

As I said, fuel poverty is just one aspect of the debate, but on all aspects of poverty we need to drill down into the detail. We need to have our ambition absolutely right, we need to focus on equality, and those efforts need to be sustained. We need to work on looking at each individual policy that will actually tackle poverty, because that is not what is happening at the moment.

12:56

John Mason (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP): I thank Jackie Baillie for securing the debate. We discussed the rising cost of living yesterday, and much of the material in that debate is relevant for today's debate. When I read some of the briefings for today's debate, I wondered what line I would take, but I think that I want to concentrate on the contrast between wealth and poverty.

Some have so much and some have so little. There will always be variations in society between the incomes of some and the wealth of others. I remember a previous boss of mine saying that people can be quite happy if someone else has a Rolls-Royce as long as they have a Mini. Perhaps that is the case, but when one person has two Rolls-Royces and their neighbour has no Mini or anything else, we know that something is definitely wrong.

On Sunday, I attended two church services in my constituency—one Catholic and one Church of Scotland—and at both the reading was about the rich man and Lazarus, which I assume some members might be familiar with. Briefly, the rich man went through his life without really even noticing the poor man Lazarus who sat begging outside his house. If we do one thing today, I hope it is that we notice and re-emphasise that this is a problem.

Whether we consider ourselves to be Scotland or the UK, we are a wealthy country, so why is there all this poverty? Part of the answer has to be about how the income and wealth are shared out—and they are not shared out very well. I am happy to accept that part of the answer is that we need better-quality jobs and better-paid jobs at the lower end. That links to having a living wage, which I hope will become statutory at some stage. That is the basic argument of "The Common Weal", about which I know people have been speaking to both the Scottish National Party and the Labour Party. Many of us are sympathetic to that, but I do not think that that is the whole answer.

I think that we need to accept that some people are getting too much. At least in the short term, the economy is not going to grow dramatically, so how we distribute income and the wealth of this country is significant. One option is to limit the income of those at the top, but that is easier said than done. The Green amendment to the motion that we debated yesterday—we did not actually discuss that amendment—suggested maximum pay ratios, which appeal to me in some ways. However, I know that they have been attempted in the past and have proven very difficult.

The longer-term answer must be to challenge the underlying greed in all this of people who take 10 or 20 times more income than they pay some of their staff. That is also easier said than done, but at least it should be said. **Neil Findlay (Lothian) (Lab):** I disagree with hardly a word that the member has said. In the ding-dong in here, we seldom get to discuss such issues quietly, but how does the corporation tax policy that his party is pursuing sit with what he is proposing? I ask that question genuinely and am not trying to trip him up on a political point.

John Mason: The member and I have discussed the issue a few times and we will probably discuss it a few times more. Very briefly, I also have reservations about cutting any taxes, frankly. I think that the only justification for cutting corporation tax is to pull in more jobs and to bring in more tax through PAYE and so on. That is as far as I will go.

We have to change attitudes. In many ways, that is probably beyond the power of this or any other Parliament.

On the assumption that incomes will vary widely, the other option is to use taxation powers to redistribute. The present range of income tax, from 20 per cent to 45 or 50 per cent, is not very wide. When one adds national insurance, the starting rate is effectively 30 per cent. I was very disappointed when the 10 per cent rate was abolished. I would like the lowest rate to be 10 per cent again, inclusive of national insurance, and for it perhaps to go up in bands of 10 per cent. I remember when it was 98 per cent. That was probably too high, but we could go in that direction.

I am pleased that we are talking about the subject today. We need to grow the economy, but whether or not we do that, we need to share our resources more fairly.

13:01

Drew Smith (Glasgow) (Lab): I congratulate Jackie Baillie, as others have done, on securing the debate. I very much agree with Mr Mason on the issue of pay ratios and differentials. In her closing speech, I would be interested to hear the minister touch on a commitment to measure, which is the one thing that we could do now. A commitment from the public sector to produce some statistics on pay ratios might help us to deliver the outcome that Mr Mason suggested.

Challenge poverty week is an excellent initiative. I congratulate the Poverty Alliance and everyone who has been involved in developing the idea. John Mason mentioned the importance of Christian teaching and what the church says on some of these issues. Last year, I was struck by a comment that Sally Foster-Fulton of the Church of Scotland made to me. She said that the Christian view that the poor are always with us is not meant to be a defence; it is supposed to be a challenge. In the policy debate on poverty and how to tackle it, we often create the distinction between absolute and relative poverty, which Alex Johnstone mentioned. Jackie Baillie mentioned the progress that the previous Labour Government made on both. There is reasonable political consensus that eradication of absolute poverty is achievable in a country with our wealth and resources, and that we should seek to export that campaign against absolute poverty to other corners of the globe.

Our politics, however, tend to divide us on relative poverty. To some extent, that division reflects the differing views of the public at large. There are those who are prepared to accept the inevitability of some poverty for other people, but people are rarely persuaded to accept the inevitability of poverty for themselves or their families. If we accept the inevitability of poverty, we must divide "others" into those who deserve our support and those who deserve their fate. The opportunity provided by challenge poverty week will play an important role in encouraging us all to reject that approach.

I will concentrate on poverty as it affects the people in Glasgow, whom I represent. Glasgow is not a poor city in many respects. The city council rightly promotes Glasgow as the powerhouse of the Scottish economy; its success is vital to the city region and all of Scotland. Quite often, the debate about Glasgow's problems, particularly in the media but sometimes in the political debate around the city's leadership, depicts a city that is a victim of poverty rather than a survivor of it.

Rather than list the many challenges that Glasgow faces, which are deep rooted, and the solutions that have been presented, which are often superficial and can be patronising, I will make a couple of observations. Due to the scale of the challenge that Glasgow faces, I do not believe that it is possible to have a serious plan to tackle poverty in Scotland without having a serious commitment to Glasgow. That is not to say that the lived experience of poverty in Glasgow is worse than it is elsewhere, or that poverty in Scotland is unique to Glasgow; rather, it is to recognise that in the big areas-health, life expectancy, education and quality of work, all of which add up to quality of life-the scale of Glasgow represents a capacity to intervene that we cannot ignore and the biggest opportunity to turn our faces against the idea that poverty is inevitable.

I have spoken about my city but another point that should be at the heart of challenge poverty week is the importance of individual human voices in establishing what is to be done. I care about poverty in my city and it is part of my job to advocate on behalf of the people whom I represent. We can all put in place programmes to assist people. However, it is only when we hear the voices of people who have the lived experience of worklessness—whether because of the lack of a job or because they are unable to work—or who face exploitation at work that we will ever sustain real change.

In yesterday's cost of living debate, which has been mentioned, Iain Gray talked about the missing £1 billion—the money that has vanished from anti-poverty programmes since 2007. From the conversations that I have had with poverty campaigners, I know that there is a feeling that we have lost our focus on tackling poverty.

I might not support many of the changes to the welfare system that UK Government is pursuing or some of the Scottish Government's priorities, but those are not the causes of poverty. We will get an understanding of the real causes and solutions and how to scrutinise the budgets only when the voices of the people who are affected are heard properly in the debate. I very much hope that challenge poverty week presents an opportunity for that to happen.

13:06

Neil Findlay (Lothian) (Lab): I did not intend to speak in the debate, but it has been good and I will make a few brief comments.

Through my life in my community and in my street, having worked in the social housing sector previously in places such as Broomhouse and Wester Hailes and throughout West Lothian, and having worked in education in many communities, I have seen at first hand the impact of crushing poverty on people like me and of my class who have been drained by the desperate attempt to keep their families together and a roof over their heads, and who desperately want to look after their families but find it difficult to clothe their kids and put food in their bellies.

It fills me with rage when I hear some politicians and media commentators who have no concept of living on employment support allowance, of living with a long-term condition with Atos hassling them to get a job that does not exist, or of the indignity of queueing at a food bank or hiding from the housing officer who has been sent to collect the rent. It fills me with rage when I hear people speaking about the low-paid and the unemployed when they have no idea what their life is like. We do not need people to patronise the low-paid and the poor. We need to see the colour of their money and their policies to help people change their lives.

I commend my colleague Jackie Baillie for bringing the debate to the Parliament. I encourage members who want to see what is happening in people's day-to-day lives to contact their local council or housing association and go along, not to don a hard hat or a high-visibility vest to cut a ribbon, but to go out with a housing officer and see what is happening on the front line to people in the real world. The situation in which many people in the community find themselves is not just difficult; it is scandalous in what we attempt to call a civilised society.

On the bigger picture, I find myself agreeing with a great deal of what John Mason said—I do not know whether that should worry him or me. We absolutely need a taxation and economic system that puts addressing inequality and unfairness at the heart of policy making and budget decisions.

I commend the churches, the trade unions and the vast range of community groups that work every day on this agenda. Two years or a year and a half ago, Drew Smith and I went to the General Assembly of the Church of Scotland to hear the report of its commission into economic activity. I commend that report to everyone. It is a fantastic piece of work, and I hope that, in future, some of the recommendations that it made come to fruition.

13:09

The Minister for Housing and Welfare (Margaret Burgess): Like others, I congratulate Jackie Baillie on securing the debate. Every opportunity for the Parliament to make its voice heard on tackling poverty and inequality in Scotland is valuable.

I also thank the Poverty Alliance for organising challenge poverty week. Tackling this fundamental issue is a key priority for the Government, and I am fully supportive of the Poverty Alliance's work on the area.

Having spoken at a number of Poverty Alliance events over the past year, I appreciate how important it is to challenge poverty and the myths around it, as the Poverty Alliance is doing through its stick your labels campaign. It is clear that we must continue to work together if we are to tackle poverty effectively and dispel the myths around those in poverty and in receipt of benefits. I think that every member would agree that there are myths around poverty, which are peddled in many instances by part of the current UK Government and by some of the media. I have said that before, and I do not apologise for saying it again.

I understand how poverty affects people. For most of my working life I have been involved in front-line services that deal with the most vulnerable groups in our society: those on low incomes or on benefits, and the sick and disabled. I understand the circumstances that they are in, and I cannot stomach it when I hear such people labelled in some quarters as scroungers, when we should be working to understand the issues and help as much as we can.

The Poverty Alliance works very hard in trying to raise awareness of poverty. We recognised that in the "Annual Report for the Child Poverty Strategy for Scotland 2013". We must listen to those affected by poverty and to what they say they need, rather than to what we think they need. That is why I regularly meet groups from around the country, including groups from the Poverty Alliance. I recently met a group from the Poverty Alliance to inform our strategy on health inequalities and to listen to what people in poverty had to say on the issues that affect them. It was a positive meeting and we got lots of practical suggestions; we will certainly consider them and will take some of them forward. The Scottish Government is committed to a long-term preventative approach to tackling the key drivers of poverty. We will continue that through the revised child poverty strategy, which will be published in the spring.

The Scottish Government will continue to protect household incomes. We recognised a long time ago that the cost of living was a real issue for people out there. That is why we introduced what we call the social wage: free personal care for the elderly; the abolition of tuition fees, bridge tolls and prescription charges; free eye examinations; the council tax freeze; concessionary bus travel for the elderly and disabled; and increasing the provision of free nursery education. All those things are intended to help people who are struggling to get by and make ends meet.

We are leading by example in ensuring that all employees for whom the Scottish Government is responsible will receive at least the Scottish living wage. We are encouraging other organisations to do that, too. Recently, another housing association came on board and announced that it is now a living wage employer.

Jackie Baillie: I accept what the minister says about what the Scottish Government is doing; indeed, I acknowledge what local government is doing, too. However, will the Scottish Government take the opportunity presented by its proposed procurement reform bill to ensure that we spread that good practice to the private sector as well?

Margaret Burgess: The Scottish Government is looking at the issue closely in relation to the procurement reform bill. However, as Jackie Baillie well knows, we must also look at the European rules. We want to ensure that where the living wage can be paid, it will be paid, and lots of local authorities are looking at the issue, too.

John Wilson: Will the minister take an intervention?

Margaret Burgess: Okay, but I am almost out of time.

John Wilson: I thank the minister for giving way.

Does the minister accept that, even with the introduction of the living wage, there must be decent contracts and working hours, and that we must end the scandal of the zero-hour or five-hour contracts that are issued, particularly to staff in local authorities through arm's-length external organisations?

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Minister, you can take as long as you need.

Margaret Burgess: Thank you, Presiding Officer.

I agree with the member that any contract must have good terms and conditions. I recognise that the living wage is only one step towards reducing inequality and that it is not a one-off solution to poverty. We are looking at every possible way of reducing poverty throughout Scotland.

I found it disappointing that, at the start of the debate, a number of issues were raised that brought politics into it. We are doing what we can to mitigate the worst impacts of welfare reform. We have already provided £40 million to protect people from the UK Government's 10 per cent cut in funding the council tax benefit successor arrangements; £7.9 million for advice and support services; and £9.2 million to top up the new Scottish welfare fund, which I want to say something about.

We are all disappointed that that new fund has not been taken up to the extent that we wanted it to be. We are currently carrying out a thorough review, and the guidance has been changed to make things clearer to local authorities, which administer it. We are also looking at and working on improving the consistency of the fund throughout Scotland. Our commitment to the fund was made absolutely clear when the Cabinet Secretary for Finance, Employment and Sustainable Growth announced that its budget would be kept at the same level for the next two years. We do not expect to reduce the fund just now; indeed, we want it to be taken up and will be advertising it and doing everything else possible to ensure that every penny of the fund is used for the vulnerable people who require it.

On fuel poverty, the Scottish Government continues to provide funding for the fuel poor. We have, for example, the HEEPS scheme and, in response to an earlier question about why the scheme has not been taken up, I point out that we experienced difficulties at the start because the Office of Gas and Electricity Markets and the UK Government were determining the rules for the energy company obligation. We therefore reckoned that there would be an underspend, and that provided some of the £20 million that we are using to mitigate the bedroom tax. That should be recognised, because it illustrates the difficulties that we had in finding that money. However, we found it and ensured that it went back to vulnerable people. The fuel poverty budget will also stay the same for the next two years; we have not reduced it, because we expect the HEEPS scheme to be up and running, with contracts going and fuel poverty in Scotland being reduced.

Unlike the UK Government, we continue to support fuel poverty projects in Scotland; indeed, we are committing £79 million to such projects to help the very people highlighted by Sarah Boyack. We have also continued the energy advice scheme, which replaced the energy assistance package, because we realised that people were still going to miss out under the UK schemes. The fact that we are committing £60 million to the scheme for the next two years also shows that we are addressing fuel poverty.

I realise that I have gone over my time, Presiding Officer, so I will finish by saying that we will continue to take action to address fuel poverty. We are committed to the issue for the long term, but we need the support of everyone in the chamber.

I am more convinced than ever that, in order to deal with poverty in our society, we need to be in charge of our own economy and welfare system, so that we can ensure that they are fully integrated.

13:17

Meeting suspended.

14:30

On resuming—

Common Agricultural Policy

The Presiding Officer (Tricia Marwick): Good afternoon. The first item of business is a debate on motion S4M-07892, in the name of Richard Lochhead, on the common agricultural policy.

The Cabinet Secretary for Rural Affairs and the Environment (Richard Lochhead): The debate on the common agricultural policy for 2014 to 2020 provides an opportunity for the Government to update Parliament on the state of play in the European Union negotiations and our preparations in Scotland and to explain the next steps. The debate is well timed, as EU-level agreement on the CAP package was confirmed only last week. Europe still has to finish the formal adoption procedures, which will take until November or December, but the content of the deal has now been decided.

This is a good time for the Government to update Parliament on that deal and its implications. Before delving into the detail, we should remind ourselves of the wider context. Nearly every country treats agriculture as a unique sector that often requires special treatment. Europe is no different. For 50 years, the CAP has supported European agriculture, initially to modernise it and recently to support its role in relation to the environment.

As we all know, here in Scotland, CAP funding is vital. At just under £600 million, last year's receipts from the CAP were almost the same as the net income from farming, which was just over £600 million. In many cases, our industry's survival depends on a successful CAP.

At the start of the process, one of our priorities was to bring new entrants and other excluded farmers into the CAP's scope. We wanted to clamp down on slipper farming and to have sufficient coupled support to address declining livestock numbers. We supported greening the CAP, but we needed the details to be changed so that they would not affect farming operations disproportionately or have unintended consequences for the environment. We wanted to remove unnecessary red tape from the proposals and to have flexibility to tailor the new CAP to suit Scotland's needs. Above all, we needed the United Kingdom Government to negotiate a decent outcome for us on the budget.

It is fair to say that we were successful on nearly all those priorities. We achieved changes that will put past and future new entrants on a level playing field. We secured the so-called Scottish clause to clamp down on slipper farmers and we resisted an ineffective active farmer test that would have tied us up in red tape. We got more flexibility, for example, to ensure that properly farmed heather will be eligible, to choose our own timescale for phasing out payments with a historical basis and to decide for ourselves whether to cap or reduce big individual payments—so-called degressivity.

We also achieved improvements on greening. The original proposals could have caused problems for farmers without commensurate environmental benefits. We secured a much more realistic version of the greening in the final text. Cropping records suggest that roughly 5,000 farmers will now be covered, but the majority already meet the rules. Only about 800 farmers will have to plant an additional crop under the cropping rules.

All those achievements are under pillar 1 of the policy, which relates to direct payments to farmers. There was perhaps less to play for under pillar 2, because the proposals were more for evolution than revolution. However, we still secured important flexibility in several areas. Perhaps the most important is on areas of natural constraint, which will replace less favoured areas under the new programmes.

Under pillars 1 and 2, our negotiating efforts were mostly successful. However, I was disappointed with the outcome on coupled support, which is the optional production-linked support, such as headage payments, to maintain types of farming in areas where that is particularly important. The original proposals gave Scotland 5 per cent coupled support, on the bottom tier of a two-tier system. In the final deal, we will have the option of 8 per cent, which is nearly double our existing coupled support under the beef scheme.

However, the system still has two tiers, which I and most farmers in Scotland believe is fundamentally unfair. The 8 per cent is also well below the 10 to 15 per cent that the Brian Pack inquiry recommended.

Claire Baker (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab): Has the cabinet secretary approached the UK Government to discuss the possibility of calculating the 8 per cent on the UK's share rather than just the Scottish share?

Richard Lochhead: Yes we have, and I will talk about that now because this is a key area for Scotland.

Unfortunately, our negotiator, Owen Paterson, did not want any coupled support whatsoever, never mind the 5 or 8 per cent that we finally got. Given where we have ended up, I can tell Claire Baker that I have written to Owen Paterson to ask whether the 8 per cent limit can apply to the member state rather than to Scotland, because we have had so many mixed messages from different ministers during the past few months. This is all about damage limitation. Fundamentally, the deal on coupled support remains a major disappointment for Scotland, but the deal is now done and we must turn our attention to how we implement it.

The Government has been working on that with stakeholders for several years. We have run workshops, had various groups and done extensive modelling; we also held a major conference this April. As a result, a consensus is emerging about the way forward, which takes various concerns into account. One such concern is how the move to area-based payments will impact on farmers with high payments under the current historical scheme. For example, the more intensive beef and dairy farmers are concerned about that. However, it is inevitable that their rates per hectare will come down. By definition, below average rates will rise and above average rates will fall, but there are tools that we can use to mitigate the impact and, we hope, manage the transition.

In doing that, we must be aware of the impact on farmers who have been excluded from the single farm payment until now, such as new entrants and deer farmers. They must be put on a level playing field as quickly as possible, even if we give other farmers more time to adapt. Of course, we must also keep our eyes open for loopholes. We know that people like loopholes in agricultural legislation, and undoubtedly some people are already thinking that if they have an empty hillside with some deer on it, they can qualify for big CAP payments. The answer to that, incidentally, is no. However, there is always a minority who will try to exploit the system and we need to be aware of that.

Speaking of exploiting the system, under the Scottish clause we must find minimum activity rules that keep slipper farmers out of the system while letting genuine extensive hill farmers in.

We must also look at the impact of the greening measures. Greening presents a great opportunity. I want every farmer in this country to be getting greener over time. Consumers are paying increasing attention to how their food is produced, and Scotland has a great reputation for green and natural food that we can exploit in valuable overseas markets as well as at home. That means that we must be genuinely green. Scotland is not the worst in the class. For example, we do not have the extreme arable monocultures that the three-crop rule is aimed at tackling; other European countries have that. However, at the same time, we must be aware that we have competitors who want to be seen as green and they are catching up with Scotland.

Even in Scotland, we must accept that we face some genuine environmental challenges. Our index of farmland birds has gone down in each of the last three years of data. On water quality, only 60 per cent of our bodies of water are in good condition, which is below the long-term target of 98 per cent, and that has not improved in the past four years. There are many wins to be secured if we get things right. We must address our genuine environmental challenges. In doing so, we can stay ahead of our competitors and ensure that our fantastic natural products succeed in tomorrow's markets.

To deliver those wins, we have to take many of the important decisions that lie ahead of us. Unfortunately, those decisions will be all the more difficult because of the budget that has been negotiated by the UK Government. In the new CAP, Scotland will probably have lower rates per hectare in both pillars than every other member state in Europe. That is even worse than what we get today. If Scotland had been a member state. we would automatically have got an uplift to €196 per hectare in pillar 1. As I have said before, that would bring in an extra €1 billion up to 2020. We could also have negotiated an uplift in pillar 2, in the same way as 16 other member states have done. Finland got a €600 million uplift, Portugal got €500 million, Slovenia got €150 million, Lithuania got an extra €100 million, and so on. However, the UK Government took the decision not to press Scotland's case.

If the UK Government was not willing to get us a decent deal from Europe, the least that it could have delivered was a fair division of the funding within the UK. We urgently need agreement on that.

Liam McArthur (Orkney Islands) (LD): We have heard a lot about the UK Government not batting for Scotland. As I recall, the cabinet secretary was demanding an increase in the budget at the same time as his MP colleagues were voting with Labour for a reduction in the budget, at the same time as his MEPs were voting to freeze it. Which of those positions represents the Scottish National Party's position on the budget?

Richard Lochhead: I am sure that the member is aware that only 38 per cent of the Europe budget is for CAP. That is one area in which Scotland gets an extremely raw deal. We deserve a greater share of the CAP budget.

The deadline for many of the decisions is approaching. We have to give notification of any pillar-to-pillar budget transfers that we would like by the end of the year. I have written to Owen Paterson to seek a fair deal for Scotland within the UK's CAP allocation so that we can start to take those decisions. In particular, the UK received an uplift under the external convergence mechanism, which will be worth more than \in 60 million per year by 2020, and a total of \in 230 million over the whole budget period. As that uplift was obtained only as a result of Scotland's low payments under the current system, at the very least, Owen Paterson must allocate it entirely to Scotland. It is not a case of taking money away from farmers in England, Wales and Northern Ireland; it is about ensuring that money that belongs to Scottish farmers comes to Scottish farmers to help them through the challenges ahead.

The first challenge will be getting through 2014. In theory, the new CAP was supposed to start on 1 January 2014, but that was never realistic under Europe's timetable. As I said, the main regulations will not even be adopted until November or December, after which the implementation rules will have to be developed. I was frustrated by how long it took Europe to recognise that 2014 will be a transition year, but it has now come forward with a transition regulation, which we are negotiating.

Despite all that uncertainty, I was able recently to set out a plan for 2014. Europe has made it impossible to avoid a gap between the current Scotland rural development programme and the new one, but our plan will minimise the impact on the ground and provide continuity where it is most needed—for instance, with less favoured area support scheme payments, agri-environment contracts and woodland creation.

We have more decisions to turn our minds to. To inform them, we will run consultation exercises on pillar 1 and pillar 2, which will start towards the end of this year. I do not want to pre-empt the results of those consultations, but we have to give as much certainty as we can to the industry.

I would like to outline my thinking. On the pillar 1 basic payment scheme, a consensus is emerging on the establishment of two or three payment regions in Scotland. That would be simpler than some other options, so I am pretty well minded to go with that.

On coupled support, if we are stuck with 8 per cent of the Scottish ceiling, I will give serious consideration to devoting all of that to the beef sector. I know that some sheep farmers will be disappointed to hear that, but their sector already stands to gain considerably from the move to area-based payments.

I am also keen to explore other options for weighting any future beef scheme. The current scheme gives higher rates to the first 10 calves per holding, but the data suggest a decline in slightly bigger herds, so we must review that aspect. On greening, we will continue to look at the option of equivalence schemes, which we are allowed to put in place, but even the strongest supporters of equivalence are getting slightly cold feet as the details become clearer, and our analysis does not show huge benefits from equivalence schemes for biodiversity, for example. I will reserve my judgment on the issue, but it looks quite complex. However, I want to find out whether we can use equivalence schemes under greening to deliver carbon-reducing measures to help with the role that agriculture plays in our climate change efforts.

There are arguments for and against capping and degressivity, which is the reduction of big payments. I am keen to address the issue of huge individual payments, but we must consider what will happen to those payments in any case. The move to an area-based system should reduce big payments significantly, and we should take that into account when we decide whether to apply an absolute cap to payments. There is another measure called redistributive payment, which is the idea of giving a top-up on the first 30 or 50 hectares per farm. We should look at those options.

We also have decisions to make on pillar 2. I have said many times that the new SRDP must be simpler for applicants and better focused on key areas such as climate change, food and drink, and support for hill farmers and crofters. However, the SRDP is not only for farmers; we must bear in mind that it has a much wider role to play in supporting rural communities. Therefore, many people have a big stake in the decisions that we will take in the coming months.

With such crucial decisions ahead, I look forward to hearing members' comments on the new CAP. I hope that Parliament will join me in welcoming our negotiating achievements, and that it will welcome our call for the UK Government to provide a much fairer budget deal so that we can work towards a successful new policy for Scotland and our farmers can continue to bring food to our tables and care for Scotland's magnificent environments.

I move,

That the Parliament notes the importance of the EU common agricultural policy (CAP) for underpinning productive agriculture, delivering environmental and other public benefits and supporting rural development; notes that the EU reached an agreement on a new CAP and welcomes the Scottish Government's success in negotiating provisions that meet Scotland's needs on new entrants, active farming and increased flexibilities; looks forward to the Scottish Government's future public consultations on implementing the new CAP in Scotland; notes that, as a member state, Scotland would have qualified for increased Pillar 1 payments worth €1 billion extra up to 2020 and been able to negotiate improved Pillar 2 rural funding; deplores the budget deal negotiated by the

UK Government, which failed to address Scotland's unacceptably low CAP funding, and calls on the UK Government to deliver a fair deal for Scotland through the UK's allocation of CAP funds, including the full external convergence uplift to Scotland.

14:44

Claire Baker (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab): This is an opportune time to have a CAP debate, and we should not miss the opportunity to discuss the key issues. I welcome the cabinet secretary's press release this morning and the way in which he has addressed the debate this afternoon. He began to lay out some of the key issues that face us in Scotland.

This morning, my daughter got ready for her school harvest service with the poem about all the farmers working hard. It is important to recognise the huge contribution that farmers make to our food production and security, land stewardship, and our rural and national economies.

There are significant on-going debates about food affordability and accessibility and how we reconcile impressive export growth figures with growing food poverty at home. Regardless of who receives more, or where Scotland is in a subsidy league table, farming receives significant public resources in return for a number of public benefits, some of which compete. It is important not to lose sight of that in this debate. Our focus is on how we implement the changes and try to get the best deal for those who receive the support, but we also need to ensure that we get the best deal for consumers and the wider community and economy.

At the start of the process, the European Parliament identified food security as key, but that was alongside rising energy prices, climate change, environmental protection, land abandonment and the economic crisis as the set of challenges that a reformed CAP must respond to. I am not convinced that what we have before us meets that challenge. If Scotland is to respond effectively to those issues, implementation has a lot to deliver.

Labour's amendment focuses on the complex matter of the choices that we have to make in Scotland. In this phase, the decision making lies with the Scottish Government. After a pretty protracted period of negotiation, we now face a fairly tight timescale for introduction. The Scottish Government will soon consult on the issues but, as the Scottish Environment LINK briefing says:

"Government clarity on objectives and desired outcomes is essential here if a 'bun-fight' between different farming sectors—beef versus arable versus dairy—is to be avoided."

At committee last week, the cabinet secretary laid out three options for the transfer from

historical to area payments. I have previously cautioned about using the "Irish tunnel" model. We now have agreement on the principle of a new entrants fund. That fund is very welcome, and we should prioritise its introduction in Scotland. Perhaps in light of that, there is more room to have a more gradual approach towards convergence. However, there is a risk that the "Irish tunnel" model will slow reform too much and that, while it cushions the change for some, it will mean that others who are in need of support will have to wait much longer.

The cabinet secretary talked about securing the Scottish clause. It would be good to have some clarity on the Scottish clause. The end of slipper farming has been a key aim of the reform, but it looks as though there is a risk that other loopholes will be created. Unintended attractions could be created that encourage some land to become eligible for pillar 1 support. The flexibility of setting a minimum stocking level seems key to the policy being effective. Will the cabinet secretary say a bit more about what the current understanding is? His press release this morning talked about "minimum activity levels". Is he confident that that will address the issue?

The cabinet secretary is fond of per hectare average comparisons. They are accurate, and I support a fairer distribution of funds throughout the EU and the UK and accept that that is the measure that is used, but those comparisons also fit the cabinet secretary's preferred narrative. We know that the situation is much more complex than that.

We can recognise how the situation came about. The payments are historical. Scotland's 1.5 million hectares present unique farming challenges and we have worked with a system that has heavily rewarded productivity, but has not sufficiently recognised what Scotland's less favoured farming areas deliver. The Scottish LINK briefing highlights Environment the importance of high nature-value farming-I think that a few of us were at the RSPB Scotland parliamentary briefing earlier. Average per hectare calculations give a distorted picture. They mask significantly different payments. Therefore, when the cabinet secretary makes claims about farmers being £6,000 a year better off, that is really not the whole picture. The matter is not as simple as average per hectare payments. What does the figure tell us about recipients in East Lothian, who receive an average payment of over €125,000 per hectare, whereas the Highland region receives an average of just over €34? It does not tell us very much. If we look at other measures, such as per holding or per worker-that is surely an important measure if we are looking at public benefit-we will see that Scotland and the UK are much higher in the EU league tables. Scotland even receives

23312

more than the rest of the UK on some of those figures.

Richard Lochhead: The figures that Claire Baker has read out illustrate why we have to move from the historical basis for payments to a new basis for payments. That is why we are moving to area-based payments. We cannot reward people in activity in 2013 or, indeed, 2020 with what they had back in 2002. That is the explanation behind the figures that the member mentioned.

The formula that would benefit Scotland is the formula that Europe used to allocate the national pots of money to each member state. That formula would have delivered a greater national pot to Scotland as a member state, which we could then have decided how to distribute among the Highland farms, the East Lothian farms and so on.

Claire Baker: I accept that that is the formula that is used, but the story behind it is much more complex. It is not just about providing a fairer formula throughout the EU and the UK; it is about the decisions that Scotland will make to ensure that we have a fairer distribution within Scotland. The EU works with a per-hectare measure that one could argue is as valid as any measure, but it is not the only measure that we can look at and make comparisons with.

The UK uplift is largely down to the nature of historical payments in Scotland. We are behind England on that, as changes have already been made to area-based payments in England, which have had an impact on the figures. The questions now are about how we can get a fairer, more equitable distribution of funds throughout the UK; how we can achieve a commitment to convergence from the UK Government, with a clear timetable; and how we can get a level playing field operating throughout the UK. That debate would be of more benefit to Scottish farming than a protracted negotiation into the EU.

We often hear the assertion that we would see significant additional CAP funds from independence. In a debate before he became a minister, Paul Wheelhouse even claimed:

"when Scotland becomes independent, the full economic benefit of convergence between member states will be delivered to Scotland automatically."—[*Official Report*, 18 January 2012; c 5396.]

Yet, increasingly, we see the terms of Scotland's EU membership being questioned. The SNP claimed that it would be automatic, but it now acknowledges the need for negotiations.

The Minister for Environment and Climate Change (Paul Wheelhouse): I hope that Claire Baker acknowledges that, if we were an independent member state in our own right, we would have benefited from the new formula in terms of convergence on the national pot. That is the point that the cabinet secretary made. I would welcome clarification of whether she agrees with that principle.

Claire Baker: That is not the situation that we face. The SNP proposes that we go into the EU as a new member state and there are concerns about the negotiations that would have to take place. What would that mean for Scottish farming? Could the SNP guarantee that payments to farmers would continue during any negotiations? Recent examples show that new member states, including those that joined in 2007, have had their direct EU payments phased in gradually, which would be disastrous for Scottish farming.

I will move on to an area on which there is more agreement between us. I agree with the cabinet secretary that Owen Paterson needs to listen and respond positively to the debate. We need an equitable solution for the UK. I accept that it is a challenging negotiation for the cabinet secretary, but he will also have to deliver on the degree of redistribution that he argues for across the EU and within the UK. He must start to be clear about what level of support will be available to farming in Scotland's more disadvantaged areas. There have been suggestions that the maximum degree of modulation from pillar 1 to pillar 2 will take place and, as the Liberal Democrat amendment highlights, that decision will have to be made guite soon. We support arguments for greater funding in pillar 2 to deliver an effective SRDP. Some people in the farming sector have raised concerns over the impact that that degree of modulation will have on pillar 1, but we need to consider our our commitment meet environmental to challenges. If we were to boost the agrienvironment schemes, which have previously been cut, we could deliver benefits for both.

Last week, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change report clearly set out the global challenges. We know that the farming sector in Scotland has a pretty significant environmental impact, with emissions from agriculture and related land use accounting for some 20 per cent of total Scottish emissions. The example this week of John McKenzie from Dingwall, who is running a carbon neutral flying business with all the energy generated from his farm, demonstrates the commitment and innovation that exists out there to improve performance. Currently, we have no statutory measures placed on the sector and there is some way to go. It is essential that we use incentives and good practice, but we need to see more action in that area. If we could boost the funds in pillar 2, that would go some way towards helping that.

The other significant area is how we implement degressivity. We need much more transparency around payments and a better explanation of how public benefit is gained from some of the large farm payments that are being made to profitable farms. The payments must be justifiable. I recently spoke to a senior figure in food and drink, and they said that the most innovative of produce, the most diverse business models and the most modern farming often come from younger farmers who have received no public subsidy but who are, nonetheless, growing businesses and have the potential to do more.

The new entrants scheme will ease matters—I know that the cabinet secretary agrees that part of the solution must be to look at land availability and tenancies if we are to improve the lot of new entrants—but we must also be prepared to focus resources on where they provide the greatest public benefit. On that issue, Alyn Smith MEP commented this week that he was

"disappointed the agreement didn't go further on capping: we have simply not addressed popular concerns on this issue, and when everyone is having to tighten their belts it's only right that the nation's wealthiest farmers should as well."

It is now up to the cabinet secretary to address the issue and to indicate where he thinks that the balance should lie and what is proportionate and fair.

We need to be clear about our priorities for implementation. We would be better spending our time today on that significant debate and sending a clear message to the UK Government about delivering a fairer funding deal throughout the UK than on making referendum arguments that have little reference to the CAP deal, which is determined now until 2020.

I move amendment S4M-07892.3, to leave out from "and welcomes" to end and insert:

"and believes that the focus must now shift to implementing the latest CAP agreement to best meet the needs of farmers across Scotland, including new entrants, reward active farming and support rural businesses and communities, as well as protect and enhance Scotland's environment; recognises the tight timescale for introduction and calls on the Scottish Government to provide clarity on the transition from historic to area payments, the level of modulation from Pillar 1 to Pillar 2 and the future Scottish Rural Development Programme as soon as possible, and calls on both the Scottish Government and the UK Government to ensure that a mature dialogue is maintained in the implementation of the current agreement in order to deliver a fair outcome throughout the UK."

14:56

Alex Fergusson (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con): This is a debate on which I wish it were possible for the Parliament to speak with one voice. We have often managed to do so on this topic in the past, but I regret that it seems highly unlikely that that will be the case at decision time this evening. That is not just a great shame but a missed opportunity on the part of the Government, as there is much in the debate around which I genuinely believe we could have agreed. Surely the Government would agree that a unanimous vote from this Parliament would carry a much stronger message to both the UK Government and the EU than the fragmented result that, I fear, we will see later this afternoon.

Had today's motion reflected the perfectly reasonable tone taken by the cabinet secretary in his speech this afternoon, we might have achieved such unanimity, but I do not think that that will be the case. In my view, the motion certainly does not reflect that reasonable tone. When I started to read the motion, I was filled with optimism that the debate would concentrate on the many really important issues that face rural Scotland in the wake of the CAP reform package, but, as I read on, my heart slowly sank as I came to what I can only call a remarkably self-congratulatory clause that asks us to welcome

"the Scottish Government's success in negotiating provisions that meet Scotland's needs"

in various fields. That phrase "success in negotiating" was penned by the same cabinet secretary who is forever complaining that he cannot negotiate anything because he does not have a seat at the top table. Well, I do not see how he can have it both ways.

I very much welcome the fact that the UK Government was clearly impressed enough with the Scottish Government's arguments on these issues that it negotiated hard for them—often, I believe, against its own instincts—succeeded in those negotiations and returned with a deal on CAP reform that might not have given us everything that we wanted but that the cabinet secretary pronounced as a good deal for Scotland. So I find myself asking why the motion calls on us to "deplore" that agreement.

Let us get real for a minute. We all know that the overall EU budget has been reduced. How could it have been otherwise in these economic times? Let us also not forget that, as Liam McArthur reminded us, the SNP's representatives at Westminster voted for that budget reduction, so it should surely have come as no surprise that there is less money in the CAP budget. The issue should be not how much blame and vitriol we can pour on the UK Government but how we can maximise the benefit of the smaller pot of money under the two pillars following CAP reform. As Claire Baker hinted, that may not suit the Government's agenda on the outcome of next year's referendum, but it is the question to which most people who live and work in rural Scotland want an answer.

I will focus on those issues. I have a lot of sympathy with the cabinet secretary as he faces

the task before him because, as we all recognise, the changes that he must now implement will involve many winners and losers across the agricultural sector as pillar 1 support moves from historical to area-based payments. However, it is worth reflecting that Scotland has historically had a low level of CAP funding because our historical payments have always been based on stock numbers and productivity. As we all know, and are constantly reminded, 85 per cent of Scotland's land is classed as less favoured. We are geographically less productive and therefore have historically received less support.

The change to area-based payments, as the cabinet secretary understandably hinted in his opening remarks, will inevitably have the broad effect of moving support payments up the hill. That presents the Government with a huge challenge: how to bring about the change without actually destroying the viability, possibly even the very existence of some agricultural businesses. In looking for the best answer to that question I cannot disagree with NFU Scotland's priority of focusing pillar 1 payments on active, productive farming businesses in a carefully targeted way that will minimise the flattening effect of these reforms. That points us towards having three distinct payment regions rather than two.

I am pleased that the Scottish Government can use up to 8 per cent of the Scottish CAP budget for coupled payment, which I strongly support. I will also take the argument for increasing that amount by having access to the whole of the UK's CAP budget ceiling for modulation to the UK Government, because I believe that we will probably need to go above that level of 8 per cent maximum if the necessary safeguards are to be put in place to sustain our hill farming sector without causing irreparable damage to the other sectors of agriculture.

It is also clear, as I think the cabinet secretary said, that there will be huge pressure on the pillar 2 budget, because yet again we will have the smallest pot of jam to spread over a much larger slice of bread from 2015. The reforms give the cabinet secretary the power to increase the amount that can be modulated from pillar 1 to pillar 2 from the current 4 per cent to 15 per cent, as Claire Baker has already mentioned, without match funding. I am sure that he will be sorely tempted and heavily lobbied to use that power.

Unlike Claire Baker—and I suspect that this is where I will lose some potential support for our amendment—I would urge him to resist that temptation because every percentage decrease in pillar 1 support will simply undermine what will be a very fragile agricultural sector that will struggle to come to terms with a very different support structure over the next few years. It deserves time to do so and, above all else, it surely needs to know what that structure is likely to be as soon as is humanly possible, to allow for effective forward planning.

I will argue for Scotland to have a greater share of the CAP resources within the UK and I accept the case for the external convergence uplift largely to come to Scotland. The cabinet secretary told the Rural Affairs, Climate Change and Environment Committee two weeks ago that this could amount to, I think, €60 million by 2019. I think he repeated that this afternoon. That is a considerable amount of money that would not come to the member state of the UK unless Scotland was in the position that it finds itself in.

There is a perfectly logical case to be made. I will do so using the language of persuasion and the arguments of logic. The cabinet secretary does not do his arguments any favour when he publicly accuses the UK Government, as he did at the Rural Affairs, Climate Change and Environment Committee two weeks ago, of stealing Scotland's money. The rhetoric might fit the referendum agenda, but it does not do Scottish agriculture any favours. The simple reality is that the CAP reform package is now firmly in the hands of the cabinet secretary. As the headline of last week's *Scottish Farmer* put it so succinctly:

"Over to you, ScotGov"

Indeed it is.

I move amendment S4M-07892.2 to leave out from "and welcomes" to end and insert:

", which was welcomed by the Scottish Government as a good deal for Scotland; welcomes the Scottish Government's success, alongside the UK Government, in negotiating provisions that meet Scotland's needs on new entrants, active farming and increased flexibilities; looks forward to the Scottish Government's future public consultations on implementing the new CAP in Scotland, and calls on the Scottish Government to negotiate responsibly with the UK Government to ensure the best possible outcome for rural Scotland and to inform Scotland's farmers and other rural stakeholders without undue delay how these reforms will be implemented across the country."

15:03

Tavish Scott (Shetland Islands) (LD): I draw members' attention to my declaration of interests.

I spent last Saturday—as many of us do at this time of the year—at my local mart, in Lerwick. I heard two clear messages there. There was a third, but it is not important for this debate. The first message was about prices. The cabinet secretary is all too well aware that there is concern, especially in the sheep sector, about what is happening to livestock prices. The second message, which is more important in the context of today's debate, was that the Government of the day, and politicians, not see the debate about the future of the CAP through the prism of independence, but through the prism of needs of Scotland's farmers and crofters. I make that point in the reasonable tone that the cabinet secretary adopted in his opening remarks.

It is surely in all our interests to follow that approach. I say so because since 2001 Scotland's sheep numbers have fallen by the thick end of 1 million. In 2012, 495 producers across Scotland came out of beef production-there are nearly 500 fewer beef herds in Scotland, out of some 7,000. For any of us, that is surely a worrying and significant trend, so the Government's admirable food and drink strategy-which I support and which I believe is a genuinely positive aspect of activity—is being Government undermined because the building bricks of food production are being eroded.

That is what the new CAP should be about. Do we want active, financially viable farmers, crofters and growers throughout Scotland? Most of us would answer that in the positive.

As other colleagues have done, I suggest that the Scottish Government needs to take action in some areas. I acknowledge that the cabinet secretary set out some of those in his opening speech. The first is that the consultation that we understand is to be published in December should acknowledge the timescale to which the minister is operating. If, as is usual Government practice, he adopts a three-month consultation period, it will not finish until March. However, as he said in his speech, the timescale for approval of the implementation regulations by the European Commission puts an immense amount of pressure on the Government to have everything in place for 1 January 2015.

As far as I can see, and as a lot of farmers have said to me, if the Government rightly consults on many of the issues, we will not necessarily need to spend as long as we normally do on everything else, especially as the cabinet secretary set out in his opening speech a clear direction of travel on some issues. However, he needs to consult on ensuring that all the options are available to the Government in making the right judgments about how the new area payments system will work.

Coupled beef support to assist suckler cow herds is certainly one of those options, but I do not share Claire Baker's concerns about the so-called Irish tunnel. The cabinet secretary should consult on that mechanism because of the really strong views about the transition that will take place over the coming six years from the current system to the new one. For some, a fast drop into a new world will, without a shadow of a doubt, mean 25 per cent to 50 per cent cuts in single farm payments. Therefore, a system that clearly has some favour in Europe and that understands the length of transition that is needed in order for farmers and crofters to adapt to the new system must have some merit in it. I hope and ask that, in his closing speech, the cabinet secretary will acknowledge that that is an option that Scottish agriculture might wish to follow and that, therefore, he will include it in his consultation when it is published later in the year.

The cabinet secretary also acknowledged that moving towards an average payment system based on area might hit some producers—notably, intensive livestock farmers—very hard indeed, and I agree with him. That supports the contention about the Irish tunnel model.

Another area that the consultation that the cabinet secretary is about to publish must surely consider is areas of natural constraint. He mentioned that in his opening speech and I hope that he will clarify the situation for us in his closing speech. My understanding is that the ANC model can be used to help areas such as agriculturally productive islands that face real pressure because of the changes. Orkney, Islay and Tiree are all obvious examples. It would be helpful for the agriculture industry if the cabinet secretary could clarify whether he envisages ANCs being part of the system and, therefore, whether he will ensure that that is in his consultation.

The third aspect concerns the level of the area payments per hectare. I highlighted the decline in livestock numbers throughout Scotland. Many farmers and crofters, including in my Shetland constituency, want a high rate per hectare. As the cabinet secretary pointed out, that has significant issues for others and it is understandable that that would be so.

How the cabinet secretary's two or three payment areas model fits into the assessment of how individual farmers and crofters will be affected is important. I encourage him—as we did in a debate some months ago—to publish modelling on that. I do not know where the Scottish Government's modelling has got to, but it would be helpful to the industry to understand what modelling has been done and whether, at this stage, it is able to identify the differences that must already be becoming apparent, were a two or three payment areas system to be followed.

I want to make two other points. First, I very much agree with Alex Fergusson's point on the balance between pillar 1 and pillar 2 spending. I hope that the cabinet secretary will clarify that in his closing remarks. I share the concern that were the heap of money to be moved across to pillar 2, then the budgetary pressures in pillar 1 in relation to what that would mean for farmers and crofters would be even more significant than they are already likely to be. I know that doing what Alex Fergusson suggested will not make the cabinet secretary any friends in the green nongovernmental organisations, but that is the kind of horrible balance that any minister must strike.

My final point is on the mapping penalty regime for individual farms, which I have of course mentioned many times to the cabinet secretary. He has reassured me in the past that the new CAP system will be fairer in that regard. I simply hope that that is the case. I encourage him to keep making the argument on that and to ensure that the Scottish Government, as the responsible Administration for the new CAP, insists to Brussels that we must have a fairer and more proportionate system that will help—or at least not be so unfair to—crofters and farmers, not just in my Shetland constituency but right across the country.

The Deputy Presiding Officer (Elaine Smith): We turn to the open debate. Can I have speeches of six minutes, please?

15:11

Rob Gibson (Caithness, Sutherland and Ross) (SNP): There have been some suggestions that we would be better not having a fragmented approach, but the motion and the amendments show that the fragmentation comes at the point at which we are told that we should not look at the potential for Scotland were we negotiating for ourselves. That is where the fragmentation line splits and three parties are against the Government. The budget deal that the UK Government negotiated failed to address Scotland's unacceptably low CAP funding. It is clear that Scotland's priorities are not Westminster's priorities, but Westminster's ministers represent us in Europe.

Alex Fergusson: Will Rob Gibson take a brief intervention?

Rob Gibson: I have hardly started, but I will.

Alex Fergusson: It is better to take interventions early.

If what Mr Gibson said about the budget deal is the case, why did the cabinet secretary describe the deal that came back from Brussels as a good deal for Scotland?

Rob Gibson: The cabinet secretary was talking about the bits that we got into the deal in relation to dealing with active farming, the Scottish clause and so on—that is a win in a limited field of opportunity. The UK Government did not fight for a better allocation of funding for pillar 1 and pillar 2 funds. Scotland has demanded an uplift in our rural development budgets; after all, we have the lowest budgets not just in the UK but in the whole of Europe. However, unlike how 16 other countries negotiated their deals, the UK failed to negotiate a special uplift or a fairer share for Scotland. That surely is a matter for deep concern across the Parliament.

To retain active agriculture and keep our land productive, maintain food production, safeguard our environment, remain competitive and maintain populations living in our rural communities, the settled view of Scotland is that we need on-going support from Europe. However the UK position is to end direct support for Scottish agriculture, in particular pillar 1 support. There is therefore a clash between the whole Scottish community and the way some parties in here wish to portray the motion. In order to reverse the decline in livestock numbers, to keep cattle and sheep on our hills, to protect our red meat supply chain and to produce for the domestic and export markets, Scotland wants the option of coupled support, but the UK position is that there should be no coupled support, so that is another fault line in the story.

Scotland is demanding that our cast-iron case for a fair share of the EU farming budget be recognised, but it has not been recognised in London. We receive the fourth-lowest level of payments in Europe, but the UK position is that the case has not been proved. Indeed, the UK is trying to invent other formulae to try to siphon away money that should be Scotland's. When the cabinet secretary talked about stealing money, he was alluding to the danger that came from the mouth of Owen Paterson, the UK Secretary of State for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs. He came to the Rural Affairs, Climate Change and Environment Committee on 12 June this year and said:

"I came in in September with a clear remit from the Prime Minister to grow the rural economy ... and to improve the environment".

If he is intent on doing that for Scotland's rural economy, he must prove that he is going to put in place the mechanisms that will allow us to grow it.

Mr Paterson also said:

"Working with ministers in the devolved Administrations, we have a huge role in helping to grow the farming and food production sector"

but how can we do that if there are no coupled payments and no proper supply of red meat? He said:

"I think that we have pretty much got an awful lot of what"

we

"wanted."

I totally disagree. We did not get what we wanted because we still have the lowest payments in Europe.

Mr Paterson also said,

"The days of significant public support leading to the production of unwanted food products are gone, and my whole drive throughout the reform is to keep the CAP moving in the right direction"—[Official Report, Rural Affairs, Climate Change and Environment Committee, 12 June 2013; c 2369-74.]—

In other words, it is moving downwards and certainly not in support of the development of our rural economy. At a time when people are lining up to get food from food banks, the secretary of state in London is talking about "unwanted food" production. Surely there is an appalling disconnect in that respect. After all, this country would like to be able to feed all its people.

As I have said, Owen Paterson opposes pillar 1 support and thinks that we should rely on the market. However, he fails to see that coupled payments for cattle are key to protecting our biodiversity because they keep cattle on the hills and the machair. As a result, we need a strong pillar 1 alongside pillar 2 aims for public good.

Mr Paterson also recently described global warming as positive. That is incredible, particularly as our biodiversity is hugely threatened by global warming. Indeed, on Monday, *The Guardian* reported his praise of the alleged positives that will come from global warming. As the secretary of state in charge of tackling climate change at UK level, he should be well aware of the deeply damaging impact climate change will have at home and abroad, not least when it comes to our farming.

Unfortunately, Owen Paterson's office has informed us that he will not be able to attend our committee as all his Wednesdays and Thursdays this side of Christmas are taken up. His diary is full. However, our demands remain unmet so I ask Parliament to support the motion, which gets to the heart of the matter and evolves a policy that can take Scotland's food and drink forward.

15:17

David Stewart (Highlands and Islands) (Lab): President Dwight Eisenhower famously said:

"Farming looks mighty easy when your plow is a pencil, and you're a thousand miles from the corn field."

It is of course tempting to draw a comparison with the architects of the new CAP. Just when we all get to grips with the four-axis model, the European Commission comes along and abolishes them. However, complexity and timescale do not negate importance. Although I welcome the final agreement on the new CAP, I share the frustration of many people not least some members who have spoken before me—that the policy has taken so long to agree and we are still months away from completion. In fairness, however, I welcome the cabinet secretary's £70 million allocation from his portfolio's draft budget to fund effectively the transition between the two programs, which will up to a point mitigate the uncertainly of EU delays.

As we know, the new CAP is crucial for farmers and rural communities. The agricultural sector's needs are in many ways critical to Scotland's future and it is essential that the SRDP be tailored to the reality of modern life in rural Scotland, with its rich diversity of individuals, enterprises and communities. The Scottish Agricultural College's "2012: Rural Scotland in Focus" report reflected that diversity and called for Government policies to be tailored to the wider reality of rural Scotland. In a similar vein, the Carnegie UK Trust report, "Future Directions in Rural Development", echoed views that were expressed by organisations such the Scottish Council for Voluntary as Organisations in calling for greater investment in capacity building and networking at community level.

As we have heard, the new SRDP has the potential to benefit not just the farming industry and Scotland's environment, but Scotland's rural communities. The toolkit contains community-led local development strategies such as LEADER and an extended and improved Scottish national rural network.

It is essential that when we address the CAP's complex technicalities—which many members, not least the cabinet secretary, have referred to—we do not lose sight of the vital dimension of its being intended to be a policy that benefits all who live in rural Scotland.

I will focus my remarks on the pillar 2 rural development programme, but it is perhaps worth pausing for a second to look back into history. As know, agricultural support-more we all specifically, support for farmers in the development of agricultural produce for the export market—was, arguably, an early driver for the treaty of Rome in 1957. As members also know, the powerful dynamic between France and Germany, which is reflected in foreign affairs and defence, demonstrates the strength of the relationship between those countries. That presents major challenges for us all in review, reform and renewal of the CAP.

One of the bigger questions this afternoon, which Rob Gibson touched on, is the question about why we need public support for agriculture. We know the international picture, which is of a crisis in global food prices and inflation that has led to food riots in nearly every continent apart from Europe. In addition, instability in the middle east has hit the price of oil and has affected transport and fertiliser costs. The key point is that security of supply is not just about the energy markets; it is a key element in the CAP as well.

We would probably need the foresight of the Brahan seer to predict exactly what the Scottish allocation of the CAP is going to be, but we know, as has been pointed out in the debate, that there has been an overall cut in the EU budget and in the overall CAP budget, of 11 per cent and 12 per cent in pillar 1 and pillar 2 respectively. However, Scotland can gain, due to the external convergence mechanism, which is an EU-wide device for boosting direct payments for the recipients of the lowest amounts. The new deal allows much more flexibility for member states to move funds from one pillar to another through modulation, as Alex Fergusson touched on. That will support much-needed rural development. Perhaps the cabinet secretary, in his winding-up speech-if he is paying attention-could say whether he plans to use the full 15 per cent voluntary modulation from pillar 1 to pillar 2.

Pillar 2 rural development programmes must be linked to the six key priorities, which include competitiveness, enhancing promoting ecosystems, developing social inclusion and reducing poverty. The new arrangements will allow much more flexibility in how money is spent by individual member states. Pillar 2 has a crucial role to play in supporting and developing the delivery of public goods and services by agriculture, although as a number of members have stated-not least the cabinet secretary-the UK receives the lowest share of all EU member states, and Scotland has the lowest share of the four countries in the UK. The new arrangements allow for sub-programmes in a future SRDP, which could help to fund vital programmes that will help with existing and new crofter schemes, particularly those for new entrants.

After a recent meeting that I had with the Crofting Commission, it is clear to me that there are growing concerns in crofting communities about how much real money will be allocated to the new crofters programme. Perhaps the cabinet secretary could give some assurances on that when he winds up.

I want a future rural development programme that encompasses strong environmental stewardship, that works actively to secure biodiversity and manage landscapes and habitats, and that stresses the needs of people in rural and remote areas. Rural development needs people's intelligence and individuality. The acid test will be how the CAP delivers for our most fragile and remote rural areas. **The Deputy Presiding Officer:** I call Angus MacDonald, to be followed by Graeme Dey. We have a small amount of time in hand for interventions.

15:23

Angus MacDonald (Falkirk East) (SNP): As we have heard from the cabinet secretary, the long-drawn-out saga of CAP reform is finally reaching a close, with a vote in the European Parliament in mid-November and, finally, adoption by the Council of the European Union at the end of November or in December. I am sure that every farmer and crofter in the land will breathe a sigh of relief when that happens.

Last week, *The Scottish Farmer* welcomed the CAP agreement on the finer details with the headline "Over to you, ScotGov", as Alex Fergusson has already mentioned. That is fair enough: it is indeed now up to the Scottish Government to get the best fit for Scotland's agricultural and rural needs. It is not fair, however, that the Scottish Government is having to do that with one hand tied behind its back. Despite the Scottish Government's success in negotiating provisions that meet Scotland's needs on new entrants, active farming and increased flexibilities, without a seat at the top table Scotland has lost out.

We fare badly in both pillars of CAP spending. In pillar 1, we receive \in 597 million a year, which equates to \in 130 per hectare, compared with the UK average of \in 229 and the EU average of \in 268. In comparison with all EU member states, we have the fourth-lowest pillar 1 payment per hectare, above only Estonia, Latvia and Romania. If Scotland was a member state in its own right, we would have qualified for increased pillar 1 payments worth \in 1 billion extra up to 2020, and we would have been able to negotiate improved pillar 2 rural funding.

In pillar 2, Scotland fares even worse. Scotland receives about \in 360 million over seven years, which is only \in 9 per hectare—the lowest rate in the whole of the EU. The rate is \in 15 per hectare for the UK and \in 115 per hectare for the EU.

We do not yet know what Scotland's share of the UK rural development budget will be for 2014 to 2020, but the UK allocation of \in 350 million in 2014 will fall to \in 306 million by 2020—only \in 20 per hectare in 2014, which is the worst rate in Europe. If that is the best that better together can do, you can keep it.

Claire Baker: Will the member take an intervention?

Angus MacDonald: Sorry. I have a lot to get into my six minutes.

Ireland gets €70 per hectare, Finland gets €138 and the Czech Republic gets €83.

With friends like the UK Government negotiating for us at the top table, members would be forgiven for wondering who needs enemies.

Of course, it gets worse. As we heard from UK environment secretary Owen Paterson when he appeared before our RACCE committee before the summer recess, there is little chance of our getting the full £60 million that the UK Government will receive as a result of CAP convergence, because of Scotland's figures in relation to the uplift in CAP funds. Of course, the UK Government will receive the money only because Scotland remains, for now, part of the UK.

Perhaps the cabinet secretary can give us good news on that front in his closing speech. However, given Owen Paterson's pronouncements in recent days, which ranged from welcoming the benefits of global warming to talking about ending direct support completely, I do not hold out much hope of that.

The UK Government is not only representing us poorly in Brussels but withholding funding that is rightly Scotland's. It has a track record on that, given its point-blank refusal to return the £1.4 million red meat levy that Scottish livestock producers pay annually in relation to stock that are killed south of the border.

It is clear that Scotland's priorities are not Westminster's. However, Westminster ministers negotiate on our behalf and have singularly failed to fight for a better allocation of funding in pillar 1 and pillar 2.

I do not want my speech to be a moanfest. On a more positive note, I was pleased to hear my colleague and RACCE committee convener, Rob Gibson, mention crofting. We must ensure that crofters' voices are heard when the finer details of support in Scotland are being decided. It is important that crofters are fully consulted on the detailed plans for pillars 1 and 2 when consultations with stakeholders take place later in the year.

In my speech in last year's debate on the CAP, I warned that Scotland's beef farmers were facing a challenge that could lead to a beef exodus. According to the most recent figures from Quality Meat Scotland, every suckler cow loses £130 per year before support payments are accounted for. If that continues, we will reach a stage at which no cows graze the hills and uplands and no calves come forward to supply lowland beef finishers. That will cut the supply of Scotch beef to consumers.

It is clear that the best way to ensure a viable future for suckler beef production is to channel

support into production of beef calves. That, with proper stocking rates, will maintain the upland environment and rural communities.

The problem is not just with suckler herds. If members travel around the outer Hebrides, they will see common grazings that are bereft of sheep, on hills where flocks of sheep would have been grazing 20 years ago. Tavish Scott talked about that.

The Scottish Crofting Federation, at its recent conference in Stornoway, considered how the CAP, including the SRDP, and developments such as community renewable energy projects, could help to revive the use of common grazings and realise their huge potential for crofting communities. Common grazings make up nearly 600,000 hectares of land under crofting tenure, but they have been underused and even abandoned in some areas.

That trend must be reversed. Grazing such land in a controlled way protects the land, increases biodiversity and keeps the land accessible. There is an opportunity to reverse the retreat from the hills through imaginative initiatives, and I look forward to the crofting communities and organisations putting forward ideas in the coming months.

I had other comments to make, but time is running out. The Scottish Government is doing what it can do, but it is clear that the Westminster Government could not care less about Scotland's farmers. Only with independence will Scotland have the powers that it needs to secure a fair deal for our Scottish farmers.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: There is a bit of extra time for members who want to take interventions.

15:29

Graeme Dey (Angus South) (SNP): I begin my speech by focusing on pillar 2 and how, from a greatly reduced funding pot, it will be made to work to deliver for rural Scotland. By rural Scotland, I do not just mean the farming sector, because there is more—much more—to rural Scotland than farming or indeed forestry, hugely important though both are. We are told that only about 17 per cent of people who live in rural Scotland make their living from farming, and 16 per cent from forestry. That means that up to two thirds of the rural population—at least, those who are in employment—may be engaged in activities that are not necessarily traditionally rural.

David Stewart: I strongly support the point that the member is making about rural development, but does he share my view that a maximum modulation of 15 per cent from pillar 1 to pillar 2 is something that we should be aiming for?

Graeme Dey: I think that there is a balance to be struck in that regard.

Within that figure will be people who commute to towns and cities to earn their living but, given the huge investment that is being made in delivering an acceptable standard of broadband to rural parts of our country, we must ensure that SRDP funding continues to encourage people to set up all sorts of businesses and helps to sustain existing businesses in a rural setting, thereby supporting local economies and reducing carbon dioxide emissions through lowering car miles.

Pillar 2 is there to support things such as LFASS and new entrants and much of it will go to the farming sector but, contrary to what some in agriculture seem to think, it is not exclusively for supporting farming. Pillar 1 is there exclusively to provide support for farming, but pillar 2 is there for a wide range of activities. However, perusing the latest edition of the NFUS's *Scottish Farming Leader*, I was struck by an article on the CAP that insisted that, if the Scottish Government was to transfer funds from pillar 1 to pillar 2, that should be matched and the combined sums channelled towards accessible and practical measures that underpin farming and crofting.

I entirely appreciate that the NFUS is going to fight its members' corner, but I cannot help but feel that those demands betray a belief that pillar 2 is—if not quite lock, stock and barrel, then not far off it—there for farmers to access. Actually, it is also there to support programmes such as LEADER and other lifeline funding for rural areas. The situation regarding transition arrangements for LEADER is concerning given that it gave out, I think, £12 million in the last financial year.

The nature of what the SRDP is for was reinforced in the Parliament building on Tuesday evening, when the cross-party group on rural policy received a briefing from Mike Mackenzie of the European Commission's directorate-general for agriculture and rural development, who works within the unit that deals with the fundamental principles and structures of the EU's rural development policy. He made it clear that the rural development policy from 2014 to 2020 must

"achieve a balanced territorial development of rural economies and communities including the creation and maintenance of employment"

and that included among the six Union priorities is

"economic development in rural areas".

I speak as an MSP for just such a rural area one where farming is hugely important, but one that has also seen vital support given to nonagricultural businesses. They include the prospering quarrying company whose £1.2 million new processing plant and offices I had the pleasure of opening. As the only source of quarried Angus sandstone, it employs about 20 full-timers and it is looking to develop a training programme. We also have a small architectural business that, with the help of grant aid from the SRDP, is building a brand new headquarters in a rural setting and aiming to double its workforce, keeping young, newly qualified architects in the rural communities that they come from.

The Scottish Government has spent the past 18 months consulting stakeholders on the next SRDP, and a second, more detailed consultation will follow. I welcome the cabinet secretary's confirmation in opening the debate that the SRDP has a wider role than simply supporting farming. However, it would be helpful if, in his closing remarks, he could shed some light on how he will seek to ensure that we continue to encourage and support non-farming and non-forestry businesses to locate or remain in rural settings.

There are so many important aspects of the CAP that each member who participates in the debate could choose just one or two to cover in their speech and a number of aspects would be left untouched, but we cannot get away from the fundamental issue of funding. Βv anv determination, the position in which Scotland finds itself is unacceptable. The facts are there. The funding situation and, in particular, the prospect of Scotland not receiving the full external convergence uplift that the UK received only because of Scotland—it would be worth about €11 million in 2014, rising to €60 million in 2019—are gross wrongs.

It is not only SNP members of the Rural Affairs, Climate Change and Environment Committee who have recognised the inherent unfairness that is at work here. Alex Fergusson reiterated his worries today. However, it seems that Mr Paterson is not listening. When he was in front of the committee, his message was essentially to tell Scotland that it would get what it was getting and it should concentrate on how it would spent that.

In winding up, I want to look over the horizon to the next CAP, because it is possible to look beyond 2020 and see what the future holds if we remain within the union—the union with England, that is. In considering the forthcoming CAP, one should not lose sight of what is coming down the track beyond that if Scotland remains in the UK and the UK remains in Europe. I recognise that I am speculating, but let us assume that the Conservatives, maybe propped up by the Lib Dems and maybe not, are still in power at Westminster. The Scottish Parliament, just a few months ago, was given a telling insight into what the future would hold for our agriculture sector when Owen Paterson appeared before the committee.

The secretary of state—let us give him credit for candour—was quite clear in his view on direct support for Scotland's farmers. If the UK remains part of Europe, he at the very least wants to reduce that support greatly, which would be seriously bad news for Scotland. Claire Baker suggested that any hiatus in direct payments would be problematic for Scotland's farmers. How damaging would removing them be when, as Alex Fergusson pointed out to Owen Paterson at the committee, pillar 1 spending is incredibly important to Scotland?

To be accurate, Mr Paterson believes that there is a role for continuing to compensate farmers for environmental benefit, and he has indicated that he would direct some of the money saved to research and marketing. Specifically, he is on record expressing the belief that a proportion of the money saved by slashing support to Scotland's farmers would be better deployed supporting England's wine industry, of which he is a fan. The truth is that slashing direct support would be hugely harmful to Scottish farming, although his honesty is welcome in the context of the independence debate.

In agriculture, as in so many other walks of life, the situation is evidence based and clear. Scotland's best interests are not served by remaining a part of the UK.

15:36

Jayne Baxter (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab): It does not seem so long ago that we were gathered here to discuss the common agricultural policy reform proposals, but it has in fact been more than six months since we last debated the matter. Then, as now, discussion around the detail of the CAP negotiations engaged all sides of the chamber, as we worked towards pinpointing the best outcomes for farmers and for the agricultural sector in Scotland.

As dry and technical as the common agricultural policy can be, it underpins a number of issues of fundamental importance to Scotland's future, namely the production and sustainability of our food and drink supply, the need to protect the environment for future generations, and the need to maximise the opportunities from all those things in the context of sustainable economic development and the climate change challenge.

Those points were put to me again last week by the Game and Wildlife Conservation Trust. The reality is that we need modern agriculture and increased productivity from our farms to meet the demands for feeding our population. However, without due care and attention, large-scale farming can lack the biodiversity that we need to support wildlife, water conservation and carbon storage, as the Game and Wildlife Conservation Trust has pointed out. The Parliament also considered such matters of biodiversity when we took time to discuss the consultation document "2020 Challenge for Scotland's Biodiversity" before the summer recess, so I hope that the same attention is paid to those issues as the Scottish Government begins to implement the finer points of the CAP agreement in future.

A few weeks ago, the Rural Affairs, Climate Change and Environment Committee took evidence from the Cabinet Secretary for Rural Affairs and the Environment, Richard Lochhead, on a number of issues, including CAP reform. In his opening evidence to the committee, the cabinet secretary was able to highlight some of the potential issues for farmers around the changes to pillar 1 payments, and he has revisited that topic today.

We are talking about reforms of complex subsidies, and the cabinet secretary has highlighted the concerns of farmers from the beef sector about the move from historical payments to area payments and the potential that they may miss out as a result of future changes. Conversely, however, such a move to area payments under the new process would seem to be good for farmers who have previously been sidelined from single farm payments, such as deer farmers. I know that members on all sides of the chamber have assiduously pursued the case for those farmers in the past.

Previously, we expressed concern that the changes to pillar 1 payments coming into force in 2015 would leave some farmers in limbo for the year in between, so it is good to have confirmation that 2014 will be a transitional year, before the changes come into play. The Labour amendment recognises the extremely tight timescale for the introduction of the new payment systems, especially for pillar 1, so it is important that the changes that will come into force are clearly explained to all in the farming communities and beyond, so that we know where we stand.

There will always be tensions between different sections of the same industry when competing for support or funding, but I recognise some of the concerns that have been raised by many bodies, including the National Sheep Association in Scotland, about the uncertainty of the changeover from single farm payments to area payments. I would be grateful if, in closing, the minister could address concerns from hill farmers about potentially huge disparities in payments between lowland arable farms, and hill farms and crofts, under the switch to area payments. I also look forward to seeing how the Scottish Government will support the new greening requirements being placed on farmers, which are such an integral part of the reforms, given that 30 per cent of the allocation under pillar 1 payments is to be spent on practices that support environmental improvements.

It is interesting, but not surprising, that all the amendments before us, although varying slightly in form and content, seek to revise the section of the motion that makes assumptions about the money that Scotland could have been able to qualify for, had it been an independent member state. We are of course used to the Scottish Government telling us that the grass will be greener on the other side of the independence referendum, but it seems an unnecessarily speculative detail in this debate as it is too dependent on the unresolved issue of what would happen to Scotland's EU membership postindependence. As I said back in March, it is difficult for farmers to receive direct payments from the European Commission when their Government is still negotiating their country's accession terms. I would prefer to fix our focus on the realities of the system that we are in.

I am pleased that we are in the final stages of the CAP discussions. As I said before, I hope that we are able, as the Labour amendment suggests, to approach the implementation of the new agreement fairly while maintaining a mature dialogue on this issue.

15:41

Nigel Don (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP): I will start by looking at the Scottish Government's objectives in the CAP process. As the cabinet secretary has already alluded to, those are to continue to support active and productive agriculture so that we can continue to produce food, which I think we would all sign up for, and to meet our environmental obligations, which I think we would also regard as the absolute minimum. The more we can do to improve our environment, surely the better things will be for all of us who live here and, in particular, for those who live in rural environments and those involved in tourism and the other industries that depend on it.

As the cabinet secretary has already alluded to, the negotiating stance has been to get flexibility, so that Scotland can provide a fairer distribution of the money that comes here, to end slipper farming, to allow new entrants to get money earlier and, as far as possible, to protect coupled support for livestock, for the reasons already given.

What would also have been nice would have been to negotiate a fair share of the European pot for Scotland. I want to tackle this head on, hopefully in terms that will not raise too many hackles. Early in the debate, Alex Fergusson rightly pointed out that we really should be talking about what we can do with flexibility and how we can use it wisely. I have no doubt that the cabinet secretary and his staff will endeavour to do so and I have no doubt that the consultation that they will be going through will enable them to get the view of those who are involved and that they will implement things as best they can.

What I would like to reflect on is the process that we have just been through and on what might have been slightly different. Of course the distribution of what we now have matters, but so does the total. The total amount of money that comes into the Scottish economy is, one way or another, money in the Scottish economy.

Let me go back to the political environment in which we are operating. As a region of the UK we have six MEPs. Were we an independent member state, such as Denmark, which is of comparable size, we might have 13 MEPs. Does that matter? Yes it does, because they would be on committees and they would be able to talk to people; they would actually exercise some influence, as MEPs do. We would be in a better place. As members are very well aware, we would of course have a seat at the council table and we would periodically have the opportunity to have the presidency, which means that we would be setting the agenda. It seems to me that that is very important.

Let me compare that with the United Kingdom's stated objectives. When the Rt Hon Owen Paterson MP came to talk to the Rural Affairs, Climate Change and Environment Committee he said, as well as the other things that have already been quoted, that his objectives were

"to grow the rural economy and to improve the environment".

That is exactly the same kind of idea that the Scottish Government has. We do not fall out at that point. As Graeme Dey and perhaps others have said, Owen Paterson is not so keen on pillar 1 direct payments.

On pillar 2 payments, Owen Paterson said:

"I am an enthusiast for the benefits that our pillar 2 schemes bring. I think that we can look the British taxpayer in the eye and say that we are bringing them environmental benefits that would not normally be provided through a market mechanism and which have real value."—[Official Report, Rural Affairs, Climate Change and Environment Committee, 12 June 2013; c 2639 and 2386.]

All of us—Tory or otherwise—can say aye to that. Even in Owen Paterson's economy, pillar 2 payments have a clear benefit. There is a clear benefit from money going into the rural economy.

Given that, why did Owen Paterson not join 16 other countries in getting an uplift of the pillar 2 payment? I do not know. In paragraph 72 of EUCO 37/13, which was produced in Brussels on 8 February, I find big nations among the 16 countries-the cabinet secretary referred to some of them and I will not name them all, although that is tempting. I find France negotiating €1 billion, Italy €1.5 billion and Spain €500 million. There is certainly no difficulty in being a big country when negotiating, but the UK appears not to have thought that it was a good idea to bring more money into the UK, never mind Scotland. That is astonishing. To echo Angus MacDonald, all I can say is that if that is the UK's approach, the faster we are independent, the better.

The point has been made that, as a member state, Scotland would—like any other member state—get an uplift to \in 196 per hectare in direct payments by 2020. We have heard that that would be worth about £1 billion over the period between 2015 and 2020. If we assume that my mathematics is half decent, that would be about £140 million per year.

I leave members with a statistic. Current figures suggest that about 68,000 people work in the Scottish agricultural sector—that is not the number of farms but the number of people. If I round that up to 70,000, and if the other figure is rounded to £140 million, elementary arithmetic tells me that that would be worth £2,000 for every person in the industry in Scotland every year. We do not seem to have got that money, but we should have had it.

Claire Baker and Jayne Baxter talked about uncertainties in relation to the European Union. I make the point to them that they and I are European citizens. That European citizenship will not go away because of constitutional change in the UK. It is clear that negotiation will have to go on, but we will not be new entrants to the European Union. That is a complete myth and the sooner people stop peddling it, the better.

15:47

Mike MacKenzie (Highlands and Islands) (SNP): I am glad to have the opportunity to speak in the debate, as farming remains a crucial part of the economy of the Highlands and Islands. In many of our most isolated and remote communities, farming is still the only mainstay of the economy.

Farming is important not just for economic reasons; in many ways, it has defined and shaped rural life and it is deeply embedded in our culture. Most importantly, our farmers have been the custodians of our landscape for thousands of years. They have shaped and maintained it for all of us to enjoy.

We have recently debated wild land in the Parliament. Interestingly, a few months ago, I asked Andrew Thin of Scottish Natural Heritage to tell me where the wild land is. Despite knowing the Highlands and Islands well, I am unaware of any land that has not been worked over in some way by the hand of man in the past 10,000 years or so. His reply suggested that what I suspected was correct: there is no wild land in Scotland. The vast majority of our land is fully tamed and in the care of our farmers.

I know a few isolated and desolate spots that are uncared for. They are inhospitable and desperate places of impenetrable undergrowth or impassable bogs that are virtually impossible to traverse. Anyone who knows much about our history will understand that we do not have to go far back to find a time when much more of our countryside was like that.

It is thanks only to our farmers that it has been tamed into something that now looks good on postcards and offers opportunities for recreation. Anyone who has doubts about that has only to consider the rampant and unfettered growth of trees and undergrowth along many of our rural roadsides that has sprung up in recent years. Across much of the Highlands, many of our best views and vistas are screened by this untrammelled growth, which is, ironically, much worse when tourists are about in summer and the undergrowth is in leaf. I see Mr McGrigor nodding; he knows exactly what I mean.

The one scenic railway journey from Glasgow to Oban predominantly offers views of the rampant growth of willows and birch. As sheep numbers decline, we have seen in some areas an explosion of bracken, which is a noxious weed that cannot be controlled unless there is an economic reason for doing so. That is what happens when land is not cared for, and it is part of what is threatened if our farmers are not supported.

The difficulty that our farming industry has faced in recent years is perhaps most accurately expressed by the high levels of suicide among our farmers. Few rural communities have not been touched by the dreadful spectre of suicide and all that it entails. There is no doubt that we need to support our farmers, and there is no doubt that farmers in Scotland face many challenges undreamt of by the UK Government that purports to represent them.

Thanks to the remarkable energy of the cabinet secretary, our farmers at least have a partial voice in Europe. Thanks to our cabinet secretary, we now have a very successful food and drink strategy that significantly adds value to our farmers' produce and to our rural economies. Thanks to our cabinet secretary, we now know that Scotland's farmers would be much better off if we were independent within Europe, with subsidies between 2015 and 2020 worth more than €1 billion more than if we continue as part of the UK. The supporting arithmetic for that calculation is straightforward and compelling.

We in Scotland understand our farming industry and what it requires to make it thrive so that our farmers can continue to play their part as the backbone of our rural economies and the custodians of our landscapes. That accords well with that self-evident principle that decisions are best taken by those who understand them and are closest to them, and that all decisions about Scotland are best taken here in this Parliament with proper representation in Europe and the full powers of independence.

15:53

Alison Johnstone (Lothian) (Green): Scotland gets a bad deal from the common agricultural policy. Many members have already expressed frustration at that and I share their concerns. It is patently unfair for Scotland to receive such low funds relative to others in Europe. Relative to others in the UK, we also receive less. Scotland's high percentage of rough grazing is part of the reason.

CAP subsidy is geared towards farms that already have the best chance of being profitable. If the CAP continues to reward those on the best land, Scotland will continue to lose out. Scotland, in contrast, is in an excellent position to argue that subsidies should be delivering profitable farms in tandem with the marginal and most biodiverse land. That is a big shift away from the argument for ever more direct payments and towards a CAP that delivers subsidy that is based on the public good.

I am pleased to say that the Scottish Government follows much of that argument. Areabased payments and the eradication of slipper farming are clearly sensible moves. The continuing modulation from pillar 1 to pillar 2 allows more targeted support and will deliver more public good for the public subsidy. At the European level, the principle has finally been established that pillar 1 subsidy should depend on outcomes that benefit the public good.

However, Green colleagues in Europe describe the reform as a massive missed opportunity that failed to deliver a fairer distribution of funds and does not deliver all that it might for the environment. Although 30 per cent of pillar 1 will be tied to greening, the measures are modest. They mean that most farms in Scotland will not have to do anything additional. It was important to ensure that a one-size-fits-all approach to greening did not hit Scotland's diverse sector, but biodiversity is in critical decline and CAP greening measures should be one tool to help reverse the trend.

Scotland will be allowed to use 8 per cent in coupled payments, but I agree with the Government that there should be scope to do more. Coupled payments could also be tied more closely to agri-environmental outcomes. The lack of a real cap on large payments means that funds will not be available to help smaller farms and new entrants. Despite receiving support, they will continue to find it hard to break through and make a success of new enterprises.

I mentioned Scotland's large percentage of rough grazing. I wanted to link back to that as I talk about crofting. There is no crofting in the region that I represent—Lothian—but colleagues in the Independent/Green group have asked me to speak on the issue. Crofting is extremely important to the Highlands, where it maintains the communities in our most remote areas.

The crofters' conference that was held in Stornoway last month highlighted the plight of common grazings-rough grazing land that extends to half a million hectares. Many people feel that common grazings are ignored by the CAP and that they are underused or are being abandoned in many areas because the support that is available to livestock producers is too small. It is important that more attention is paid to common grazings and to crofting in general. Managed grazing can promote biodiversity, maintain the peatlands and enhance the land's high nature value, as well as provide profitable high-quality livestock. The move to area-based payments is an opportunity to ensure that rough grazing, high nature-value farming and extensive livestock production are supported, because they are vulnerable but environmentally important.

A significant pillar 1 move to supporting farms on more marginal land leaves open an opportunity to use funds that have been allocated to least favoured areas to support more spending on agrienvironmental and organic measures. I urge the Government to look at that. I support Scottish Environment LINK in its calls for 50 per cent of the SRDP fund to be allocated to agri-environmental, organic and forestry schemes. A move in pillar 1 to more marginal land support would allow that happen.

Scotland has great potential to produce more diverse, local and organic food. While we continue—rightly—to campaign for improvements in CAP, we must continue to do all that we can under the current arrangement to encourage and increase such production, as the benefits that it brings to local communities and local economies are significant. I thank Scottish Environment LINK for its briefing and its calls to ensure that the move to regionalised payments improves the level of basic payment support to high nature-value farming and extensive livestock production, which are economically vulnerable but—as I have said extremely environmentally important; and to improve the prioritisation and targeting of the SRDP, with increased funding being allocated to advice.

The Parliament may not vote as one at decision time, but I am absolutely certain that we all recognise the need for a sustainable future to be provided for our rural communities, our worldrenowned countryside and our environment.

15:58

Clare Adamson (Central Scotland) (SNP): I was born in the decade of the inception of CAP, which brings to mind the old Benjamin Franklin quotation about there being nothing surer than death and taxes. Perhaps it should be, "There is nothing surer than death, taxes and calls for CAP reform." I suppose that we should put on record that we are thankful that an agreement on CAP reform was reached in June of this year.

However, the question that we should be asking is whether that agreement is the best that we can do for our farmers. Claire Baker was right to commend farmers. To continue the theme of my colleague Mike MacKenzie, I would like to talk about farmers and what they mean to us. Given that the debate is a technical one that relates to an extremely complicated piece of European policy that is full of pillar 1 and pillar 2 jargon, and which alludes to slipper farmers and sofa farmers, it would be easy to become detached from the issue.

Therefore, I want to talk about the humanity of farmers, which I have been reminded of twice this week. At a Scots Language Society event, I had the absolute pleasure of hearing a great young folk talent, Kirsty Law, singing one of her own compositions, in which she told the story of the horrendous impact that the winter had on hill farmers, shepherds and crofters. That took me back vividly to the heart-rending news reports of broken-hearted farmers and crofters who were losing their livestock. I fully concur with her message in that song that people like me who live and work in sanitised, centrally heated homes and offices can have no understanding of the hardship and rigour of farming life during weather extremes, floods and disasters.

Yesterday evening, I chaired a meeting of the cross-party group on accident prevention and safety awareness. During one of the excellent presentations on accident statistics, Alistair

McNab of the Health and Safety Executive highlighted the improving trends in work-related accidents and deaths, but reminded us that the agriculture sector still has the highest incidence of deaths and accidental injuries in Scotland. There are eight deaths per 100,000 workers in that industry, and the sector is proving to be the most difficult in which to deal with the issue. We must improve on that, and make substantial and measurable improvements.

That hides the fact that many children of farmers and farm workers live and work in those challenging environments. Those environments are their homes. All too often, we have heard of children's tragic accidents in farm environments. Farmers and their families pay a huge price for us every day of their lives, so we should hold our farmers who live and work in the sector in our hearts as we ask the question: is this the best we can do for our farmers?

In his Royal Highland Show address this year, the cabinet secretary said:

"To retain active agriculture, keep our land productive, maintain food production, safeguard our environment, remain competitive and maintain populations living in our rural communities, the settled view of Scotland is that we need ongoing support from Europe."

I absolutely agree with him on that, and it was really good to hear that his priorities of new entrants, stopping the decline, removing red tape from the process and reducing the number of slipper farmers have by and large been achieved in some of the pillar 1 areas.

I want to talk about coupled support, which is one of the partial successes. Coupled support will be at 8 per cent for member states with previously low coupled support. In his Royal Highland Show address, the cabinet secretary said:

"To reverse the decline in livestock numbers, keep cattle and sheep on our hills, protect our red meat supply chain, and to produce for the domestic and export markets, Scotland wants the option of coupled support."

We should welcome that partial success but, as Alison Johnstone said, it is simply not good enough.

Many of my colleagues have talked about the potential of independence and what it could mean if Scotland were a member state. Angus MacDonald listed how badly we have performed compared with some member states. Sixteen countries—Scotland not included—have managed to negotiate an uplift.

Research and development funding in Europe is structural funding. That is another area in respect of which we are constantly told that we are stronger in the UK, but where the UK leads at the moment, Scotland follows, by and large because of the Barnett formula. The UK spends 1.7 per

cent of its gross domestic product on research and development. Research and development are crucial in all the areas that Jayne Baxter mentioned. They are crucial in biodiversity, carbon capture and animal husbandry. We could go on and on about how important diversity and innovation are. The European target for research is 3 per cent of GDP. We are hugely underperforming in that area. We often compare ourselves with the Nordic countries, and Sweden spends 3.4 per cent of its GDP on research and development. This is not just a matter of what happens within CAP funding; it is about every area in Europe in which we are underperforming and in which we could do much better as an independent Scotland. Jayne Baxter was living in the real world.

I return to the cabinet secretary's Royal Highland Show address, in which he said:

"many businesses tell me that the biggest threat to our food and drink industry is indeed a forthcoming referendum—but not the one in 2014 but the UK's proposed referendum on EU membership in 2017."

I ask again: is this the best we can do for our farmers? I think not. Independence could do so much more.

16:05

Elaine Murray (Dumfriesshire) (Lab): Some people—nobody in the chamber, I imagine—might think that the CAP is of peripheral interest, but I was struck by the statistic that 77 per cent of the European Union landmass is defined as rural. Of that, 47 per cent is farmland and 30 per cent is forest, and half the European Union's population lives in those rural areas. The CAP may involve huge sums of money and, either directly or indirectly, it affects a large proportion of Europe's residents.

The European Parliament, commissioners and Council of Ministers announced agreement on reform of the CAP post 2013 on 26 June. According to the Commissioner for Agriculture and Rural Development at the time, the reformed CAP will

"make direct payments fairer and greener, strengthen the position of farmers within the food production chain and make the CAP more efficient and more transparent".

Let us hope that that is, indeed, the case. As members have mentioned, aspects of the reform are welcome. However, experience of the previous CAP and the common fisheries policy suggests that we will not be able to make a judgment until we see how it works in practice.

The two pillars of support—direct support and rural development—will remain, despite earlier suggestions that direct support should be discontinued. I think that everyone in the chamber welcomes that. By 2019, no single member state will receive less than 75 per cent of the EU average, and subsidies will be levelled by subsidising acreage farmed rather than production. As the cabinet secretary informed us, member states will be able to offer further help to small and medium-sized farms by allocating higher levels of subsidy to the first hectares of a holding. By 2019, no farm will receive less than 60 per cent of the EU average subsidy disbursed in a single administrative area.

Unlike the current system of subsidy, which is based on land area and past subsidy levels, the new income support regime will be available only to active farmers. We all think that that is a welcome development. The suggestion is that landowners who engage in other, specified, nonfarming activities should be excluded, but the problem with that is the potential for loopholes. I share the concerns that other members have expressed that that needs to be tightened up. We have also heard that measures can be taken to encourage young farmers to set up in business with a 25 per cent aid supplement for the first five years.

I welcome the fact that 30 per cent of direct payments will have to be linked to environmentally friendly farming practices such as crop diversification and the maintenance of permanent pasture. I also welcome the fact that 5 per cent increasing to 7 per cent—of land will have to be left fallow to encourage wildlife and biodiversity or be subject to measures that deliver similar environmental benefits.

As David Stewart and Graeme Dev have said, for many in Scotland's rural communities outwith those who are involved in active farming, the development and implementation of the Scotland rural development programme will probably have a greater impact, so that is what I will now focus on. Thirty per cent of the rural development programme will have to be allocated to agrienvironmental measures, which will have to set and meet higher environmental protection targets. However, as the cabinet secretary will be aware, at the Convention of Scottish Local Authorities convention on 28 June, it was agreed that local government should be allocated at least a third of the 2014 to 2020 EU funds in order that councils can better decide how those funds might be prioritised for the benefit of their rural communities. Some members may dismiss that as COSLA always asking for more money, but I think that a genuine case can be built around that argument.

The reasoning behind that request from COSLA is that a reduction in CAP direct payments will have a particular impact on rural areas. Local authorities believe that one of the best ways to

mitigate the effects of that reduction would be to ensure that the SRDP has sufficient flexibility to support economic and social programmes that are designed to address the needs and priorities of specific regions. In previous years, local communities have had limited access to rural and maritime programmes, which constitute 50 per cent of EU funding in Scotland. The current discussions offer an opportunity to reassess how spend could be reprofiled to address development and diversification needs and priorities in individual local authority areas and their rural and communities. Structural, rural coastal and maritime funds could complement one another in supporting activities in rural communities, such as community-led development, tackling deprivation, skills and training provision, and the provision of business support and other locally focused programmes.

For example, the EU specifies a 5 per cent minimum threshold for the LEADER initiative, but Governments can choose to allocate a higher percentage. I am told that €30 million of SRDP moneys that have not yet been allocated could be used to expand LEADER or to support rural business development through the business gateway.

Local authorities argue that, if too much EU funding is channelled through national agencies, the result will be uniform and inflexible arrangements that are unable to address the specific needs of different and diverse rural and communities. Devolution coastal to local authorities, COSLA argues, would deliver more tailored solutions, complement the community planning approach and accord with the Scottish Government's own approach to its partnership agreements with local authorities.

I understand that early meetings are to be sought between COSLA spokespeople and the relevant cabinet secretaries Mr Lochhead, Ms Sturgeon and Mr Swinney. Therefore, I would be grateful if the cabinet secretary or the minister—I do not know which of them will sum up today's debate—could advise whether any such meetings have been arranged to discuss the Scotland rural development programme.

Perhaps whoever is responding to the debate could also clarify what consideration is being given to a greater devolution of responsibility for administering the SRDP to local authority level. Obviously, any such change would need to happen within EU rules, but COSLA argues that its proposal would offer a more focused approach to addressing the differing needs of our rural and coastal communities. From Dumfries and Galloway to the north of Scotland, we have diverse rural communities with diverging needs. Local people could probably address those needs better than large national organisations or agencies, which may not reflect the needs of particular areas.

16:11

Roderick Campbell (North East Fife) (SNP): For those of us of a certain age, early debates about the common market were often bedevilled by discussions about the common agricultural policy and its inadequacies. The fact that the policy was designed to benefit poor peasant French farmers rather than efficient British farmers was a frequent claim, but we have not heard much about that in this afternoon's debate. Today, Eurosceptics on the right of politics seem primarily concerned with the threat to the City of London from financial regulation and from Frankfurt itself. However, in reality we all know that the CAP still swallows up a substantial part of the EU budget and remains an important issue in the European debate.

We know of the cabinet secretary's concern that, although he has had a reasonably high profile in fishing negotiations at European level, his position for agriculture has been significantly weaker. Giving evidence to the Rural Affairs, Climate Change and Environment Committee in June, Owen Paterson defended that position. With due respect to Mr Paterson, I think that I can do no better than to quote from the *Official Report* of the meeting. Mr Paterson said:

"Fishing is a bit different because the interests of all four parts of the UK are similar. In agriculture, all four parts are bit different.

Also, the agriculture issues are quite contentious. Without being brutal, the sheer physical circumstances of a bilateral mean that, when we are talking to the French or Germans in their languages, we do not have very long. There is not time to go into translation and I get more done by talking to them direct and then reporting back, as I do with Richard Lochhead. If he is there, we have a meeting back in the office of the United Kingdom permanent representation to the European Union and I will tell him what has happened.

All the ministers are very busy and there is not time to go into translations with some of them. We have to crack on, have a direct conversation with them and then come back. You must not underestimate the trouble to which I go to keep Richard Lochhead informed."—[Official Report, Rural Affairs, Climate Change and Environment Committee, 12 June 2013; c 2383.]

Those words say it all. The approach adopted is not so much active participation as—dare I say it—a slightly patronising approach to sharing information. There is certainly not active engagement with Scotland's cabinet secretary. I am aware that Owen Paterson was generally considered to have had a not unsuccessful time in his previous job as Secretary of State for Northern Ireland, but I am not sure that he has displayed that talent in dealing with Scotland in his current portfolio.

Alex Fergusson: If Owen Paterson was so neglectful of the needs of Scotland, why was he happy to negotiate 8 per cent for coupled payments, although he personally preferred not to have any coupled payments at all?

Roderick Campbell: I would not say that Owen Paterson was completely neglectful, but I was just highlighting the approach or style that he has adopted.

Agriculture remains of vital importance to Scotland, and changes to the CAP need to be properly addressed. Getting CAP reform right is important to the continued success of Scotland's food and drink industry.

Others have drawn attention to the substantial difference that independence would make to pillar 1 funding, but I want to look principally at pillar 2. Over the past seven years, Scotland has received approximately \in 360 million in rural development funding, which is about \in 9 per hectare per year as against \in 15 per hectare for the UK as a whole. We are right at the bottom of the European league, as others have suggested, and we receive much less than the Czech Republic, Denmark and Ireland.

I accept, of course, that there may be historical reasons for our position. When the first EU multiyear rural development programme was worked out for 2000 to 2006, national allocations of spending were based on what national Governments spent at the time. In the case of the UK that was very little, especially for agriculture environment schemes and rural development. It is also true that, in order not to impact on the UK rebate, the UK has traditionally been keen on voluntary modulation from pillar 1 to pillar 2.

Mr Paterson was keen to tell this Parliament in June that the figures were settled and that how they are carved up—including the geographical areas in which they are distributed—is a matter for the Scottish ministers, but, with all due respect, if the pot is not big enough in the first place some of these choices may prove not to be real choices. Given the extent of less-favoured areas in Scotland, how much flexibility is there in that choice? It is to our great disadvantage that the UK failed to negotiate a special uplift or fairer share for Scotland.

The negotiations on a transfer from pillar 2 to pillar 1, under which the UK may have the potential for a 25 per cent transfer, might have been a success for the UK—and I accept that Owen Paterson does not favour such transfers but it is hard to see that it is of benefit to Scotland; quite the reverse is the case. As Rob Gibson said, we know that 16 member states used the need for unanimous agreement to negotiate top-up funds for pillar 2. If it is good enough for Slovenia and Ireland, it is good enough for Scotland.

In respect of transition agreements, while I welcome the extension of agriculture environment contracts, the position on forestry payments and the extension of the less-favoured area support scheme, they do not detract from the big picture, which is that an independent Scotland could have done better. I am less than clear on where we are with the LEADER programme. I accept that the Scottish Government has an important role in negotiations and, like many members, I hear criticism of the bureaucracy of the programme, some of which may lie in Scotland. It does, however, represent a very small part of the overall budget for pillar 2 and should not detract from the overall argument that for Scotland's best interests to be served it should have its own seat at the top table.

Our opponents take great delight in talking of the uncertainties of independence—let alone the uncertainties of the in-out referendum by 2017 while failing to acknowledge the certainty that in this area an independent Scotland could do so much better.

16:17

Dennis Robertson (Aberdeenshire West) (SNP): I have a great deal of admiration for the cabinet secretary and for other members who understand the complexities of CAP.

I have great sympathy for our farmers and their families who probably went into farming to make a livelihood, not to understand the complexities and red tape that are foisted on them by CAP. Some of our wealthier farmers can probably employ accountants and farm managers to look after that side of the business, but many farmers simply have to come to terms with its outcomes. Our farming community wants to know what will be there for it at the end of the day, to ensure that it can continue to farm and to help production by our food and drink industry.

I am fortunate to be in quite a diverse constituency, within which there is a great deal of farming. I have heard farmers ask whether it is right that decisions are made in Europe in the small hours of the morning when probably the last thing on negotiators' minds is how to achieve the best outcomes for farmers rather than when they can get out of the room and to their beds. When in the future we consider the review of the CAP, we should perhaps think about how negotiations take place in Brussels and try to ensure that, when member states discuss the best way forward for our farming industry, they do so at a time that would be more productive for our farmers. I smiled somewhat when Rod Campbell read from the *Official Report* of Owen Paterson's evidence. I started to feel a little sorry for Mr Paterson because, although he was working so hard and was so busy, he managed to find just a little time in his schedule to inform—or was it to tell?—our cabinet secretary what was going on. I wonder whether, in that busy schedule, he found time to listen to what our cabinet secretary was asking for in terms of a fair deal for Scotland.

It appears that members present in the chamber are all supportive of a fairer deal for Scotland. If so, perhaps we should unite behind the cabinet secretary at decision time, because the only way that I can see for us and our farmers to get a fairer deal is for Scotland to be at the top table in Europe, making the decisions there and working with the other member states—not sitting outside the office of the UK secretary of state, waiting for him to return so that we can be informed of how the negotiations are going.

Our food and drink industry is extremely important to Scotland, but we must ensure that production continues and does so for the good of the people—I take that term from Alison Johnstone's comments earlier—not only in the farming industry but in the wider communities of Scotland.

It should also continue for the good of our countryside. We need to ensure that our farming is supported so that we can ensure that our countryside—our Scotland—is a better place to live in, that it has diversity and that we achieve our climate change targets. However, to do that, we must ensure that the appropriate supports are given to those who look after our land.

Mike MacKenzie gave a picture-postcard image of Scotland in its full ruggedness and scenic beauty. That is Scotland. We have what we have and our farmers make the best of what we have. Our sheep farmers ensure that we make the best of our rugged Scotland. We have our cattle, deer and crops. Our whisky industry thrives on the production of good crops in Scotland and our exports to the rest of the world bring money back into our economy.

We support a huge rural society. Our rural communities are dependent on good farming for the future, and the future of our farming is dependent on a good future for our nation.

I do not believe that we have a fair deal. The best has not been done with the CAP. I welcome Alex Fergusson's comments that he will do what he can to ensure that we get the appropriate uplift in the coupling. That is fantastic and I welcome it, but will Owen Paterson listen to Alex Fergusson when, at the end of the day, he is prepared only to tell our cabinet secretary the outcome from negotiations?

16:24

Tavish Scott: The external convergence fund has been a notable feature of the debate.

Not that long ago, the First Minister asked lain Gray, Annabel Goldie and me to join him in the delegation that he led down to the Ministry of Defence on the issue of jobs at Lossiemouth. That was a successful cross-party campaign that was led, rightly, by the Scottish Government. We made what I hoped was-and I think that it was subsequently discovered to be-a reasonably coherent cross-party case against a change that was going to be damaging to Scottish interests, particularly those in Mr Lochhead's constituency. Not only did we do that, but we all joined Mr Lochhead in his own patch to make the case in front of a football crowd at the stadium in Elgin. I do not regret doing any of that, which I thought was a good way in which the Parliament could work.

I make an offer of similar cross-party action to Mr Lochhead today on the issue of external convergence. I share the concerns of the cabinet secretary, Alex Fergusson and Claire Baker about what is happening on the issue. There is no question but that the minister's argument in relation to the funds coming to Scotland based on equal payment share is the right argument, and others have made it as well. If Mr Lochhead wants to construct a way in which we can all come together to support that argument and make the case to the UK Government, even to the minister who has been subject to some criticism during this debate, then I would certainly join him in that. If he thinks that doing that would help, he can take it from me and from—I suspect—my colleagues on the other front benches that we would be delighted to play a constructive role in making the right argument. I hope that he can take that in the spirit in which I intend it.

I accept that a debate on Scottish agriculture referendum Scottish just before а on independence is bound to feature references to independence. We had Rob Gibson's and Angus MacDonald's speeches to behold in that context. They certainly failed the test that I got at the Shetland marts last Saturday, which was to stop talking about independence and start talking about what we need out of CAP reform. However, so be it: if that is how colleagues in other parties, but particularly the nationalists, wish to conduct their affairs, that is of course their right.

All that I would say to Nigel Don on EU negotiations is that he is right that it is not a matter of whether Scotland could be independent and a

member of the European Union; it is about the terms of such membership. I agree with him on that point, which is the sensible and only way in which to look at that issue. I do not worry so much about agriculture and the rural economy, though; I worry a lot more about the fishing argument, because the Spanish would love a negotiation on fish with an independent Scotland. We can therefore agree on something at least, which is that it is about the terms of negotiation rather than whether there would be a negotiation.

On the EU budget, it is often the case that the nationalists attack the rest of us for lack of consistency on the budget. However, I say to Roderick Campbell and others that it is not consistent to go on and on about the budget when the nationalists have had three positions on the EU budget during the course of the past year: in here they voted for an increase; in Westminster they voted for a cut; and in Brussels their MEPs voted for a freeze. If they are going to make the consistency argument about the budget, they must do so having been consistent in their own voting record in the different Parliaments here, in London and in Brussels.

Angus MacDonald: It ill behoves the Liberal Democrats to suggest that MPs, MEPs and MSPs are not singing from the same hymn sheet, given the Lib Dems' track record on fishing issues in Europe.

Tavish Scott: I do not even begin to understand that one, but if it makes Mr MacDonald feel better, then so be it.

I will move on to some of the better arguments and more considered thoughts in this debate. David Stewart, Graeme Dey and others made very important arguments about SRDP. Frankly, I do not envy the cabinet secretary on this one, because any assessment of what budget movements from pillar 1 to pillar 2 will mean will make life incredibly difficult for active agricultural producers. On the other hand, as Graeme Dey eloquently described, there are good businesses in his constituency and, no doubt, right across our constituencies and regions that have benefited from SRDP funding.

All of us who have been involved in and around this industry for a long time know that direct moneys into farming bank accounts mean that the money is recycled into the local economy, whether through payments to suppliers, machinery shops, fertiliser providers or the local shop for the cornflakes for the kids. That is the way in which the rural economy genuinely moves; it is sustainable and is the case for both rural and island areas. Mr Lochhead has a frankly horrible dilemma in that context—I say that in a genuinely positive spirit—in trying to get it right.

The only other observation that I would make is that I guess the cabinet secretary has some choices around, for example, forestry, which I think Graeme Dey rightly mentioned. The Scottish Government has in a Scottish policy decision made a very big commitment to covering 25 per cent of productive Scottish land with trees by planting-I think-10,000 hectares a year for the next 10 years. I apologise if I have got those numbers wrong. That very big and significant financial commitment is coming from the SRDP budget, and my only observation is that it is for the cabinet secretary to decide whether the right priority is to meet what he has described as his climate change targets through that measure rather than through other routes.

Dennis Robertson: Does the member acknowledge that the cabinet secretary has negotiated with farmers that there will be no tree planting on any arable land and that trees will be planted on land that is designated as being best for that use?

Tavish Scott: That, too, is my understanding, but I am sure that Mr Robertson will agree that the target remains and that land will have to come from somewhere in order to meet it.

I will finish with a couple of minor points. Mike MacKenzie and Alison Johnstone made a very good point about crofting and scattalds; indeed, it was at the heart of my point about the million breeding sheep that we have lost from Scottish agriculture over the past decade, which, I hasten to add, happened not under one Government but under different Governments and different CAP regimes. The fact that I can walk a large chunk of the Shetland scattalds and see no active production at all suggests that some really fundamental questions have to be asked.

Finally, I do not believe that a one-size-fits-all policy for area payment rates or, indeed, the detail of what happens can be appropriate given Scotland's geography. The challenge for the cabinet secretary is to recognise that, in the Highland area for example, the Black Isle is very different from Wester Ross and that the system has to deal with that in some way.

16:31

Jamie McGrigor (Highlands and Islands) (Con): I refer members to my agricultural interests in the register of members' interests.

In an excellent speech, Alex Fergusson set out our approach to the reform package and I want to pick up on some of those themes and other themes that are of particular relevance to farmers and crofters—especially those in my Highlands and Islands region. In what I thought was also an excellent speech, Dennis Robertson talked about outcomes and people, and I agree that that is what the subject is all about. Crofters and farmers all over Scotland are holding their breath and crossing their fingers and, as a Highlands and Islands MSP, I must emphasise the need to regenerate hill farming in the remote areas. Lately, masses of jargon have emanated from Europe but—I am sad to say—one cannot feed cattle and sheep on it. More of the money should, as the EU intends, go uphill.

I note, however, that EU payments used to be called the hill livestock compensatory allowance, but the fact is that the current payments are dreadfully inadequate to tackling the fall in livestock numbers in the Highlands and Islands, which leads to a fall in the number of farming families and therefore to depopulation. An Argyll farming constituent pointed out to me that there used to be a solid week of cattle sales in Oban in October; now the sales take place on one day and are often over by early afternoon. The same is true of the sheep sector. Despite last year's improvement in prices, the sector is still very vulnerable because many people think that the job is just not worth the effort.

Although the subsidies seem to be very big, they get used up very quickly on repairing buildings, on maintaining fencing, on drainage and on fertilisers. Of course, they cannot be targeted because the monies would then be classed as production subsidies. Unlike in the late 1960s and 1970s, when farmers got a 90 per cent grant for drainage, 70 per cent for spreading lime on the hills and 50 per cent for fencing, a good mixed farm can take in £350 per acre while a Highland hill farm is lucky to take in £35.

In addition, the hill farm has to buy in most of its winter feed and usually has to outwinter its ewe lambs away from home, which costs at least £15 per head. Although expensive, it is necessary for quality stock in the future. Moreover, hill farmers with hefted breeding stocks are forced to keep their young breeding stock all year round for replacements; they cannot simply buy and sell them as a commodity. Therefore, I ask the minister to consider seriously the addition of ewe lambs for breeding stock to the number that is used to calculate stocking density, because they are, for a hill farm, just as much part of the picture as breeding ewes.

With the current desire for rural areas to support the public good, there is no doubt that a wellmanaged hill farm produces tremendous biodiversity and access to the public for walking and other sports and recreation—a point that Mike MacKenzie made exceptionally well.

When I started having an interest in farming in the Highlands in the late 1970s, the primary

industries of agriculture, forestry and fisheries provided very significant employment. Unfortunately, that is no longer the case. I would like that situation to be reversed and, apparently, that is the EU's intention; we are told that it is. Most family farms now no longer employ a shepherd or a cattleman, and most of the villages that were built for forestry workers no longer house them. More than 100 families were employed on Lochaweside, where I live, in connection with the Forestry Commission. That has gone. Despite the EU subsidies, employment in the primary industries of farming, forestry and fisheries has fallen.

I accept the reality of the move to an area-based system of direct payment, but I very much agree with the comments of the NFU Scotland that how Scotland is mapped will be crucial. The effects of the three-region and two-region models should be assessed. Accurate mapping is of particular importance to those who farm in our hills, glens and islands, where small areas of productive land must be captured by the mapping system in order to ensure that payments adequately reflect those areas. I am insistent that the system should deliver more money up the hill, where the seedcorn of the sheep industry is bred, and where agricultural employment should be much higher, as it used to be.

I am very much aware of the concerns of some producers in my region, including Orkney beef producers, those with breeding hill flocks and farmers of the more productive areas on islands including Islay, some of whom voiced their concerns to me when I met them last week. They fear that they will be losers in the new area-based system. Their anxieties should be addressed. If we have an area-based system, the move must not be so dramatic or fast as to throw current farming systems into chaos or insolvency. Farmers need time to adapt to the new system.

The option to couple payments in order to sustain vulnerable sectors will become an extremely important feature of the support. As the NFUS has suggested, targeting payments at active livestock units reduces the possible flattening of area payments. However, the area payments in the hills must be big enough to stop the current decline in livestock numbers; otherwise, the current depopulation, which is particularly evident in Argyll and Bute, will just continue.

On rural development funding, the challenge for the Government is to have a system that does not take so much money from pillar 1 that the whole farming sector is put at a competitive disadvantage compared with other nations. We are clear that LFASS must remain the first priority in the new SRDP. It should bring in new entrants who were excluded by the 2009 base year. I am told that the old LFASS will remain until 2017, before it becomes the ANC scheme. The payment is a sheet anchor for farmers in disadvantaged areas. Please let it remain so.

Other SRDP funds that are available must be channelled into rural development measures that are accessible and practical, and which underpin our crofters and farmers. Too many of them in the past have simply been put off applying by the complexity, labour or anticipated time that is required, or they believe that the options are not appropriate for smaller-scale producers. As my friend John Scott said recently at the cross-party group on rural policy, Scottish food and drink has never been more popular, but we need to keep producing the basic ingredients. Rob Gibson made that point very well. If we are going to take Scotland's food and drink forward, the sector must be sustainable.

Further consultations of stakeholders will take place this autumn. The point was made strongly to Government officials at last week's cross-party group—including by the NFUS's regional manager for Argyll and the islands, Lucy Sumsion—

The Deputy Presiding Officer (John Scott): You should be drawing to a close, please.

Jamie McGrigor: I am just finishing.

As was pointed out, stakeholders need early notice of such meetings so that views can be gathered and passed on to Government. As with the last—

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Many thanks.

16:39

Claudia Beamish (South Scotland) (Lab): I am taken aback by how much I agree with what my Conservative colleague has just said. What a surprise—but we are better together as well as Labour united, so there we go.

However complex the intricacies of CAP reform, we owe it to rural Scotland to grapple with them, and the debate has shown our determination to get it right. We need to find the right way forward for farmers of all types, with a sustainable approach that takes account of climate change, biodiversity and land stewardship. We need to find the right way forward, as Claire Baker said, in relation to the significant current debates about food, which range from local accessibility of affordable food to our proud record on exporting our produce. We need to get it right for our rural communities and businesses, and we need to get it right for urban Scotland, with rural dwellers ensuring that everyone is made welcome. As David Stewart said, the wait for EU agreement on CAP has been frustrating, but agreement has at last arrived. In a broad-ranging historical and geographical analysis, he put forward an argument for public support for agriculture that I commend to members. Mike MacKenzie talked about how farmers have been custodians of the landscape for thousands of years.

In recent months, much time has been spent on securing the best possible interim arrangements. That time could have been spent elsewhere. However, we are where we are, and the interim arrangements that we have been debating are essential. The Scottish Government's funding for support during the transition period is welcome. Will the cabinet secretary say whether any groups are still at risk during the transition?

After I had taken on the environment brief, I spoke in the debate on CAP reform in January 2012. I had taken soundings from friends who are Clydesdale farmers, in my region, about the modelling of the basic payment options. The matter was a cause for concern then for farmers on the Clyde valley floor, just a field away from hill farmers in the shadow of Tinto hill, Scotland's highest hill.

As Alex Fergusson said, there will be winners and losers. The stakeholder group and on-going consultations have moved the arguments on a long way, and we must achieve a coherent way forward. Whether the final choice is a model with two or three land types, it is essential that the budget is shared as fairly as possible.

Jayne Baxter acknowledged the positive move to include deer farmers, who have been sidelined in the past. She also highlighted the concerns of the National Sheep Association Scotland. Members talked about other sectors, and the arrangements must be fair to all. As Angus MacDonald said, we must also avoid a retreat from the hills. The fact that even Alison Johnstone, who is a Lothian MSP, talked about crofting, demonstrates the issue's significance for all members.

The comments from Nigel Miller, the president of NFUS, must be listened to with care as the modelling moves forward. In *The Scottish Farmer*, he said that

"Fine mapping will be vital",

and he went on to say, of the integrated administration and control system, that

"the IACS land use approach may be more robust and more finely tuned at farm level."

What happens at farm level will be essential.

Decisions on CAP spending should bring benefits to not just the farmers who receive funding in pillar 1, but the public in general. That could be achieved if we follow England's example, where the maximum modulation from pillar 1 to pillar 2 has been agreed. Benefits could be realised through measures to increase biodiversity, such as planting for bees, or through funding for landscape and heritage projects.

Alex Fergusson and Tavish Scott argued for less modulation. We disagree with them, although we agree that the process should be slow and carefully monitored. There will be further discussions before the significant decision is made. I hope that the cabinet secretary ensures that everyone is part of those discussions.

I think that the cabinet secretary said that the pillar 2 arrangements represent evolution more than they do revolution. Pillar 2 funding agreement at EU level enables us to move forward on the organisation of relevant schemes and enables support to be directed at strengthening development, not only in the agriculture sector but in the rural economy more generally, so that communities can flourish.

David Stewart put forward compelling evidence from academia and the voluntary sector, who have called on Government to tailor policies to the wider realities of rural Scotland. Graeme Dey, too, stressed the importance of such an approach. Elaine Murray talked about COSLA's call for up to a third of EU funds to be allocated to local authorities. That might seem to be an odd request, but the point was well made about the need for help with skills and training in our diverse rural and coastal communities throughout Scotland. I hope that the cabinet secretary will comment on the issue.

There are many calls for support from rural Scotland, and I wish the cabinet secretary well with the decisions to streamline and simplify the application process for the SRDP. I offer our help, where it would be useful, to ensure that the process embraces the aspirations for the future of rural Scotland. That said, it is slightly disappointing that the press release that the cabinet secretary issued today through the Scottish Government focuses almost exclusively on the agriculture sector, although I appreciate that the timescale is a factor. I hope that, in his closing speech, he will make some remarks about the SRDP as well.

On the issue of SRDP funding, I have been made aware of a number of applicants who are experiencing difficulties in applying for funding, with many having to seek professional help with filling out the forms, which are indeed complex. Will the cabinet secretary update us on how the application process will be simplified? Nigel Don stressed the importance of tourism. Lee Musson, who is the centre director of Rock UK in Newcastleton in my region, has highlighted how inflexible he found the application process. It may be that the system was designed for farmers and agriculture-type projects, but it is not well suited to rural development programmes for tourism in remote areas. The applicant whom I mentioned was applying for tracks and a bridge, and the application had to be done field by field, which was extremely difficult. That is just one example from my region; no doubt there are others.

I move on to environmental concerns and the broader aspects of the CAP in that regard. The decision to reform the CAP provides a great opportunity to move towards a more sustainable form of agriculture. Scottish Environment LINK, among others, contacted me to highlight the issues that I will raise. My contention is that there is not as much conflict as some see between the priorities and the future of Scottish farming. The blunt instrument of the greening of pillar 1 presented challenges for Scotland, but they have been resolved to some degree. We have worked together on them, through our committee and in other ways, to find a resolution relative to our climate and our farmland.

The Scottish Wildlife Trust has called for meaningful equivalence of greening measures that deliver environmental benefit and, as the cabinet secretary has stressed to Scottish Environment LINK, see

"all of Scotland's farmers behaving in a greener way."

There are many examples of good practice in Scottish farming. In the committee's recent roundtable discussion about behaviour change and climate change, we heard about the focus farms such as the organic Torr Farm in my region, which is owned by Ross Paton. That is one example, and there are many others. It is vital that such good practice is widely shared. I add that I was pleased to hear the cabinet secretary raise the issue of climate change.

Scottish Environment LINK has strongly advised that funding be put towards supporting an improved advisory service on environmental issues that covers pillar 1 cross-compliance as well as encouraging actions in pillar 2. Requests for support have also been made by farmers in relation to a range of aspects of farming, not least the form filling. Will the cabinet secretary tell us whether there will be further advice and support under the new arrangements?

The mature dialogue that our amendment calls for between the Scottish and UK Governments has, to be frank, been somewhat hampered by the disappointment that we will not see Owen Paterson again until next year. It would have been helpful if he could have come before our committee before then.

Alex Fergusson: Will the member take an intervention?

Claudia Beamish: I will if I have time.

Alex Fergusson: I understand the member's disappointment that Owen Paterson has not been able to find time in his diary to come in front of the Rural Affairs, Climate Change and Environment Committee and hear all the vitriol to which he has been subject in the chamber this afternoon. Does she accept and agree that it is good news that he is in Scotland today, meeting NFU Scotland and learning more about Scotland's desires and needs?

The Deputy Presiding Officer: Ms Beamish, you must close shortly, please.

Claudia Beamish: I certainly acknowledge that that is a step in the right direction, but at this important time, dialogue with our committee would have been helpful as well. I hope that he is visiting some of the crofting communities on his journey.

The Deputy Presiding Officer: You really should draw to a close, please.

Claudia Beamish: I will, Presiding Officer.

There is a strong case for the uplift to come here, and we in Scottish Labour will work with the cabinet secretary and other parties to try to achieve that. Within Scotland, it is vital that we all work together to ensure that we get the best deal for our farmers and our rural communities.

16:49

Richard Lochhead: I should probably start off by welcoming the many expressions of sympathy for the decisions that lie ahead of me over the next few months. I felt daunted before I came into the debate and now I feel an ever greater weight on my shoulders. However, I guess that those expressions of sympathy illustrate that members of all parties recognise that the issues that we are debating today—and I feel that we have debated them well—are important ones for the future of Scotland in many different sectors, particularly in our rural communities.

Starting out in the CAP reform process, I was always at pains to make it clear that we must do what we could to ensure that we have men and women in this country producing food for the nation, as well as looking after the environment and delivering other public benefits. That is a precious thing that we must hold on to as a country—men and women with the skills to produce food, especially in a world with a growing population and less land on which to grow food for that population. In the decades ahead, as a people and as a country, we will have to be more selfsufficient and more careful about food security, so these issues are important.

Clare Adamson, Mike MacKenzie, Jayne Baxter and others mentioned the importance of underpinning the economic contribution of our food and drink industry, because the raw materials that are produced by our farmers and crofters underpin that hugely successful industry, which, just a few weeks ago, during Scottish food and drink fortnight, celebrated achieving its growth targets six years early.

Another point that I have been at great pains to highlight over the past few months, as we have negotiated with the UK and other member states in the European Union, is that we have a distinctive agriculture sector with unique issues, challenges, opportunities and features, and that that is why we need the right policy coming through the CAP reform process for this country. Our climate, the fact that many of our farming communities and food producers are a great distance from their markets, and the diversity of industry-hills, lowlands, north, south, our mainland, islands and everything else in between-means that we have a challenging policy to implement. It is not a one-size-fits-all policy, but it must deal with that diverse agriculture sector. The fact that 85 per cent of land in Scotland has less favoured area status, compared with exactly the opposite situation south of the border, where it is only 15 per cent, also highlights why our case is unique for agriculture policy.

Liam McArthur: The cabinet secretary has pinpointed one of the concerns about the transfer from less favoured areas to areas of natural constraint and that is clearly a principle that he is signed up for. What is the likely coverage of areas of natural constraint, and does he share my belief that islands are clearly areas of natural constraint that will fall within the new scheme when it comes into force?

Richard Lochhead: I was going to come on to the need to give certainty to our farming communities and crofting communities as soon as possible. That is why it was important to put the transition arrangements in place for 2014, during which LFASS payments will continue. On the longterm future of LFASS, we have until 2018 before the designation of areas of natural constraint replaces the existing scheme. We are confident that we have got most of the details right for that, but there is still some time between now and when the new scheme comes into play.

For the transition period, which many members mentioned, we are putting in place arrangements for new entrants schemes, for woodland creation and for agri-environment schemes. Where we are unable to plug the gap is in capital expenditure, which is something that Claudia Beamish asked about. As we know, many capital projects in rural Scotland are funded through the SRDP in pillar 2, the rural development regulation, and unfortunately Europe would not listen to us and has not made it possible to have transition for capital projects, which is a pity for the rural economy, because there are many good projects.

Alex Fergusson: Given the amount that has been committed to the forestry sector for 2014 to ensure on-going plantings, is the cabinet secretary quite content that there will be enough left in the kitty to cover the agri-environmental schemes and other things that also need to be funded through the transition?

Richard Lochhead: I hope that there will be. We have clearly looked at the projected demand over the gap year and at what would have to be paid out in that financial year, so I hope that we will be able to deliver that.

As far as the need for certainty for our farming and crofting communities is concerned, we have to look at the big changes in the new CAP as compared with the CAP that we are moving from. The big change, of course, is moving from historical payments to area payments, and I hope that we are all united in the view that we cannot pay out payments in 2020 based on the level of activity that farmers were undertaking in 2002. That would be unjustifiable and untenable, especially at a time when new entrants are frozen out of getting support for their genuine activity.

I am very pleased that we have made the fundamental breakthrough that, from day 1 of the new CAP, new entrants will be on a level playing field. That is important for attracting new blood and new generations into agriculture and maintaining the food-producing capacity that I talked about. It is really important that we attract new blood into agriculture.

Of course, it is important to make sure that, under the new CAP, there are no slipper farmers—those who have exploited the loopholes in the current CAP to get large payments even though they are not conducting much genuine activity on their farms. Thankfully, under the new CAP we will make that history.

I hope that we all accept that the impact of agriculture on the environment has to be taken very seriously. That is why I welcome the commissioner's determination to make the new common agricultural policy greener than the existing policy. As many members alluded to and as I said in my opening speech, we are looking at how we can use the greening measures to make sure that every single farm in Scotland becomes that bit greener and hopefully cuts its carbon emissions to help us to achieve our climate change targets and to protect biodiversity, where we know that there are significant challenges that we have to address. Of course, the SRDP plays a big role in delivering such measures.

David Stewart: On the SRDP, when does the cabinet secretary expect to make a decision on the voluntary modulation between pillar 1 and pillar 2?

Richard Lochhead: As the member knows, we have to take that decision over the coming months—before the end of this year. I will be conducting a mini-consultation on that specific aspect, on which we have to take an early decision.

We have concerns about the pace of change from the existing system to the new system. Many members have spoken about the impact on the beef sector which, to a large extent, is the engine room of Scottish agriculture. That is about not just the beef producers on the ground—the farmers who produce fantastic, world-famous beef—but the thousands of processors, hauliers and people working at the marts. We have to protect those jobs. That is why I am giving close attention to the pace of change for beef producers, whose sector is the engine room of Scottish agriculture, as they move to the new payment regime. We have to pay close attention to that.

The budget has featured in just about every single speech in the debate. My job is going to be made 10 times harder because of the very poor and scandalous deal on the agriculture budget that the UK Government signed up to. I listened to the contributions from many members. I listened to Alex Fergusson and Jamie McGrigor, who both said that it is really important that we do not transfer money from pillar 1, which is the direct payments to farms on the ground, to pillar 2, which is the wider rural development regulation. They said that it is really important that we protect direct support under pillar 1. Meanwhile, their Conservative colleague in London who was negotiating on behalf of Scotland in Brussels wants to scrap pillar 1. That is sheer hypocrisy and double standards.

Alex Fergusson: Given that the UK Government has committed itself to pillar 1 until at least 2020, surely the cabinet secretary would admit that he is basically talking out of a hole in his head.

Richard Lochhead: I say to Alex Fergusson that I have had to sit opposite Mr Paterson in negotiation after negotiation in which he has argued to reduce pillar 1 direct support for Scottish agriculture and said that the free market will deliver all and that it is okay to have imported food or whatever. I understand from Mr Fergusson's speech that he totally disagrees with that. It is time for a universal declaration of independence by the Scottish Tory party.

Tavish Scott said that we should see the debate about the future of farming

"not ... through the prism of independence, but through the prism of"

what is best for farmers and crofters in Scotland. Quite frankly, I cannot do one without the other; they are absolutely tied together. The size of the budget that we get as a country will determine how we can deliver for our farmers and crofters throughout Scotland.

People on one side of the debate say that we should vote yes in the referendum next year and people on the other side say that we should vote no. I have been dealing with Owen Paterson, and his predecessors for that matter, for the past few years and I can say that they have been running their no campaign for quite a few years now. The no campaign from Westminster is not a new thing. I asked Owen Paterson to deliver support in Europe for Scottish agriculture-he said no. I asked him to ensure that the levy paid by Scottish producers that is currently lost south of the border comes back to Scotland-he said no. I asked him to give Scotland a fairer rural development budget because we get the lowest in the whole of Europe-it is not just a poor budget and not just less than our fair share; we get the worst rural development budget in the whole of Europe-and he said no.

Claudia Beamish: Will the cabinet secretary give way?

Richard Lochhead: I have taken enough interventions.

The Presiding Officer (Tricia Marwick): You need to wind up.

Richard Lochhead: During his negotiations, I asked Owen Paterson to please make the livestock sector a priority. He gave more time to talking about a sugar plant in London than to talking about Scotland's livestock sector at the negotiations, and he said no. The best way for Scotland's farmers and crofters to deal with all the "No, no, no" from Westminster is to say yes next September.

Decision Time

17:00

The Presiding Officer (Tricia Marwick): There are four questions to be put as a result of today's business. I remind members that, if the amendment in the name of Claire Baker is agreed to, the amendments in the names of Alex Fergusson and Tavish Scott will fall.

The first question is, that amendment S4M-07892.3, in the name of Claire Baker, which seeks to amend motion S4M-07892, in the name of Richard Lochhead, on the common agricultural policy, be agreed to. Are we agreed?

Members: No.

The Presiding Officer: There will be a division.

For

Baillie, Jackie (Dumbarton) (Lab) Baker, Claire (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab) Baxter, Jayne (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab) Beamish, Claudia (South Scotland) (Lab) Bibby, Neil (West Scotland) (Lab) Boyack, Sarah (Lothian) (Lab) Dugdale, Kezia (Lothian) (Lab) Eadie, Helen (Cowdenbeath) (Lab) Fee, Mary (West Scotland) (Lab) Findlay, Neil (Lothian) (Lab) Grant, Rhoda (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Gray, Iain (East Lothian) (Lab) Griffin, Mark (Central Scotland) (Lab) Hume, Jim (South Scotland) (LD) Lamont, Johann (Glasgow Pollok) (Lab) Macdonald, Lewis (North East Scotland) (Lab) Malik, Hanzala (Glasgow) (Lab) Martin, Paul (Glasgow Provan) (Lab) McArthur, Liam (Orkney Islands) (LD) McCulloch, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Lab) McDougall, Margaret (West Scotland) (Lab) McInnes, Alison (North East Scotland) (LD) McMahon, Siobhan (Central Scotland) (Lab) McTaggart, Anne (Glasgow) (Lab) Murray, Elaine (Dumfriesshire) (Lab) Pearson, Graeme (South Scotland) (Lab) Pentland, John (Motherwell and Wishaw) (Lab) Rennie, Willie (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD) Scott, Tavish (Shetland Islands) (LD) Smith, Drew (Glasgow) (Lab) Smith, Elaine (Coatbridge and Chryston) (Lab) Stewart, David (Highlands and Islands) (Lab)

Against

Adam, George (Paisley) (SNP) Adamson, Clare (Central Scotland) (SNP) Allan, Dr Alasdair (Na h-Eileanan an Iar) (SNP) Allard, Christian (North East Scotland) (SNP) Beattie, Colin (Midlothian North and Musselburgh) (SNP) Brodie, Chic (South Scotland) (SNP) Brown, Keith (Clackmannanshire and Dunblane) (SNP) Burgess, Margaret (Cunninghame South) (SNP) Campbell, Aileen (Clydesdale) (SNP) Campbell, Roderick (North East Fife) (SNP) Coffey, Willie (Kilmarnock and Irvine Valley) (SNP) Constance, Angela (Almond Valley) (SNP) Crawford, Bruce (Stirling) (SNP)

Cunningham, Roseanna (Perthshire South and Kinrossshire) (SNP) Dey, Graeme (Angus South) (SNP) Don, Nigel (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP) Doris, Bob (Glasgow) (SNP) Dornan, James (Glasgow Cathcart) (SNP) Eadie, Jim (Edinburgh Southern) (SNP) Ewing, Annabelle (Mid Scotland and Fife) (SNP) Ewing, Fergus (Inverness and Nairn) (SNP) Finnie, John (Highlands and Islands) (Ind) FitzPatrick, Joe (Dundee City West) (SNP) Gibson, Kenneth (Cunninghame North) (SNP) Gibson, Rob (Caithness, Sutherland and Ross) (SNP) Grahame, Christine (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and Lauderdale) (SNP) Harvie, Patrick (Glasgow) (Green) Hepburn, Jamie (Cumbernauld and Kilsyth) (SNP) Hyslop, Fiona (Linlithgow) (SNP) Ingram, Adam (Carrick, Cumnock and Doon Valley) (SNP) Johnstone, Alison (Lothian) (Green) Keir, Colin (Edinburgh Western) (SNP) Kidd, Bill (Glasgow Anniesland) (SNP) Lochhead, Richard (Moray) (SNP) MacAskill, Kenny (Edinburgh Eastern) (SNP) MacDonald, Angus (Falkirk East) (SNP) MacDonald, Gordon (Edinburgh Pentlands) (SNP) Mackay, Derek (Renfrewshire North and West) (SNP) MacKenzie, Mike (Highlands and Islands) (SNP) Mason, John (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP) Matheson, Michael (Falkirk West) (SNP) Maxwell, Stewart (West Scotland) (SNP) McAlpine, Joan (South Scotland) (SNP) McDonald, Mark (Aberdeen Donside) (SNP) McKelvie, Christina (Hamilton, Larkhall and Stonehouse) (SNP) McLeod, Aileen (South Scotland) (SNP) McMillan, Stuart (West Scotland) (SNP) Neil, Alex (Airdrie and Shotts) (SNP) Robertson, Dennis (Aberdeenshire West) (SNP) Robison, Shona (Dundee City East) (SNP) Russell, Michael (Argyll and Bute) (SNP) Salmond, Alex (Aberdeenshire East) (SNP) Stevenson, Stewart (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP) Sturgeon, Nicola (Glasgow Southside) (SNP) Swinney, John (Perthshire North) (SNP) Torrance, David (Kirkcaldy) (SNP) Watt, Maureen (Aberdeen South and North Kincardine) (SNP) Wheelhouse, Paul (South Scotland) (SNP) White, Sandra (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP) Wilson, John (Central Scotland) (SNP) Yousaf, Humza (Glasgow) (SNP) Abstentions

Abstentions Brown, Gavin (Lothian) (Con) Buchanan, Cameron (Lothian) (Con) Carlaw, Jackson (West Scotland) (Con) Davidson, Ruth (Glasgow) (Con) Fergusson, Alex (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con) Fraser, Murdo (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Goldie, Annabel (West Scotland) (Con) Johnstone, Alex (North East Scotland) (Con) McGrigor, Jamie (Highlands and Islands) (Con) Milne, Nanette (North East Scotland) (Con) Mitchell, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Con)

Scanlon, Mary (Highlands and Islands) (Con)

Scott, John (Ayr) (Con)

Smith, Liz (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) **The Presiding Officer:** The result of the division is: For 32, Against 61, Abstentions 14.

Amendment disagreed to.

The Presiding Officer: I remind members that, if the amendment in the name of Alex Fergusson is agreed to, the amendment in the name of Tavish Scott will fall.

The next question is, that amendment S4M-07892.2, in the name of Alex Fergusson, which seeks to amend motion S4M-07892, in the name of Richard Lochhead, on the common agricultural policy, be agreed to. Are we agreed?

Members: No.

The Presiding Officer: There will be a division.

For

Brown, Gavin (Lothian) (Con) Buchanan, Cameron (Lothian) (Con) Carlaw, Jackson (West Scotland) (Con) Davidson, Ruth (Glasgow) (Con) Fergusson, Alex (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con) Fraser, Murdo (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Goldie, Annabel (West Scotland) (Con) Hume, Jim (South Scotland) (LD) Johnstone, Alex (North East Scotland) (Con) McArthur, Liam (Orkney Islands) (LD) McGrigor, Jamie (Highlands and Islands) (Con) McInnes, Alison (North East Scotland) (LD) Milne, Nanette (North East Scotland) (Con) Mitchell, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Con) Rennie, Willie (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD) Scanlon, Mary (Highlands and Islands) (Con) Scott, John (Ayr) (Con) Scott, Tavish (Shetland Islands) (LD) Smith, Liz (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con)

Against

Adam, George (Paisley) (SNP) Adamson, Clare (Central Scotland) (SNP) Allan, Dr Alasdair (Na h-Eileanan an Iar) (SNP) Allard, Christian (North East Scotland) (SNP) Beattie, Colin (Midlothian North and Musselburgh) (SNP) Brodie, Chic (South Scotland) (SNP) Brown, Keith (Clackmannanshire and Dunblane) (SNP) Burgess, Margaret (Cunninghame South) (SNP) Campbell, Aileen (Clydesdale) (SNP) Campbell, Roderick (North East Fife) (SNP) Coffey, Willie (Kilmarnock and Irvine Valley) (SNP) Constance, Angela (Almond Valley) (SNP) Crawford, Bruce (Stirling) (SNP) Cunningham, Roseanna (Perthshire South and Kinrossshire) (SNP) Dey, Graeme (Angus South) (SNP) Don, Nigel (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP) Doris, Bob (Glasgow) (SNP) Dornan, James (Glasgow Cathcart) (SNP) Eadie, Jim (Edinburgh Southern) (SNP) Ewing, Annabelle (Mid Scotland and Fife) (SNP) Ewing, Fergus (Inverness and Nairn) (SNP) Finnie, John (Highlands and Islands) (Ind) FitzPatrick, Joe (Dundee City West) (SNP) Gibson, Kenneth (Cunninghame North) (SNP) Gibson, Rob (Caithness, Sutherland and Ross) (SNP) Grahame, Christine (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and Lauderdale) (SNP) Harvie, Patrick (Glasgow) (Green) Hepburn, Jamie (Cumbernauld and Kilsyth) (SNP) Hyslop, Fiona (Linlithgow) (SNP) Ingram, Adam (Carrick, Cumnock and Doon Valley) (SNP) Johnstone, Alison (Lothian) (Green)

Keir, Colin (Edinburgh Western) (SNP) Kidd, Bill (Glasgow Anniesland) (SNP) Lochhead, Richard (Moray) (SNP) MacAskill, Kenny (Edinburgh Eastern) (SNP) MacDonald, Angus (Falkirk East) (SNP) MacDonald, Gordon (Edinburgh Pentlands) (SNP) Mackay, Derek (Renfrewshire North and West) (SNP) MacKenzie, Mike (Highlands and Islands) (SNP) Mason, John (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP) Matheson, Michael (Falkirk West) (SNP) Maxwell, Stewart (West Scotland) (SNP) McAlpine, Joan (South Scotland) (SNP) McDonald, Mark (Aberdeen Donside) (SNP) McKelvie, Christina (Hamilton, Larkhall and Stonehouse) (SNP) McLeod, Aileen (South Scotland) (SNP) McMillan, Stuart (West Scotland) (SNP) Neil, Alex (Airdrie and Shotts) (SNP) Robertson, Dennis (Aberdeenshire West) (SNP) Robison, Shona (Dundee City East) (SNP) Russell, Michael (Argyll and Bute) (SNP) Salmond, Alex (Aberdeenshire East) (SNP) Stevenson, Stewart (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP) Sturgeon, Nicola (Glasgow Southside) (SNP) Swinney, John (Perthshire North) (SNP) Torrance, David (Kirkcaldy) (SNP) Watt, Maureen (Aberdeen South and North Kincardine) (SNP) Wheelhouse, Paul (South Scotland) (SNP) White, Sandra (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP) Wilson, John (Central Scotland) (SNP) Yousaf, Humza (Glasgow) (SNP)

Abstentions

Baillie, Jackie (Dumbarton) (Lab) Baker, Claire (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab) Baxter, Jayne (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab) Beamish, Claudia (South Scotland) (Lab) Bibby, Neil (West Scotland) (Lab) Boyack, Sarah (Lothian) (Lab) Dugdale, Kezia (Lothian) (Lab) Eadie, Helen (Cowdenbeath) (Lab) Fee, Mary (West Scotland) (Lab) Findlay, Neil (Lothian) (Lab) Grant, Rhoda (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Gray, Iain (East Lothian) (Lab) Griffin, Mark (Central Scotland) (Lab) Lamont, Johann (Glasgow Pollok) (Lab) Macdonald, Lewis (North East Scotland) (Lab) Malik, Hanzala (Glasgow) (Lab) Martin, Paul (Glasgow Provan) (Lab) McCulloch, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Lab) McDougall, Margaret (West Scotland) (Lab) McMahon, Siobhan (Central Scotland) (Lab) McTaggart, Anne (Glasgow) (Lab) Murray, Elaine (Dumfriesshire) (Lab) Pearson, Graeme (South Scotland) (Lab) Pentland, John (Motherwell and Wishaw) (Lab) Smith, Drew (Glasgow) (Lab) Smith, Elaine (Coatbridge and Chryston) (Lab) Stewart, David (Highlands and Islands) (Lab)

The Presiding Officer: The result of the division is: For 19, Against 61, Abstentions 27.

Amendment disagreed to.

The Presiding Officer: The next question is, that amendment S4M-07892.1, in the name of Tavish Scott, which seeks to amend motion S4M-07892, in the name of Richard Lochhead, on the

common agricultural policy, be agreed to. Are we agreed?

Members: No.

The Presiding Officer: There will be a division.

For

Brown, Gavin (Lothian) (Con) Buchanan, Cameron (Lothian) (Con) Carlaw, Jackson (West Scotland) (Con) Davidson, Ruth (Glasgow) (Con) Fergusson, Alex (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con) Fraser, Murdo (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Goldie, Annabel (West Scotland) (Con) Hume, Jim (South Scotland) (LD) Johnstone, Alex (North East Scotland) (Con) McArthur, Liam (Orkney Islands) (LD) McGrigor, Jamie (Highlands and Islands) (Con) McInnes, Alison (North East Scotland) (LD) Milne, Nanette (North East Scotland) (Con) Mitchell, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Con) Rennie, Willie (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD) Scanlon, Mary (Highlands and Islands) (Con) Scott, John (Ayr) (Con) Scott, Tavish (Shetland Islands) (LD) Smith, Liz (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con)

Against

Adam, George (Paisley) (SNP) Adamson, Clare (Central Scotland) (SNP) Allan, Dr Alasdair (Na h-Eileanan an Iar) (SNP) Allard, Christian (North East Scotland) (SNP) Beattie, Colin (Midlothian North and Musselburgh) (SNP) Brodie, Chic (South Scotland) (SNP) Brown, Keith (Clackmannanshire and Dunblane) (SNP) Burgess, Margaret (Cunninghame South) (SNP) Campbell, Aileen (Clydesdale) (SNP) Campbell, Roderick (North East Fife) (SNP) Coffey, Willie (Kilmarnock and Irvine Valley) (SNP) Constance, Angela (Almond Valley) (SNP) Crawford, Bruce (Stirling) (SNP) Cunningham, Roseanna (Perthshire South and Kinrossshire) (SNP) Dey, Graeme (Angus South) (SNP) Don, Nigel (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP) Doris, Bob (Glasgow) (SNP) Dornan, James (Glasgow Cathcart) (SNP) Eadie, Jim (Edinburgh Southern) (SNP) Ewing, Annabelle (Mid Scotland and Fife) (SNP) Ewing, Fergus (Inverness and Nairn) (SNP) Finnie, John (Highlands and Islands) (Ind) FitzPatrick, Joe (Dundee City West) (SNP) Gibson, Kenneth (Cunninghame North) (SNP) Gibson, Rob (Caithness, Sutherland and Ross) (SNP) Grahame, Christine (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and Lauderdale) (SNP) Harvie, Patrick (Glasgow) (Green) Hepburn, Jamie (Cumbernauld and Kilsyth) (SNP) Hyslop, Fiona (Linlithgow) (SNP) Ingram, Adam (Carrick, Cumnock and Doon Valley) (SNP) Johnstone, Alison (Lothian) (Green) Keir, Colin (Edinburgh Western) (SNP) Kidd, Bill (Glasgow Anniesland) (SNP) Lochhead, Richard (Moray) (SNP) MacAskill, Kenny (Edinburgh Eastern) (SNP) MacDonald, Angus (Falkirk East) (SNP) MacDonald, Gordon (Edinburgh Pentlands) (SNP) Macdonald, Lewis (North East Scotland) (Lab) Mackay, Derek (Renfrewshire North and West) (SNP) MacKenzie, Mike (Highlands and Islands) (SNP) Mason, John (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP)

Matheson, Michael (Falkirk West) (SNP) Maxwell, Stewart (West Scotland) (SNP) McAlpine, Joan (South Scotland) (SNP) McDonald, Mark (Aberdeen Donside) (SNP) McKelvie, Christina (Hamilton, Larkhall and Stonehouse) (SNP) McLeod, Aileen (South Scotland) (SNP) McMillan, Stuart (West Scotland) (SNP) Neil, Alex (Airdrie and Shotts) (SNP) Robertson, Dennis (Aberdeenshire West) (SNP) Robison, Shona (Dundee City East) (SNP) Russell, Michael (Argyll and Bute) (SNP) Salmond, Alex (Aberdeenshire East) (SNP) Stevenson, Stewart (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP) Sturgeon, Nicola (Glasgow Southside) (SNP) Swinney, John (Perthshire North) (SNP) Torrance, David (Kirkcaldy) (SNP) Watt, Maureen (Aberdeen South and North Kincardine) (SNP) Wheelhouse, Paul (South Scotland) (SNP) White, Sandra (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP) Wilson, John (Central Scotland) (SNP) Yousaf, Humza (Glasgow) (SNP)

Abstentions

Baillie, Jackie (Dumbarton) (Lab) Baker, Claire (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab) Baxter, Jayne (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab) Beamish, Claudia (South Scotland) (Lab) Bibby, Neil (West Scotland) (Lab) Boyack, Sarah (Lothian) (Lab) Dugdale, Kezia (Lothian) (Lab) Eadie, Helen (Cowdenbeath) (Lab) Fee, Mary (West Scotland) (Lab) Findlay, Neil (Lothian) (Lab) Grant, Rhoda (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Gray, Iain (East Lothian) (Lab) Griffin, Mark (Central Scotland) (Lab) Lamont, Johann (Glasgow Pollok) (Lab) Malik, Hanzala (Glasgow) (Lab) Martin, Paul (Glasgow Provan) (Lab) McCulloch, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Lab) McDougall, Margaret (West Scotland) (Lab) McMahon, Siobhan (Central Scotland) (Lab) McTaggart, Anne (Glasgow) (Lab) Murray, Elaine (Dumfriesshire) (Lab) Pearson, Graeme (South Scotland) (Lab) Pentland, John (Motherwell and Wishaw) (Lab) Smith, Drew (Glasgow) (Lab) Smith, Elaine (Coatbridge and Chryston) (Lab) Stewart, David (Highlands and Islands) (Lab)

The Presiding Officer: The result of the division is: For 19, Against 62, Abstentions 26.

Amendment disagreed to.

The Presiding Officer: The next question is, that motion S4M-07892, in the name of Richard Lochhead, on the common agricultural policy, be agreed to. Are we agreed?

Members: No.

The Presiding Officer: There will be a division.

For Adam, George (Paisley) (SNP) Adamson, Clare (Central Scotland) (SNP) Allan, Dr Alasdair (Na h-Eileanan an Iar) (SNP) Allard, Christian (North East Scotland) (SNP) Beattie, Colin (Midlothian North and Musselburgh) (SNP) Brodie, Chic (South Scotland) (SNP) Brown, Keith (Clackmannanshire and Dunblane) (SNP) Burgess, Margaret (Cunninghame South) (SNP) Campbell, Aileen (Clydesdale) (SNP) Campbell, Roderick (North East Fife) (SNP) Coffey, Willie (Kilmarnock and Irvine Valley) (SNP) Constance, Angela (Almond Valley) (SNP) Crawford, Bruce (Stirling) (SNP) Cunningham, Roseanna (Perthshire South and Kinrossshire) (SNP) Dey, Graeme (Angus South) (SNP) Don, Nigel (Angus North and Mearns) (SNP) Doris, Bob (Glasgow) (SNP) Dornan, James (Glasgow Cathcart) (SNP) Eadie, Jim (Edinburgh Southern) (SNP) Ewing, Annabelle (Mid Scotland and Fife) (SNP) Ewing, Fergus (Inverness and Nairn) (SNP) Finnie, John (Highlands and Islands) (Ind) FitzPatrick, Joe (Dundee City West) (SNP) Gibson, Kenneth (Cunninghame North) (SNP) Gibson, Rob (Caithness, Sutherland and Ross) (SNP) Grahame, Christine (Midlothian South, Tweeddale and Lauderdale) (SNP) Harvie, Patrick (Glasgow) (Green) Hepburn, Jamie (Cumbernauld and Kilsyth) (SNP) Hyslop, Fiona (Linlithgow) (SNP) Ingram, Adam (Carrick, Cumnock and Doon Valley) (SNP) Johnstone, Alison (Lothian) (Green) Keir, Colin (Edinburgh Western) (SNP) Kidd, Bill (Glasgow Anniesland) (SNP) Lochhead, Richard (Moray) (SNP) MacAskill, Kenny (Edinburgh Eastern) (SNP) MacDonald, Angus (Falkirk East) (SNP) MacDonald, Gordon (Edinburgh Pentlands) (SNP) Mackay, Derek (Renfrewshire North and West) (SNP) MacKenzie, Mike (Highlands and Islands) (SNP) Mason, John (Glasgow Shettleston) (SNP) Matheson, Michael (Falkirk West) (SNP) Maxwell, Stewart (West Scotland) (SNP) McAlpine, Joan (South Scotland) (SNP) McDonald, Mark (Aberdeen Donside) (SNP) McKelvie, Christina (Hamilton, Larkhall and Stonehouse) (SNP) McLeod, Aileen (South Scotland) (SNP) McMillan, Stuart (West Scotland) (SNP) Neil, Alex (Airdrie and Shotts) (SNP) Robertson, Dennis (Aberdeenshire West) (SNP) Robison, Shona (Dundee City East) (SNP) Russell, Michael (Argyll and Bute) (SNP) Salmond, Alex (Aberdeenshire East) (SNP) Stevenson, Stewart (Banffshire and Buchan Coast) (SNP) Sturgeon, Nicola (Glasgow Southside) (SNP) Swinney, John (Perthshire North) (SNP) Torrance, David (Kirkcaldy) (SNP) Watt, Maureen (Aberdeen South and North Kincardine) (SNP) Wheelhouse, Paul (South Scotland) (SNP) White, Sandra (Glasgow Kelvin) (SNP) Wilson, John (Central Scotland) (SNP) Yousaf, Humza (Glasgow) (SNP)

Against

Baillie, Jackie (Dumbarton) (Lab) Baker, Claire (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab) Baxter, Jayne (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Lab) Beamish, Claudia (South Scotland) (Lab) Bibby, Neil (West Scotland) (Lab) Boyack, Sarah (Lothian) (Lab) Brown, Gavin (Lothian) (Con) Buchanan, Cameron (Lothian) (Con) Carlaw, Jackson (West Scotland) (Con) Davidson, Ruth (Glasgow) (Con) Dugdale, Kezia (Lothian) (Lab)

Eadie, Helen (Cowdenbeath) (Lab) Fee, Mary (West Scotland) (Lab) Fergusson, Alex (Galloway and West Dumfries) (Con) Findlay, Neil (Lothian) (Lab) Fraser, Murdo (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Goldie, Annabel (West Scotland) (Con) Grant, Rhoda (Highlands and Islands) (Lab) Gray, Iain (East Lothian) (Lab) Griffin, Mark (Central Scotland) (Lab) Hume, Jim (South Scotland) (LD) Johnstone, Alex (North East Scotland) (Con) Lamont, Johann (Glasgow Pollok) (Lab) Macdonald, Lewis (North East Scotland) (Lab) Malik, Hanzala (Glasgow) (Lab) Martin, Paul (Glasgow Provan) (Lab) McArthur, Liam (Orkney Islands) (LD) McCulloch, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Lab) McDougall, Margaret (West Scotland) (Lab) McGrigor, Jamie (Highlands and Islands) (Con) McInnes, Alison (North East Scotland) (LD) McMahon, Siobhan (Central Scotland) (Lab) McTaggart, Anne (Glasgow) (Lab) Milne, Nanette (North East Scotland) (Con) Mitchell, Margaret (Central Scotland) (Con) Murray, Elaine (Dumfriesshire) (Lab) Pearson, Graeme (South Scotland) (Lab) Pentland, John (Motherwell and Wishaw) (Lab) Rennie, Willie (Mid Scotland and Fife) (LD) Scanlon, Mary (Highlands and Islands) (Con) Scott, John (Ayr) (Con) Scott, Tavish (Shetland Islands) (LD) Smith, Drew (Glasgow) (Lab) Smith, Elaine (Coatbridge and Chryston) (Lab) Smith, Liz (Mid Scotland and Fife) (Con) Stewart, David (Highlands and Islands) (Lab

The Presiding Officer: The result of the division is: For 61, Against 46, Abstentions 0.

Motion agreed to,

That the Parliament notes the importance of the EU common agricultural policy (CAP) for underpinning productive agriculture, delivering environmental and other public benefits and supporting rural development; notes that the EU reached an agreement on a new CAP and welcomes the Scottish Government's success in negotiating provisions that meet Scotland's needs on new entrants, active farming and increased flexibilities; looks forward to the Scottish Government's future public consultations on implementing the new CAP in Scotland; notes that, as a member state, Scotland would have qualified for increased Pillar 1 payments worth €1 billion extra up to 2020 and been able to negotiate improved Pillar 2 rural funding; deplores the budget deal negotiated by the UK Government, which failed to address Scotland's unacceptably low CAP funding, and calls on the UK Government to deliver a fair deal for Scotland through the UK's allocation of CAP funds, including the full external convergence uplift to Scotland.

Meeting closed at 17:05.

Members who would like a printed copy of the Official Report to be forwarded to them should give notice to SPICe.

Available in e-format only. Printed Scottish Parliament documentation is published in Edinburgh by APS Group Scotland.

All documents are available on the Scottish Parliament website at:

www.scottish.parliament.uk

For details of documents available to order in hard copy format, please contact: APS Scottish Parliament Publications on 0131 629 9941. For information on the Scottish Parliament contact Public Information on:

Telephone: 0131 348 5000 Textphone: 0800 092 7100 Email: sp.info@scottish.parliament.uk

e-format first available ISBN 978-1-78351-801-2

Revised e-format available ISBN 978-1-78351-819-7

Printed in Scotland by APS Group Scotland